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1. CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET - ASSETS

(In EUR m) 31.12.2021 31.12.2020

Cash, due from central banks 179,969 168,179
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss * Notes 3.1, 342,714 411,916

3.2and 3.4

Hedging derivatives N%tﬁg gi 13,239 20,667
Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income N(;tﬁg gi 43,450 52,060
Securities at amortised cost SI_\ISO;SdSé% 19,371 15,635
Due from banks at amortised cost SI_\ISO;SdSé% 55,972 53,380
Customer loans at amortised cost SI_\ISO;SdSé% 497,164 448,761
Revaluation differences on portfolios hedged against interest rate risk 131 378
Investments of insurance companies Note 4.3 178,898 166,854
Tax assets * Note 6 4,812 4,995
Other assets Note 4.4 92,898 67,341
Non-current assets held for sale 27 6
Investments accounted for using the equity method 95 100
Tangible and intangible fixed assets Note 8.4 31,968 30,088
Goodwill Note 2.2 3,741 4,044
Total * 1,464,449 1,444,404

*  Amounts restated compared to the financial statements published for 2020 (see Note 1, paragraph 7).



(In EUR m) 31.12.2021 31.12.2020
Due to central banks 5,152 1,489
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss * Notes 3.1, 307,563 372,705
3.2and 3.4 ’ !
. - Notes 3.2
Hedging derivatives and 3.4 10,425 12,461
Debt securities issued Notes 3.6 135,324 138,957
and 3.9
Notes 3.6
Due to banks and 3.9 139,177 135,571
Customer deposits Notes 3.6 509,133 456,059
and 3.9
Ir?selz/aluatlon differences on portfolios hedged against interest rate 2832 7.696
Tax liabilities * Note 6 1,577 1,227
Other liabilities Note 4.4 106,305 84,937
Non-current liabilities held for sale 1 -
Insurance contracts related liabilities Note 4.3 155,288 146,126
Provisions * Note 8.3 4,850 4,732
Subordinated debts Note 3.9 15,959 15,432
Total liabilities * 1,393,586 1,377,392
Shareholder's equity
Shareholders' equity, Group share
Issued common stocks and capital reserves 21,913 22,333
Other equity instruments 7,534 9,295
Retained earnings * 30,631 32,102
Net income 5,641 (258)
Sub-total * 65,719 63,472
Unrealised or deferred capital gains and losses Note 7.3 (652) (1,762)
Sub-total equity, Group share * 65,067 61,710
Non-controlling interests * 5,796 5,302
Total equity * 70,863 67,012
Total * 1,464,449 1,444,404

*  Amounts restated compared to the financial statements published for 2020 (see Note 1, paragraph 7).



CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT

(In EUR m) 2021 2020
Interest and similar income Note 3.7 20,590 20,721
Interest and similar expense Note 3.7 (9,872) (10,248)
Fee income Note 4.1 9,162 8,529
Fee expense Note 4.1 (3,842) (3,612)
Net gains and losses on financial transactions 5,723 2,851
?r{\r/gggert] %?:)r}i 2:1?0!Sossses on financial instruments at fair value Note 3.1 5704 2785
o/w net gains and losses on financial instruments at fair value
through other comprehensive income i 69
p/w net gains and Iogses from the derecogpnition of financial (25) 3)
instruments at amortised cost
Net income from insurance activities Note 4.3 2,238 2,124
Income from other activities Note 4.2 12,237 11,471
Expenses from other activities Note 4.2 (20,438) (9,723)
Net banking income 25,798 22,113
Personnel expenses Note 5 (9,764) (9,289)
Other operating expenses Note 8.2 (6,181) (5,821)
ﬁggrgzzg?sn, depreciation and impairment of tangible and intangible Note 8.4 (1,645) (1,604)
Gross operating income 8,208 5,399
Cost of risk Note 3.8 (700) (3,306)
Operating income 7,508 2,093
Net income from investments accounted for using the equity method 6 3
Net income/expense from other assets 635 (12)
Value adjustments on goodwill Note 2.2 (114) (684)
Earnings before tax 8,035 1,400
Income tax Note 6 (1,697) (1,204)
Consolidated net income 6,338 196
Non-controlling interests 697 454
Net income, Group share 5,641 (258)
Earnings per ordinary share Note 7.2 5.97 (1.02)
Diluted earnings per ordinary share Note 7.2 5.97 (1.02)




STATEMENT OF NET INCOME AND UNREALISED OR

DEFERRED GAINS AND LOSSES

(In EUR m) 2021 2020
Consolidated net income 6,338 196
iL;r:(r)eie::l(i;)er:]jeor deferred gains and losses that will be reclassified subsequently 930 (1,353)
Translation differences 1,457 (1,776)
Revaluation of debt instruments at fair value through other comprehensive income (318) 247
Revaluation differences for the period (294) 317
Reclassified into income (24) (70)
Revaluation of available-for-sale financial assets (292) 117
Revaluation differences for the period (269) 123
Reclassified into income (23) (6)
Revaluation of hedging derivatives (36) 154
Revaluation differences of the period 6 138
Reclassified into income (42) 16
Related tax 119 (95)
Unrealised or deferred gains and losses that will not be reclassified
subsequently into income * el (98)
Actuarial gains and losses on defined benefit plans * 236 (54)
Revaluation of own credit risk of financial liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss * © (100)
Revaluation of equity instruments at fair value through other comprehensive income 11 16
Related tax * (64) 40
Total unrealised or deferred gains and losses * 1,121 (1,451)
Net income and unrealised or deferred gains and losses * 7,459 (1,255)
o/w Group share * 6,719 (1,652)
o/w non-controlling interests * 740 397

*  Amounts restated compared to the financial statements published for 2020 (see Note 1

, paragraph 7).



CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY

Shareholders' equity, Group share

Issued
common Unrealised Total
stocks and and deferred Non- consolidated
capital  Other equity = Retained Netincome, gains and controlling  shareholder's
(In EUR m) reserves instruments earnings Group share losses Total interests equity
At 1 January 2020 21,975 9,133 32,787 - (368) 63,527 5,043 68,570
Effect of IFRS IC decision related to IAS 19 - - 26 - - 26 7 33
At 1 January 2020 restated * 21,975 9,133 32,813 - (368) 63,553 5,050 68,603
Increase in common stock and issuance /
redemption and remuneration of equity instruments . 162 (628) ) ) (466) @3) )
Elimination of treasury stock 316 - (57) - - 259 - 259
Equity component of share-based payment plans 42 - - - - 42 - 42
2020 Dividends paid (see Note 7.2) - - - - - - (91) (91)
Effect of changes of the consolidation scope - - 80 - - 80 (21) 59
Sub-total of changes linked to relations with
shareholders 358 162 (605) - - (85) (145) (230)
2020 Net income - - - (258) - (258) 454 196
Change in unrealised or deferred gains and losses - - - - (1,394) (1,394) (57) (1,451)
Other changes - - (106) - - (106) - (106)
Sub-total - - (106) (258) (1,394) (1,758) 397 (1,361)
At 31 December 2020 * 22,333 9,295 32,102 (258) (1,762) 61,710 5,302 67,012
Allocation to retained earnings - - (290) 258 32 - - -
At 1 January 2021 22,333 9,295 31,812 - (1,730) 61,710 5,302 67,012
Increase in common stock and issuance /
redemption and remuneration of equity instruments - (1,761) (627) - - (2,388) (33) (2,421)
(see Note 7.1)
Elimination of treasury stock (see Note 7.1) (468) - (36) - - (504) - (504)
Equity component of share-based payment plans 48 - - - - 48 - 48
2021 Dividends paid (see Note 7.2) - - (468) - - (468) (193) (661)
Effect of changes of the consolidation scope : ) ; ;
(see Note 7.1) 41 41 (s) (©9)
Sub-total of changes linked to relations with
shareholders (420) (1,761) (1,172) - - (3,353) (244) (3,597)
2021 Net income - - - 5,641 - 5,641 697 6,338
Change in unrealised or deferred gains and losses - - - - 1,078 1,078 43 1,121
Other changes - - 9) - - ) @] (12)
Sub-total - - 9) 5,641 1,078 6,710 738 7,448
At 31 December 2021 21,913 7,534 30,631 5,641 (652) 65,067 5,796 70,863

*  Amounts restated compared to the financial statements published for 2020 (see Note 1, paragraph 7).



CASH FLOW STATEMENT

(In EUR m) 2021 2020
Consolidated net income (1) 6,338 196
@r:soi:]tgs)ation expense on tangible and intangible fixed assets (including operational 5444 5263
Depreciation and net allocation to provisions * 684 1,894
Net income/loss from investments accounted for using the equity method (6) 3)
Change in deferred taxes 425 496
Net income from the sale of long-term assets and subsidiaries (42) (74)
Other changes * 2,353 (747)
Non-cash items included in net income and other adjustments excluding income 8.859 6.829
on financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss (I1) ’ '
Income on financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss 4,619 6,077
Interbank transactions (2,338) 42,149
Customers transactions 9,034 43,790
Transactions related to other financial assets and liabilities (16,838) (21,347)
Transactions related to other non-financial assets and liabilities 10,620 3,064
Net increase/decrease in cash related to operating assets and liabilities (1II) 5,097 73,733
Net cash inflow (outflow) related to operating activities (A) = (1) + (II) + (lll) 20,294 80,758
{:l;ﬁnci(:}ig;rgg]oevr\:tgoutflow) related to acquisition and disposal of financial assets and long (3.652) (1,275)
Net cash inflow (outflow) related to tangible and intangible fixed assets (6,466) (5,588)
Net cash inflow (outflow) related to investment activities (B) (10,118) (6,863)
Cash flow from/to shareholders * (4,894) 57
Other net cash flow arising from financing activities 1,268 2,109
Net cash inflow (outflow) related to financing activities (C) (3,626) 2,166
Effect of changes in foreign exchange rates on cash and cash equivalents (D) 2,154 (2,596)
Net inflow (outflow) in cash and cash equivalents (A) + (B) + (C) + (D) 8,704 73,465
Cash, due from central banks (assets) 168,179 102,311
Due to central banks (liabilities) (1,489) (4,097)
Current accounts with banks (see Notes 3.5 and 4.3) 26,609 21,843
Demand deposits and current accounts with banks (see Note 3.6) (11,354) (11,577)
Cash and cash equivalents at the start of the year 181,945 108,480
Cash, due from central banks (assets) 179,969 168,179
Due to central banks (liabilities) (5,152) (1,489)
Current accounts with banks (see Notes 3.5 and 4.3) 28,205 26,609
Demand deposits and current accounts with banks (see Note 3.6) (12,373) (11,354)
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 190,649 181,945
Net inflow (outflow) in cash and cash equivalents 8,704 73,465

*  Amounts restated compared to the financial statements published for 2020 (see Note 1, paragraph 7).



2.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on 9 February 2022.

NOTE 1 - SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES

1.

INTRODUCTION

ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

In accordance with European Regulation 1606/2002 of 19 July 2002 on the application of
International Accounting Standards, the Societe Generale Group (“the Group”) prepared its
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2021 in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the European Union and in
force at that date. The Group includes the parent company Societe Generale (including the
Societe Generale foreign branches) and all of the entities in France and abroad that it controls
either directly or indirectly (subsidiaries and joint arrangements) or on which it exercises
significant influence (associates).

These standards are available on the European Commission website.

In accordance with the transitional measures provided by IFRS 9, the Group has elected to
recognise hedging transactions under IAS 39 as adopted by the European Union, including
measures related to macro-fair value hedge accounting (IAS 39 “carve-out”).

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS PRESENTATION

As the IFRS accounting framework does not specify a standard model, the format of the
primary financial statements used to present the data for financial year is consistent with the
format of financial statements proposed by the French Accounting Standard Setter,
the Autorité des Normes Comptables (ANC), under Recommendation No. 2017-02
of 2 June 2017.

The disclosures provided in the notes to the consolidated financial statements focus on
information that is both relevant and material to the financial statements of the
Societe Generale group, its activities, and the circumstances in which it conducted its
operations of the period still impacted by the Covid-19 crisis.

The Group publishes its Annual Financial Report 2022 using the European Single Electronic
Format (ESEF) as defined by the European Delegated Regulation 2019/815 amended by the
Delegated Regulation 2020/1989.

PRESENTATION CURRENCY
The presentation currency of the consolidated financial statements is the euro.

The figures presented in the financial statements and in the notes are expressed in millions of
euros, unless otherwise specified. The effect of rounding can generate discrepancies between
the figures presented in the financial statements and those presented in the notes.



2. NEW ACCOUNTING STANDARDS APPLIED BY THE GROUP AS AT 1 JANUARY 2021

Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39, IFRS 7, IFRS 4, and IFRS 16 (Interest Rate Benchmark
reform - Phase 2)

Amendments to IFRS 4 — Extension of the temporary exemption from applying IFRS 9

Amendments to IFRS 16 “Leases” — Covid-19 related rent concessions beyond 30 June
2021

AMENDMENTS TO IFRS 9 “FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS”, IAS 39 “FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS: RECOGNITION
AND MEASUREMENT”, IFRS 7 “FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS: DISCLOSURES”, IFRS 4 “INSURANCE
CONTRACTS”, IFRS 16 “LEASES”

Applied early by the Group as of 31 December 2020.

In the context of the interest rate benchmark reform — or IBOR reform — currently being implemented
(see Note 10), the accounting standards applicable have been amended by the IASB. The purpose of Phase
1 of these amendments, implemented by the Group since 31 December 2019, has been to enable the
continued application of hedge accounting treatments despite uncertainties regarding the timetable and
specifics regarding the transition from old interest rate benchmarks to new ones. These amendments shall
apply until the targeted uncertainties are removed with the effective cessation of the abandoned
benchmarks. As at 31 December 2021, these amendments thus still apply to all hedges in which the hedged
item and/or hedging instrument remain indexed on an IBOR rate, for instance the USD Libor.

Phase 2 of these amendments addresses the treatment of changes to financial instruments in the context
of the IBOR reform. Adopted by the European Union on 14 January 2021, they were early applied by the
Group in its financial statements as at 31 December 2020. These supplementary amendments have
provided for the application of the following treatments:

— when measuring financial assets and liabilities at amortised cost, financial assets at fair value through
other comprehensive income and lease liabilities, the changes brought about by the IBOR reform in the
determination of contractual cash flows are booked as the revision of a variable interest rate provided
that these changes are made on an economically equivalent basis;

— the hedging relationship when changes are made, in the context of the IBOR reform, to the hedged item
and/or the hedging instrument and lead to a re-documentation of the hedge.

In view of the provisions introduced by the IBOR — Phase 2 amendments, the changes to contractual cash
flows expected in the context of this rate transition should not generate any significant impact on the Group’s
consolidated financial statements. Indeed, the Group, in line with the recommendations issued by the
regulatory authorities and market working groups on the rate reform, has planned to migrate all IBOR-based
contracts on an economically equivalent basis. This is most often done by replacing the historical benchmark
rate with an alternative benchmark rate plus a fixed spread compensating for the difference between these
two rates.

The economically equivalent nature of the migration stems mainly from the use of the credit risk margins
fixed by market authorities or from the standard market practices for the benchmark index chosen
(see Note 10). In the marginal cases where a different margin is used, a quantitative analysis is performed,
based on the changes in value of the future cash flows of the modified instrument.

AMENDMENTS TO IFRS 4 — EXTENSION OF THE TEMPORARY EXEMPTION FROM APPLYING IFRS 9

The amendments to IFRS 17 and IFRS 4 published by the IASB on 25 June 2020 as well as Regulation
(EU) 2020/2097 published by the European Commission on 15 December 2020 allow financial
conglomerates as defined by Directive 2002/87/CE to defer, until 1 January 2023, the application of IFRS 9
by their legal entities in the insurance sector. Regarding its insurance subsidiaries, the Group has thus
upheld the decision to differ the application of IFRS 9 and continue applying the processes specified under
IAS 39 in the form adopted in the European Union.



AMENDMENTS TO IFRS 16 "LEASES” - COVID-19 RELATED RENT CONCESSIONS BEYOND 30 JUNE 2021

These amendments extend by one year the application period of the Covid-19 related amendments to
IFRS 16 “Leases” published by the IASB on 28 May 2020. These amendments are intended to optionally
enable lessees who receive relief for rent payable until 30 June 2022 to account for these reliefs as negative
variable leases (generating an immediate gain in the income statement).

In 2021, as in 2020, the Group did not benefit from any Covid-19 related rent reliefs.

DECISION OF THE IFRS INTERPRETATIONS COMMITTEE (IFRS IC) OF 20 APRIL 2021 ON IAS 19

During its 20 April 2021 meeting, the IFRS IC specified the modalities for determining the vesting period of
a defined post-employment benefit plan under which employees are entitled to a lump-sum benefit payment
the amount of which:

— depends on their length of employee service, when they reach retirement age, and

— is capped at a maximum amount when they exceed a certain number of consecutive years of service
determined by the regime, and

— the payment of which requires that they are still employed by the firm until their retirement date.

The IFRS IC specified that, pursuant to IAS 19, the vesting period should be the period of employee service
immediately before the retirement age and that its duration should be capped to the number of consecutive
years of service required to be entitled to this benefit.

Therefore, it is not possible to use as the vesting period the total length of service when the latter is greater
than the cap used to calculate the benefit. The consecutive decision not to place the issue on the IFRS IC
agenda was validated by the IASB on 24 May 2021.

During the second half of 2021, the Group inventoried the defined post-employment benefit plans similar to
the ones covered by the IFRS IC decision and whose vesting period applied by the Group until now
corresponded to the employees’ total length of service, mainly termination benefit plans in France, the Czech
Republic and Romania.

Pursuant to the IFRS IC decision, the commitments relating to these plans have been reassessed based on
a capped length of service, resulting in a writeback of the provisions for employee benefits as at
1 January 2020 against Consolidated reserves for an amount of EUR 43 million before tax impact
(see paragraph 7).

As this change in the length of service has no significant impact on the 2020 comparative income statement,
the latter has not been restated.

DECISION OF THE IFRS INTERPRETATIONS COMMITTEE (IFRS IC) OF 27 APRIL 2021 ON IAS 38
During its 27 April 2021 meeting, the IFRS IC reiterated the accounting rules for a customer's costs of
configuring or customizing the supplier's application in a ‘Software as a Service’ (SaaS) arrangement.

A study on the possible consequences of this decision on the Group’s financial statements is underway and
will continue in 2022.



3. ACCOUNTING STANDARDS, AMENDMENTS OR INTERPRETATIONS TO BE APPLIED BY THE
GROUP IN THE FUTURE

The IASB published accounting standards and amendments, some of which have not been adopted by the
European Union as at 31 December 2021. Their application is required for annual periods beginning on or
after 1 January 2022 at the earliest or on the date of their adoption by the European Union. They have thus
not been applied to the Group as at 31 December 2021.

The provisional timetable for application of these standards is as follows:

+ Amendments to IAS 37 "Provisions, contingent liabilities and contingent assets -
Onerous contracts - Cost of fulfilling a contract"

« Annual improvements to IFRS standards (2018 - 2020 cycle)

*IFRS 17 "Insurance contracts" (see paragraph 4) \
*Amendments to IAS 1 "Disclosure of Accounting Policies"
*Amendments to IAS 8 "Definition of Accounting Estimates"

«Amendments to IAS 12 "Income taxes - Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities
arising from a Single Transaction"

AMENDMENTS TO IAS 37 “PROVISIONS, CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND CONTINGENT ASSETS — ONEROUS
CONTRACTS — COST OF FULFILLING A CONTRACT”

Adopted by the European Union on 2 July 2021.

These amendments clarify the costs to be used in determining the costs of fulfilling a contract when
analysing onerous contracts.

ANNUAL IMPROVEMENTS TO IFRS STANDARDS (2018-2020 CYCLE)

Adopted by the European Union on 2 July 2021.

As part of the annual Improvements to the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), the IASB
has issued minor amendments to IFRS 1 “First-time Adoption of International Financial Reporting
Standards”, IFRS 9 “Financial instruments”, IAS 41 “Agriculture” and IFRS 16 “Leases”.

AMENDMENTS TO IAS 1 “DISCLOSURE OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES”

Published by the IASB on 12 February 2021.

The aim of these amendments is to help companies improve the materiality of the information on accounting
policies disclosed in the notes to the financial statements and the usefulness of that information to investors
and financial statements users.
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AMENDMENTS TO IAS 8 “DEFINITION OF ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES”

Published by the IASB on 12 February 2021.

The aim of these amendments is to facilitate distinguishing between changes in accounting policies and
changes in accounting estimates.

AMENDMENTS TO IAS 12 “INCOME TAXES” - DEFERRED TAX RELATED TO ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
ARISING FROM A SINGLE TRANSACTION

Published by the IASB on 7 May 2021.

These amendments clarify and narrow the scope of the exemption provided by the IAS 12 standard allowing
institutions to not recognise any deferred tax during the initial recognition of an asset and a liability.
Are excluded from the exemption scope all leases and decommissioning obligations for which companies
recognise both an asset and a liability and will now have to recognise deferred taxes.

The aim of these amendments is to reduce heterogeneity in the recognition of the deferred tax related to
leases and decommissioning obligations.

Since the date of first application of IFRS 16, the Group has been considering the rights of use and the
lease-related debt as a single transaction. Consequently, on the initial recognition date, no deferred tax is
recognised since the amount of deferred tax asset offsets the amount of deferred tax liability. The net
temporary differences resulting from later variations in the right of use and lease debt subsequently result
in the recognition of a deferred tax. This amendment thus has no impact on the Group’s consolidated
financial statements.

4. PREPARATION FOR THE FIRST-TIME APPLICATION OF IFRS 17 “INSURANCE CONTRACTS”
AND OF IFRS 9 “FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS” TO THE LEGAL ENTITIES OPERATING IN THE
INSURANCE SECTOR

The IFRS 17 standard, published on 18 May 2017 and modified by the amendments adopted on 25 June
2020 and 9 December 2021, will supersede the IFRS 4 “Insurance contracts” standard which allows for the
recognition of insurance contracts using the methods specified by the local accounting regulation.

On 23 November 2021, the European Commission (EC) published in the official journal Regulation (EU)
2021/2036 of 19 November 2021 adopting IFRS 17 “Insurance Contracts”. This adoption was supplemented
with a possibility offered to European companies not to apply the requirement stated in the standard to group
certain type of insurance contracts by annual cohort for their measurement (see paragraph Grouping of
contracts); this possibility of exemption will be re-examined by the European Commission no later than
31 December 2027.

The IFRS 17 standard is applicable from 1 January 2023 on. On the same date, the Group subsidiaries
operating in the insurance sector will, for the first time, apply the IFRS 9 “Financial instruments” standard
the application of which was deferred for these entities according to the possibilities offered by the
amendments to the IFRS 17 and IFRS 4 standards published by the IASB on 25 June 2020 and extended
by regulations (EU) 2017/1988 and (EU) 2020/2097 of the European Commission.

On 9 December 2021, the IASB published amendments to IFRS 17 to improve the comparative information
on financial assets presented at the time of the first concomitant application of the IFRS 9 and IFRS 7
standards. The process of adoption of these amendments by the European Union is currently underway.

The main consequences of the application of the IFRS 17 standard concern:

— the valuation of insurance contracts on the balance sheet: their value will be updated at each closing
date based on a reassessment of the related future cash flows. This reassessment will take into account
market data in relation to the financial elements and policyholders’ behaviour;

— the recognition of the margin: even if the profitability of the insurance contracts remains unchanged,
the recognition in profit or loss of their margins will be modified to be spread over the duration of the
insurance service; and
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— the presentation of the income statement; the operating expenses attributable to the execution of the
insurance contracts will, from now on, be presented in deduction of the Net Banking Income under
Insurance service expenses and will not impact the total operating expenses in the consolidated income
statement anymore.

SCOPE OF THE CONTRACTS

The scope of insurance contracts to which IFRS 17 applies mirrors the one to which IFRS 4 currently applies.
These are the insurance contracts issued, the reinsurance contracts issued or held, and the investment
contracts issued including a discretionary participation clause provided they are issued by an entity which
also issues insurance contracts. Like IFRS 4, IFRS 17 does not apply to the insurance contracts in which
the Group is the insured beneficiary except for the contracts identified as reinsurance treaties.

GROUPING OF CONTRACTS

To measure the insurance contracts issued, IFRS 17 requires that the latter to be aggregated into
homogeneous portfolios. Within these portfolios, the contracts have to be subject to similar risks and
managed together.

Within each portfolio, three groups will be distinguished upon initial recognition: contracts that are onerous
at initial recognition, contracts that at initial recognition have no significant possibility of becoming onerous
subsequently, and remaining contracts.

Furthermore, IFRS 17 stipulates that each group of contracts shall be divided into annual cohorts
(with contracts issued no more than twelve-month apart). The European Commission endorsing IFRS 17
has however offered European enterprises the possibility not to apply this provision to contracts benefiting
from intergenerational pooling of the returns of the underlying assets.

The Group plans to use this optional exemption on its life insurance contracts in France because they
include direct or discretionary participation features, which allow the sharing of risks and cash flows between
different generations of policyholders. These life insurance contracts are also managed on an
intergenerational basis to mitigate exposure to interest rate risk and longevity risk.
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MEASUREMENT MODELS
General Model applicable to the insurance contracts issued

Initial measurement

Upon initial recognition, the value of a group of insurance contracts issued corresponds to the sum of the
following elements:

(Fulfilment cash flows)

Future cash flows estimated at the Discounting Adjustment for non-financial

effective date of the contract risks
Time value of money and (Risk adjustment)
Premiums, services, directly related financial risk not taken into . o
costs. account in the estimated flows. Margin for uncertainties on the
estimated future flows.

. 3

Margin on contractual services

Future expected profits calculated at the subscription of the contract.

The contractual service margin (CSM) represents the unearned profit that the entity will recognise in profit
or loss as the insurance services are provided. Its amount is determined at the time of initial recognition of
the group of insurance contracts so that, at this date, no income nor expense is recognised, except in the
particular case of groups of onerous contracts whose loss corresponding to the net expected cash outflow
has to be recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Subsequent measurement (except for onerous contracts)

At each closing date, the accounting value on the balance sheet of the group of insurance contracts issued
is re-estimated. It is then equal to the sum of the two following amounts:

— liabilities for the remaining coverage, which aggregate the value of the execution flows re-estimated at
this date (discounted value of the premiums receivable and of the expenses for future services over the
remaining coverage period) and the contractual service margin discounted at the same date as described
above;

— liabilities for the claims incurred, for an amount equal to the discounted value of the estimated cash flows
required to settle the valid claims on past events.

At the same closing date, the amount of the contractual service margin is discounted to take account in
particular of:

— the impact of the new contracts added to the group of contracts,
— the interest capitalised at the discounting rate used to determine the initial margin value,

— the re-assessment execution cash flows (discounted value of the premiums receivable and of the
expenses for future services over the remaining coverage period, except for the estimated expenses to
be paid for the claims incurred which are assessed separately).
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A share of the amount of the margin thus reassessed is then recorded in profit or loss, representing the
insurance coverage provided by the group of contracts during the period; this share is determined by
distributing this reassessed margin between the amount of assurance services provided over the period and
the amount of services remaining to be provided over the expected residual coverage period of these
contracts.

General Model adapted for the contracts with direct participation (Variable Fee Approach)

To measure the insurance contracts issued with direct participation in the profit, the General Model provided
for by IFRS 17 is adapted to take account of the participation of policyholders in the yields of the investments
underlying the contracts.

This approach, referred to as the “Variable Fee Approach (VFA)”, has to be used for the valuation of the
groups of insurance contracts for which:

= contractual clauses specify that the policyholder is entitled to a portion of a clearly defined portfolio of
underlying elements;

= the entity expects to pay to the holder an amount corresponding to a substantial portion of the yield
obtained on the fair value of the underlying elements;

= the entity expects that a substantial proportion of the variation in the amounts to be paid to the holder
can be attributed to the variation in fair value of the underlying elements.

The eligibility to this measurement model is analysed on the issuance date of the contracts and may
subsequently be reassessed only in case of changes in said contracts.

The major adaptations to the General Model concern:

— the portion of the fair value variation of the underlying investments attributable to the insurer. At each
closing date, this portion of the period variation is incorporated into the contractual service margin to be
recognised in profit or loss and spread over the expected residual coverage period of the contracts.

— the interest on the contractual service margin of which the variations are implicitly included in the periodic
review of the margin on contractual services.

Simplified approach (Premium Allocation Approach) - Option

The standard also allows, under conditions, for the application of a simplified approach called “Premium
Allocation Approach” to contracts with an insurance coverage period lower or equal to 12 months.

The premiums receivables during the contractual insurance period are recognised in profit on a straight-line
basis over this contractual period (or according to the expected pace of release of the risk when this pace
differs considerably from a straight-line pace).

As in the General Model, the claims are provisioned through profit and loss account upon their occurrence
for an amount equal to the estimated value of the cash flows necessary to settle of the valid claims (it is
however not necessary to discount the amount of compensation if their payment is expected within a year
from the date of the claim).

Savings and Retirement

The Group considers that a significant portion of the life and savings insurance contracts and individual and
collective retirement savings contracts issued by its insurance subsidiaries meet the definition of direct
participation contracts. These contracts, which represent the predominant insurance activity of the Group,
are measured using the Variable Fee Approach (VFA) adapted General Model. The other contracts of these
categories are measured using the General Model or according to IFRS 9 if they meet the definition of an
investment contract.

Protection activity

The Group intends to apply predominantly the General Model to measure its Provident and Health insurance
contracts (borrower insurance, funeral, dependency... contracts) and the Simplified approach for its property
and casualty insurance contracts (personal injury, means of payment, multi-risk home ... insurance).
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PRESENTATION OF THE FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE

On the consolidated income statement, the profits and losses related to the insurance contracts issued and
the reinsurance contracts are presented under Net Banking Income, distinguishing between, on one side:

— the income from the insurance and reinsurance contracts issued,

— the expenses for the services relating to the insurance and reinsurance contracts issued, and
— the income and expenses relating to the reinsurance contracts held;

and on the other side:

— the financial income and expenses of the insurance and reinsurance contracts issued, and

— the financial income and expenses of the reinsurance contracts held.

The expenses for the services relating to the insurance and reinsurance contracts issued as well as the
expenses for the reinsurance contracts held will then include the share of operating expenses directly
attributable to the execution of the contracts which will thus be deducted from the Net Banking Income.

Many insurance contracts include an investment component in the form of a deposit made by the
policyholder and which the insurer is contractually required to repay even if the insured event doesn’t occur.
Even if they may take the contractual form of insurance premiums and services, the deposits collection and
repayment flows do not constitute either income or expenses in relation to these contracts.

The financial income and expenses of the insurance and reinsurance contracts mainly include the variations
in value of the groups of contracts relating to the impacts of the time value of money and of the financial
risks not taken into account in the estimated flows.

TRANSITION

At this stage of the project aiming at implementing the IFRS 17 and IFRS 9 standards by the Group’s
insurance entities, the consequences of its application in terms of amounts in the consolidated financial
statements cannot be reasonably estimated.

Application of the IFRS 17 standard

The initial application of IFRS 17 as at 1 January 2023 will be retrospective and the comparative figures on
the 2022 financial year will be restated.

The differences in measurement of the insurance assets and liabilities resulting from the retrospective
application of IFRS 17 as at 1 January 2022 will be presented directly under Equity.

The retrospective measurement of these assets and liabilities, and in particular of the different insurance
contract portfolios, may be subject to simplified approaches when the historical data necessary for a
completely retrospective application are not available. The standard then allows for the use of:

— either an adjusted retrospective approach which should, provide, based on the reasonable information
available without undue cost or effort, for measurements that are as close as possible to those that would
result from the retrospective application of the standard,;

— or an approach based on the fair value of the insurance contract portfolios as at 1 January 2022.

The Group intends to apply a retrospective approach adjusted for the Savings Life-insurance contracts and
the Retirement savings contracts which represent the large majority of its contracts. The Protection —
Damage contracts might be subject to a full retrospective approach while a case-by-case approach is
examined for the Protection—Provident contracts.

Application of the IFRS 9 standard by the insurance entities of the Group

The initial application of IFRS 9 by the insurance entities of the Group as at 1 January 2023 will be
retrospective.

For consistency purpose with the IFRS 17 transition arrangements, and in order to provide more relevant
information, the Group intends to restate the comparative figures for the 2022 financial year relating to the
financial instruments concerned of its insurance entities (including financial instruments derecognised
during 2022).
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The differences in the measurement of the concerned financial assets and liabilities and of the impairment
for credit risk as well as gains and losses recognised directly in equity, resulting from the retrospective
application of IFRS 9 as at 1 January 2022 will be presented directly under Equity.

The treatment of the financial assets currently measured at fair value through profit or loss will not be
modified.

The other financial assets (available for sale financial assets) mainly consist of:

— basic financial instruments - the cashflows of which correspond solely to the repayment of principal and
the payment of interest on the principal due — (see Note 4.3.2) held in the framework of a “Held to Collect
and Sell” business model; these instruments will be reclassified under Financial Assets at Fair Value
through Equity.

— non-basic financial instruments: these instruments will be reclassified under Financial Assets at Fair
Value through Profit or Loss. The unrealised gains or losses previously recognised in equity will be
reclassified as consolidated reserves (no impact on the Group’s shareholders’ equity).

Owing to the credit quality of the assets held (see Note 4.3.4), the application of the provisions of IFRS 9 on
the recognition of the expected credit losses should lead only to a limited increase in their impairments.

ORGANISATION OF THE IMPLEMENTATION PROGRAMME OF THE IFRS 9 AND IFRS 17 STANDARDS

A “project” structure has been set up under the joint governance of the Group Finance Division and the
Insurance Business Line.

This governance is articulated around the following main themes with a view to the implementation of the
IFRS 9 and IFRS 17 standards by all the insurance entities of the Group, in France and abroad:

— accounting treatments and computational models;
— presentation in the Financial statements and Notes;
— adaptation of the process;

— selection and Rollout of the IT solution.

In 2019 and 2020, the work was focused on the review of the different types of contracts, the analysis of
their accounting treatment under IFRS 17 and their presentation in the consolidated financial statements,
and, lastly, the identification and selection of solutions in terms of information system, information technology
and processes.

In 2021 the work has been devoted to implementing new processes, and approving and rolling out the
IT solution.

The preparatory work will continue in 2022 with the validation of the tool and processes), the finalisation of
the accounting treatments and computational models and the production of the opening data as at
1 January 2022 and of the comparative information.

5. USE OF ESTIMATES AND JUDGMENT

When applying the accounting principles disclosed in the following notes for the purpose of preparing the
Group’s consolidated financial statements, the Management makes assumptions and estimates that may
have an impact on the figures recorded in the income statement, on the Unrealised or deferred gains and
losses on the valuation of assets and liabilities in the balance sheet, and on the information disclosed in the
notes to the consolidated financial statements.

In order to make these assumptions and estimates, the Management uses the information available at the
date of preparation of the consolidated financial statements and can exercise its judgment. By nature,
valuations based on estimates involve risks and uncertainties concerning their occurrence in the future.
Consequently, the actual future results may differ from these estimates and have a significant impact on the
financial statements.

The assumptions and estimates made for the preparation of these consolidated financial statements take
into account of uncertainties about the consequences, duration and magnitude of the economic crisis
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generated by the Covid-19 pandemic. The effects of this crisis on the assumptions and estimates used are
specified in the 6th part of this note.

The use of estimates and judgment mainly concerns the following accounting topics:

= the fair value in the balance sheet of financial instruments not listed on an active market which are
classified as Financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, Hedging derivatives,
Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income or even Investments of insurance
companies (described in Notes 3.1, 3.2, 3.3, 3.4 and 4.3), as well as the fair value of instruments
measured at amortised cost for which this information must be disclosed in the notes to the financial
statements (see Note 3.9);

= the amount of impairment and provisions for credit risk related to financial assets measured at amortised
cost, or at fair value through other comprehensive income, loan commitments granted, and guarantee
commitments granted measured with models or internal assumptions based on historical, current and
prospective data (see Note 3.8). The uses of estimates and judgment relates in particular to the
assessment of the deterioration in credit risk observed since the initial recognition of financial assets and
the measurement of the amount of expected credit losses on these same financial assets;

= the assumptions and amortisation conventions used to determine the maturities of financial assets and
liabilities for the purpose of measuring and monitoring structural interest rate risk and documenting the
related macro fair value hedge accounting (see Note 3.2);

= the amount of impairment on Goodwill (see Note 2.2);

= the provisions recognised under liabilities, underwriting reserves of insurance companies and deferred
profit-sharing (see Notes 4.3, 5.2 and 8.3);

= the amount of tax assets and liabilities recognised in the balance sheet (see Note 6);

= the analysis of the contractual cash flow characteristics of financial assets (see Note 3);

= the assessment of control for determining the scope of consolidated entities, especially with regard to
structured entities (see Note 2);

= the determination of the lease period to be applied in determining the right-of-use assets and the lease
liability (see Note 8.4).

BREXIT

The Agreement on the withdrawal of the United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland from the
European Union [...] (Brexit) entered into force on 1 January 2021.

The Group has been granted a transitional authorisation to continue its activities in London for two years
and is currently in the process of obtaining its permanent licence. Several subsidiaries have also applied for
transitional authorisation. The regulatory authorities of the United Kingdom have until end 2023 to rule on
these applications.

The Group continues to monitor the negotiations between the United Kingdom and the European Union
regarding financial services. To date, the European Commission has granted British clearing houses
temporary equivalence status until 30 June 2022.

The Group remains vigilant about the possible future differences between the local and European
regulations and takes account of the short-/mid-/long-term consequences of the Brexit in the assumptions
and estimates selected to prepare the consolidated accounts.

CLIMATE RISK

Climate change is accelerating, and urgent and unprecedented changes are needed more than
ever. As illustrated by the 6th assessment report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change
(IPCC), the world needs urgent, global and coordinated action to contain the now inevitable global
warming.

Societe Generale has been engaged in the fight against climate change for many years now. And the Bank
remains committed to support an extensive shift towards a decarbonised and more resilient economy.

Environmental risk factors are liable to trigger or increase the risks for the Group. The Group thus considers
that climate change-related risks are not a new risk category but rather an aggravating factor for categories
already covered by the risk management system. The integration of climate-related risks is based on the
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existing governance and processes and follows a standard approach (identification, quantification, definition
of the risk appetite, control and mitigation).

Among climate risks, the Group distinguishes between transitional risk and physical risk in compliance with
the risk terminology proposed by the TCFD (Task force on Climate-related Financial Disclosures).
The impact of transitional risk on the credit risk of Societe Generale’s corporate customers has been
identified as the major climate risk for the Group. To measure this impact, indicators aimed at reinforcing
credit analysis on the most exposed counterparties in the sectors identified as particularly vulnerable are
gradually developed.

The Group continues its work to gradually integrate climate risks in the preparation of its consolidated
accounts (see Notes 2.2, 3, 3.8 and 6).

6. COVID-19

Two years after the outbreak of the Covid-19 pandemic, the year 2021 was marked by an economic upturn
in several major economies, in particular as a result of the deployment of vaccines.

However, these dynamics are affected by persistent frictions in the global supply chains and labour markets,
and by longer delivery times in the manufacturing sector and a reduced capacity of supply in the service
sector, which have led to rising costs. Uncertainties remain regarding new developments in the sanitary
crisis (emergence of the Omicron variant and slow deployment of vaccines in some countries).

Against this background, the multi-scenario approach selected in 2020 has been maintained for preparing
the consolidated accounts as at 31 December 2021. The Group thus presents a central scenario central
and an alternate protracted crisis scenario.

To apply the principles underlying the assessment of expected credit losses, the Group has maintained the
use of methodological adjustments to take account of the support measures adopted since 2020 by public
authorities, and the specifics of the current period

These various consequent to the Covid-19 crisis are stated below to shed light on the financial
consequences of the crisis and the way they have been taken into account in the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements.

MACROECONOMIC SCENARIOS

To prepare its financial statements, the Group uses macroeconomic scenarios in the expected credit loss
measurement models including forward-looking data (see Note 3.8) as well as some asset impairment tests

including goodwill (see Note 2.2) and deferred tax assets (see Note 6).
As at 31 December 2021, the Group has maintained the coexistence of four scenarios:

— the central scenario (SG Central), including the assumption that the GDP in the euro area will be back
to a 2019 level in 2022, expects no new widespread closures, and assumes that the remaining social
distancing measures, such as masks, will enable most sectors to operate almost as usual;

— ascenario of prolonged health crisis (SG Extended), including the assumption that the GDP in the euro
area will be back to a 2019 level in 2023, expects a new sanitary shock from the end of 2021, reproducing
the lockdown pattern with increased social distancing measures as observed at the end of 2020 and in
Spring 2021;

— lastly, two additional scenarios, one favourable (SG Favourable) and one stressed (SG Stress),
supplement these two scenarios. The favourable scenario envisages a stronger GDP growth than the
central scenario owing to unexpected productivity gains leading to a potentially higher GDP. The stress
scenario, including the assumption that the GDP in the euro area will be back to a 2019 level after 2026,
corresponds to a crisis situation leading to a negative deviation in GDP compared to the central scenario.
This scenario may result from a financial crisis (2008 crisis, Euro area crisis), an exogenous crisis (Covid)
or a combination of both.

These scenarios are developed by the Economic and Sector Research Division of Societe Generale for all
the Group’s entities based, in particular, on information published by statistical institutes in each country.

Forecasts from institutions (IMF, Global Bank, ECB, OECD...) and the consensus among market
economists serve as a reference to ensure the consistency of the scenarios thus constructed.
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MACRO-ECONOMIC SCENARIOS USED IN THE CREDIT LOSS MEASUREMENT MODELS

The scenarios provided by the Group’s economists are integrated into the models over a 3-year horizon,
followed by a 2-year period to return in year 5 to the average probability of default observed during the
calibration period. The assumptions made by the Group with a view to developing these macro-economic
scenarios are updated to account for the remaining uncertainties regarding the Covid-19 pandemic as well
as for the economic recovery prospects.

The illustration below compares the GDP previsions in the Euro area used by the Group for each scenario
with the previsions provided by the ECB in December 2021.

GDP forecasts by scenario, in percentage
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The variables used in the expected credit loss measurement models are presented in chapter 4.5.4 of the
Universal Registration Document.

The main variables used for determining credit losses (GDP growth percentage for the main countries where
the Group operates and profit margins of companies in France) for each scenario are detailed below:

SG Favourable scenario 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026

France GDP 4.0 3.5 2.8 2.9 2.0
Profit margin of French companies 32.8 32,5 32.8 33.0 324
Euro area GDP 4.4 3.6 2.7 2.8 2.0
United States GDP 4.6 4.6 3.0 3.0 2.0
China GDP 5.9 6.6 5.5 5.4 4.4
Czech Republic GDP 4.5 5.0 3.8 3.8 2.8
Romania GDP 4.5 5.0 4.0 4.0 3.0
SG Central scenario 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026

France GDP 3.0 1.5 1.8 1.9 2.0
Profit margin of French companies 32.2 32.2 323 324 324
Euro area GDP 3.4 1.6 1.7 1.8 2.0
United States GDP 3.6 2.6 2.0 2.0 2.0
China GDP 4.9 4.6 4.5 4.4 4.4
Czech Republic GDP 3.5 3.0 2.8 2.8 2.8
Romania GDP 3.5 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0
SG Extended scenario 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026

France GDP 1.0 2.0 2.3 1.9 2.0
Profit margin of French companies 30.9 321 31.9 31.8 31.8
Euro area GDP 1.5 2.2 2.1 1.8 2.0
United States GDP 2.0 2.8 25 2.0 2.0
China GDP 3.4 5.2 4.7 4.4 4.4
Czech Republic GDP 20 3.5 3.0 2.8 2.8
Romania GDP 2.0 35 3.3 3.0 3.0
SG Stress scenario 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026

France GDP (3.0 1.2) 0.5 1.4 2.0
Profit margin of French companies 29.3 30.0 29.9 29.9 31.8
Euro area GDP (2.6) (1.2) 0.4 1.3 2.0
United States GDP (2.2) (0.3) 0.8 15 2.0
China GDP (0.8) 1.9 3.1 3.9 4.4
Czech Republic GDP (2.3) 0.3 1.4 2.3 2.8
Romania GDP (2.3) 0.3 1.7 2.5 3.0

These simulations assume that the historical relationships between the key economic variables and the risk
parameters remain unchanged. In fact, these correlations may be impacted by changes in behaviour, legal
environment, granting policy or, in the current context, by the unprecedented impact of the support
measures.
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WEIGHTING OF THE MACROECONOMICSCENARIOS

The probabilities used are based on the differences observed in the past over 25 years between the
forecasts made by a consensus of economists regarding the US GDP and the actual scenario that occurred
(forecast similar to the actual scenario occurred, significantly optimistic or pessimistic).

In order to better account for a possible reversal of the cycle, the Group supplemented the methodology it
uses for weighing scenarios as of 31 December 2021 and assigned a higher weight to the central scenario
when the economy is depressed. Conversely, the methodology provides for a higher weight to be assigned
to the Stress scenario when the economy moves towards the peak of the cycle. This methodology will be
applied and assessed throughout next year to be confirmed by 31 December 2022.

Presentation of the changes in weights:

31 December 2020 30 June 2021 31 December 2021
SG Central 65% 65% 50%
SG Extended 10% 10% 10%
SG Stress 15% 15% 30%
SG Favourable 10% 10% 10%

CALCULATION OF EXPECTED CREDIT LOSSES AND SENSITIVITY ANALYSIS

The Cost of risk as at 31 December 2021 amounts to a net expense of 700 million euros, decreasing by
2,606 million euros (-79%) compared to 31 December 2020.

Sensitivity tests have been conducted to measure the impact of the changes in weights on the models.
The scope of this exercise concerns the outstanding amounts classified as Stage 1 and Stage 2 subject to
a statistical modelling of the impacts of the macro-economic variables (75% of the outstanding amounts in
Stage 1/ Stage 2).

The results of these tests, with no impact on the classification of the outstanding amounts concerned, show
that, in the event of a 100% weighting:

— of the SG Stress scenario, the impact would be an additional allocation of 381 million euros;
— of the SG Favourable scenario, the impact would be a reversal of 243 million euros;

— of the SG Central scenario, the impact would be a reversal of 150 million euros;

— of the SG Extended scenario, the impact would be a reversal of 64 million euros.

COVID-19 SUPPORT MEASURES

Moratoriums

The moratoriums granted in the context of the sanitary crisis through mass treatment have now expired,
with a resumption of reimbursements without incident for most customers.

At the end of December 2021, out of a total of 24.9 billion euros of former moratoriums, 6 billion euros of
these outstanding loans are classified in Stage 2 (compared to 7.5 billion euros as at 31 December 2020)
and 1 billion euros have been downgraded to Stage 3 (compared to 0.7 billion euros as at
31 December 2020). The evolution of outstanding loans classified in Stage 3 (without a predominant sector)
remains consistent with the level of doubtful outstanding loans of the Group.

Any request to extend these moratoriums will not be considered as part of general measures, and the
outstanding loans related to such request will be treated as restructured loans as defined in the Accounting
Principles section in Note 3.8.
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Loans supported by the government

In France, in addition to the moratoriums, the Group entities have contributed to the implementation of
support measures decided by the authorities through the examination and allocation of State Guaranteed
Loan facilities (“Préts Garantis par I'Etat” - PGE in French) and Participatory Recovery Loans (“Préts
Participatifs Relance” - PPR).

State Guaranteed Loans (“Préts Garantis par I’Etat’ - PGE)

Thus, the Group will offer, until 30 June 2022, to its customers affected by the crisis (professionals and
corporate customers), the allocation of State Guaranteed Loan facilities (PGE) within the framework of the
2020 French Amending Finance Act and the conditions set by the French decree of 23 March 2020.
These are financings granted at cost price and guaranteed by the government for a share of the borrowed
amount between 70 to 90% depending on the size of the borrowing enterprise (with a waiting period of two
months after disbursement at the end of which the guarantee period begins). With a maximum amount
corresponding, in the general case, to three months of turnover before tax, these loans come with a one-
year repayment exemption. At the end of this year, the customer can either repay the loan or amortise it
over one to five more years, with the possibility of extending the grace period for the repayment of principal
for one year (in line with the announcements made by the French “Ministre de 'Economie, des Finances et
de la Relance” on 14 January 2021) without extending the total duration of the loan. The remuneration
conditions of the guarantee are set by the State and are applicable by all French banking institutions:
the bank keeps only a share of the guarantee premium paid by the borrower (the amount of which depends
on the size of the company and the maturity of the loan) remunerating the risk it bears, which corresponds
to the part of the loan not guaranteed by the State (i.e., between 10% and 30% of the loan depending on
the size of the borrowing company).

The State Guaranteed Loans contractual characteristics are those of basic loans (SPPI criterion) and these
loans are held by the Group as part of a business model whose objective is to collect contractual cash flows
until their maturity; as a result, these loans have been recorded in the consolidated balance sheet under
Customer loans at amortised cost. In accordance with the amortised cost method, the frequency of
recognition in the income statement of the share of guarantee premiums retained by the bank is determined
during the initial recording of the state-guaranteed loans (PGE) based on their estimated repayment
schedules. Any subsequent change in the expected flows of these premiums resulting from the actual
repayment terms (depending on the choice made by borrowers at the end of the first year of grace period
and on the possibility to extend this period for another year) results in the immediate recognition in the
income statement of the updated amount of additional guarantee premiums that the bank will receive.

As at 31 December 2021, based on respondents representing 75% of the outstanding loans, nearly half of
the state-guaranteed loans have benefited from a second year of grace period for the repayment of principal
and some 15% have been repaid at the end of the first year of grace period. The State Guaranteed Loans
granted by the Group represent a credit outstanding of approximately 16.6 billion euros (of which
4.4 billion euros classified in Stage 2 and 0.9 billion euros in Stage 3). The State Guaranteed Loans granted
by the French Retail Banking amount to 14.3 billion euros (of which 4 billion euros classified in Stage 2 and
0.7 billion euros in Stage 3), without predominance of a specific sector; the State guarantee for these loans
covers, on average, 81% of their amount. The changes resulting from the actual repayment terms have no
material effect in the Group financial statements as at 31 December 2021.

When initially recognised, these loans are recorded at their nominal value, as the Group considers that it is
representative of their fair value; and an impairment for expected credit loss based on a probability of default
at one year is recorded taking into account the effects of the guarantee insofar as it is an integral part of the
loan. The models for calculating expected credit losses also take into account the probabilities of exercise
of the extension options, the amount of the loan not guaranteed by the State as well as the waiting period
in the enforcement of the guarantee.

The expected credit losses recognised as at 31 December 2021 in relation to the PGE amount to some
145 million euros, including 78 million euros recognised by the French retail networks (including
35 million euros in Stage 2, and 31 million euros in Stage 3).

A French decree published on 19 January 2022, amending the decree published on 23 March 2020, allows
some companies to benefit, under certain conditions, from an extension of their PGE repayment deadlines
from 6 to 10 years.

The possible impacts of this decree will be presented in the half-yearly financial statements.
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Recovery Equity Loans (“Préts Participatifs Relance” - PPR)

Established by the French 2021 Finance act, this new mechanism may be used until 30 June 2022. It aims
at providing small and medium entities (SME) and mid-market companies with new long-term, quasi-equity-
like, financing. PPR are granted for 8 years, with a grace period of 4 years. They bear market-based interest
rates and do not include the right to participate in the borrowing company’s profits. 90% of the PPR thus
granted are immediately transferred to a specialised investment fund whose shares are purchased mainly
by insurance companies and which are guaranteed by the French State up to 30% of the amount of money
invested.

The amount of PPR granted as at 31 December 2021 remains non-significant at Group level.

7. AMOUNTS RESTATED COMPARED TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS PUBLISHED FOR 2020

The Group restated some comparative amounts with respect to the financial statements published for 2020.
These restatements have no impact on the opening equity, except for the changes in accounting method
resulting from the implementation of the IFRS IC decision on IAS 19.

81.12.2020 Restatement  Restatement
Published Restated 1 2

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET - ASSETS 1461 952 1444 404 (17 542) (6)
Elrnligglal assets at fair value through profit 429 458 411 916 (17 542)

Tax assets 5001 4995 (6)
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET - LIABILITIES 1461 952 1444 404 (17 542) (6)
lFolggnmal liabilities at fair value through profit or 390 247 372 705 (17 542)

Tax liabilities 1223 1227 4
Provisions 4775 4732 (43)
Consolidated reserves 32076 32102 26
Non-controlling interests 5295 5302 7

RESTATEMENT 1: ALLOCATION OF SOME MARGIN CALLS ON TRADING DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS

The review of the offsets between financial assets and liabilities done by the Group in 2021 has allowed to
identify revaluations of transaction derivatives wrongly recognised on the liabilities side of the balance sheet
instead of being booked in reduction of the assets and vice versa.

This work also brought to light an inconsistency in the accounting schemes of the macro hedging activities
with the impact on the presentation of the balance sheet. The corrections made resulted in a EUR 17.5 billion
restatement of the comparative data on the balance sheet as at 31 December 2020

This correction also impacts Notes 3.1, 3.2, 3.4, 3.12 and 8.1.

RESTATEMENT 2: IMPLEMENTATION OF THE 20 APRIL 2021 IFRS IC DECISION ON IAS 19

The 20 April 2021 decision of the IFRS Interpretations Committee (IFRS IC) on IAS 19 (see paragraph 2)
led the Group to re-assess the commitments the characteristics of which were similar to those referred to in
this decision.

The implementation of this decision results in a change in accounting method the retroactive effect of which
was recorded in the Group’s equity as at 1 January 2020 for an amount net of tax 33 million euros of which
7 million euros corresponding to the non-controlling interests.

This change in accounting method also impacts the Cash flow statement and the Notes 3.12, 5.2, 6, 8.1, 8.3.
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RESTATEMENT 3: PRESENTATION OF THE VARIATIONS IN CAPITAL GAINS AND LOSSES

The tagging of the consolidated financial statements for the publication of the 2022 Financial Statement in
ESEF format led the Group to stop including in the Statement of Net income and unrealised or deferred
gains and losses the flows related to the reclassification as retained earnings of the actuarial gains and
losses on defined benefit plans as well as the revaluation of the own credit risk of financial liabilities
designated at fair value through profit or loss.

This change in the presentation has no impact on the total consolidated equity.
These impacts of this restatement are presented in the table below:

Allocation to retained earnings

2020 2020
published Shareholder’s Non- restated

equity Group controlling
In EUR m share interests
Unrealised or deferred gains and losses that
will not be reclassified subsequently into (79) (13) (6) (98)
income
Actuarial gains and losses on defined benefit plans (53) 7 (8) (54)
Revaluation of own credit risk of financial liabilities
at fair value through profit or loss (79) (1) (100)
Unrealised gains and losses of entities accounted 16 16
for using the equity method
Related tax 37 1 2 40
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NOTE 2 — CONSOLIDATION

‘ ' The various activities of the Societe Generale group in France and abroad are carried out
by Societe Generale — Parent company (which includes the Societe Generale foreign

’ ‘ branches) and by all of the entities that it controls either directly or indirectly (subsidiaries
and joint arrangements) or on which it exercises significant influence (associates). All of

MAE!NG these entities make up the scope of the Group consolidation.

SIMPLE Consolidation uses a standardised accounting process to give an aggregated presentation
of the accounts of Societe Generale — Parent company and its subsidiaries, joint
arrangements and associates, presented as if they were a single entity.

To do so, the individual accounts of the entities that make up the Group are restated so
that they are in accordance with IFRS, as adopted by the European Union, in order to
present consistent information in the consolidated financial statements.

In addition, the accounting balances (assets, liabilities, income and expense) generated by
transactions between Group entities are eliminated through the consolidation process so
that the consolidated financial statements present only the transactions and results made
with third parties outside of the Group.

ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES

The consolidated financial statements of Societe Generale include the financial statements of the parent
company and of the main French and foreign companies as well as foreign branches over which the Group
exercises control as well as a portion of the financial statements of the companies over which the Group
exercises joint control or significant influence.

CONSOLIDATED ENTITIES

= Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are the entities over which the Group has exclusive control. The Group controls an entity if and
only if the three following conditions are met:

= the Group has power over the entity (ability to direct its relevant activities, i.e. the activities that
significantly affect the entity’s returns), through the holding of voting rights or other rights; and

= the Group has exposure or rights to variable returns from its involvement with the entity; and
= the Group has the ability to use its power over the entity to affect the amount of the Group’s returns.

Power

When determining voting rights for the purpose of establishing the Group’s degree of control over an entity
and the appropriate consolidation method, potential voting rights are taken into account where they can be
freely exercised at the time the assessment is made or at the latest when decisions about the direction of
the relevant activities need to be made. Potential voting rights are instruments such as call options on
ordinary shares outstanding on the market or rights to convert bonds into new ordinary shares.

When voting rights are not relevant to determine whether or not the Group controls an entity, the assessment
of this control shall consider all the facts and circumstances, including the existence of one or more
contractual arrangements. Power over an investee exists only if the investor has substantive rights that give
it the current ability to direct relevant activities without barriers.

Some rights are designed to protect the interests of their holder (protective rights) without giving that party
power over the investee to which those rights relate.

If there are several investors, each with substantive rights that give them the unilateral ability to direct
different relevant activities, the investor with that has the current ability to direct the activities that most
significantly affect the variable returns of the investee is presumed to have power over the investee.
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Exposure to variable returns

Control exists only if the Group is significantly exposed to the variability of variable returns generated by its
investment or its involvement in the entity. These returns, which could be dividends, interest, fees, etc.,
can be only positive, only negative or both positive and negative.

Link between power and variable returns

To assess the link between power and variable returns, if the Group has been delegated decision-making
rights that it exercises on behalf and for the benefit of third parties (the principals), it is presumed to act as
an agent for these principals, and therefore it does not control the entity when it exercises its decision-
making power. In asset management activities, an analysis shall be performed in order to determine whether
the asset manager is acting as agent or principal when managing the net assets of a fund; the fund is
presumed to be controlled by the asset manager if the latter is considered as a principal.

Special case of structured entities

A structured entity is an entity that has been designed so that voting or similar rights are not the dominant
factor in deciding who controls the entity. Such is the case, for example, when the relevant activities are
directed by means of contractual arrangements.

A structured entity often presents certain characteristics such as a limited business activity, a specific and
carefully defined purpose, or insufficient capital to fund its activities without the use of subordinated
financing.

Structured entities may assume different legal forms: stock companies, partnerships, securitisation vehicles,
mutual funds, unincorporated entities, etc.

When assessing the existence of control over a structured entity, all facts and circumstances shall be
considered among which:

the purpose and design of the entity;
the structuring of the entity;

risks to which the entity is exposed by way of its design and the Group’s exposure to some or all of these
risks;

potential returns and benefits for the Group.
Unconsolidated structured entities are those that are not exclusively controlled by the Group.

= Joint arrangements

Through a joint arrangement (either a joint operation or a joint venture) the Group exercises joint control
over an entity if decisions about the direction of its relevant activities require the unanimous consent of the
parties that collectively control the entity. Assessing joint control requires an analysis of the rights and
obligations of all the parties. In the case of a joint operation, the parties to the arrangement have rights to
the assets and obligations for the liabilities.

In the case of a joint venture, the parties have rights to the net assets of the entity.

= Associates

Associates are companies over which the Group exercises significant influence and are accounted for using
the equity method in the Group’s consolidated financial statements. Significant influence is the power to
participate in the financial and operating policies of an entity without exercising control. In particular,
significant influence can result from Societe Generale being represented on the Board of Directors or
Supervisory Board, from its involvement in strategic decisions, from the existence of significant
intercompany transactions, from the exchange of management staff, or from the company’s technical
dependency on Societe Generale. The Group is assumed to exercise significant influence over the financial
and operating policies of an entity when it directly or indirectly holds at least 20% of the voting rights in this
entity.
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The consolidated financial statements are built up from the financial statements of the entities that are
included in the consolidation scope. Companies with a fiscal year ending more than three months before or
after that of Societe Generale prepare pro-forma statements for a twelve-month period ended 31 December.
All significant balances, profits and transactions between Group companies are eliminated.

The results of newly acquired subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial statements from their
effective acquisition date while the results of subsidiaries disposed of during the fiscal year are included up
to the date where the Group relinquished control.

= Consolidation methods

The subsidiaries, including the structured entities over which the Group has exclusive control, are fully
consolidated.

In the consolidated balance sheet, full consolidation consists in replacing the value of the subsidiary’s equity
securities held by the Group with each of the subsidiary’s assets and liabilities, in addition to the goodwiill
recognised when the Group assumed control over the entity (see Note 2.2).

In the income statement and the statement of net income and unrealised or deferred gains and losses,
the subsidiary’s expense and income items are aggregated with those of the Group.

The portion of non-controlling interests in the subsidiary is presented separately in the consolidated balance
sheet and income statement. However, in consolidated structured entities that are controlled by the Group,
the portions of these entities not owned by the Group are recognised as Debt in the balance sheet.

In the case of a joint operation, the Group distinctly recognises in its consolidated financial statements its
share in the assets and liabilities as well as its share in the related revenue and expense.

Associates and joint ventures are accounted for using the equity method in the consolidated financial
statements of the Group. Under the equity method, the investment in an associate is recognised, on initial
recognition, under Investments accounted for using the equity method at the cost of the Group’s investment
in the joint venture or associate, including goodwill and after the date of acquisition the carrying amount is
increased or decreased to recognise the changes in the investor’'s share in the net asset value of the
investee.

These investments are tested for impairment if there is objective evidence of impairment. If the recoverable
amount of the investment (value in use or market value net of selling costs, whichever is higher) is lower
than its carrying amount, an impairment loss is recorded on the balance sheet at the carrying amount of the
investment. Impairment allowances and reversals are recorded under Net income from investments
accounted for using the equity method.

The Group’s share in the entity’s net income and unrealised or deferred gains and losses is presented on
separate lines in the consolidated income statement and the consolidated statement of net income and
unrealised or deferred gains and losses. If the Group’s share in the losses of an entity consolidated using
the equity method becomes greater than or equal to its ownership interest in the company, the Group ceases
to recognise its share in subsequent losses unless it is required to do so by legal or implied obligations,
in which case it records a provision for said losses.

Capital gains and losses generated on the disposal of companies accounted for using the equity method
are recorded under Net income/expense from other assets

= Translation of foreign entity financial statements

The balance sheet items of consolidated companies reporting in foreign currencies are translated into euro
at the official exchange rates prevailing at the closing date. Income statement items of these companies are
translated into euros, at the average month-end exchange rates. Gains and losses arising from the
translation of capital, reserves, retained earnings and income are recognised under Unrealised or deferred
gains and losses — Translation differences. Gains and losses arising from the translation of the capital
contribution of foreign branches of Group banks are also included in changes in consolidated shareholders’
equity under the same heading.

In accordance with the option allowed under IFRS 1, the Group allocated all differences arising on translation
of foreign entity financial statements at 1 January 2004 to consolidated reserves. As a result, if any of these
entities are sold, the proceeds from the sale will only include write-backs of those translation differences
arising since 1 January 2004.
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= Changes in Group’s ownership interest in a consolidated entity

In the event of an increase in Group’s ownership interest in a subsidiary over which it already exercises
control, the differences between the price paid for the additional stake and the assessed fair value of the
proportion of net assets acquired at this date is recorded under Consolidation reserves, Group share.

The costs related to these transactions are recognised directly in equity.

When the Group losses control of a consolidated subsidiary, any investment retained in the former
subsidiary is remeasured at fair value through profit or loss, at the same time the capital gain or loss is
recorded under Net income/expense from assets in the consolidated income statement. The gains or losses
on disposals include a share of goodwill previously allocated to the cash-generating units to which the
subsidiary belongs. This share’s determination is based on a normative capital allocated to the subsidiary
that is sold and to the portion of cash-generating unit that is retained.

COMMITMENTS TO BUY OUT MINORITY SHAREHOLDERS IN FULLY CONSOLIDATED
SUBSIDIARIES

In some fully consolidated Group subsidiaries, the Group has awarded minority shareholders commitments
to buy out their stakes. For the Group, these buyout commitments are put option sales (put options without
transfer of the risks and advantages associated with the ownership interest before the option’s exercise).
The exercise price for these options can be established using a formula agreed upon at the time of the
acquisition of the shares in the subsidiary that takes into account its future performance. It can also be set
as the fair value of these shares at the exercise date of the options.

The commitments are recorded as follows:

= in accordance with IAS 32, the Group records a financial liability for the put options granted to minority
shareholders of the subsidiaries over which it exercises control. This liability is initially recognised at the
present value of the estimated exercise price of the put options under Other liabilities;

= the obligation to recognise a liability even though the put options have not been exercised means that,
in order to be consistent, the Group must use the same accounting treatment as the one applied to
transactions in Non-controlling interests. As a result, the counterpart of this liability is a write-down in
value of non-controlling interests underlying the options, with any balance deducted from Retained
earnings, Group share;

= subsequent variations in this liability (linked to changes in the estimated exercise price of the options and
the carrying value of Non-controlling interests) are recorded in full in Retained earnings, Group share;

= if the buy-out takes place, the liability is settled by the cash payment linked to the acquisition of non-
controlling interests in the subsidiary. However if, when the commitment reaches its term, the buy-out
has not occurred, the liability is written off against Non-controlling interests and Retained earnings, Group
share for their respective portions;

= as long as the options have not been exercised, the results linked to Non-controlling interests with a put
option are recorded under Non-controlling interests on the Group’s consolidated income statement.
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NOTE 2.1 - CONSOLIDATION SCOPE

The consolidation scope includes subsidiaries and structured entities under the Group’s exclusive control,
joint arrangements (joint ventures and joint operations) and associates whose financial statements are
significant relative to the Group’s consolidated financial statements, notably regarding Group consolidated
total assets and gross operating income.

The main change to the consolidation scope at 31 December 2021, compared with the scope applicable at
the closing date of 31 December 2020, is as follow:

TRANSFER OF THE ASSET MANAGEMENT ACTIVITIES PERFORMED BY LYXOR

On 31 December 2021, the Group finalised with Amundi the transfer of the asset management activities
performed by Lyxor. This transfer concerns the passive (ETF) as well as active (including alternative) asset
management activities performed by Lyxor on behalf of institutional customers in France and abroad;
it includes the commercial and support functions dedicated to these activities.

This transfer resulted in a EUR 0.4 billion decrease in the Group’s total balance sheet including the
EUR 223 million decrease in goodwill allocated to the Asset and Wealth Management CGU (see Note 2.2).

A pre-tax capital gain of EUR 439 million is recognised under Net Income on other assets in the 2021 Income
statement.

POST-CLOSING EVENT: ACQUISITION PROJECT

On 6 January 2022, the Group announced the signing by Societe Generale and ALD of two agreements
providing for the acquisition by ALD of 100% of the capital of Lease Plan (the net book value of which would
amount approximately to EUR 3.5 billion) before end 2022.

The total acquisition price of EUR 4.9 billion would be paid in cash for EUR 2 billion and in shares
representing an ownership interest of 30.75% in the ALD capital upon completion of the transaction.

Following the transaction, Societe Generale would remain majority shareholder of ALD with an ownership
interest of approximately 53% at the closing of the transaction which might be decreased to around 51%
were LeasePlan shareholders to exercise their warrants.
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NOTE 2.2 - GOODWILL

‘ ' When the Group acquires a company, it integrates in its consolidated balance sheet all of
the new subsidiary’s assets and liabilities at fair value.

’ ‘ But the acquisition price of a company is generally higher than the net revalued amount of

MAKING | its assets and liabilities. The excess value, called goodwill, can represent part of the

IT company’s intangible capital (reputation, quality of its personnel, market shares, etc.) which

SIMPLE | contributes to its overall value, or the value of the future synergies that the Group hopes to
develop by integrating the new subsidiary in its existing activities.

In the consolidated balance sheet, the goodwill is recognised as an intangible asset, the
useful life of which is presumed to be unlimited; it is not amortised and therefore does not
generate any recurring expense in the Group’s future results.

However, every year, the Group assesses whether the value of its goodwill has not
depreciated. If it has, an irreversible expense is immediately recognised in the Group
results, which indicates that the profitability of the intangible capital of the acquired entity is
inferior to initial expectations, or that the anticipated synergies have not been fulfilled.

ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES

The Group uses the acquisition method to recognise its business combinations in accordance with IFRS 3
“Business Combinations”.

On the acquisition date, the acquisition cost is calculated as the total fair value of all assets given, liabilities
incurred or assumed and equity instruments issued in exchange for the control of the acquired entity.
The costs directly linked to business combinations are recognised in profit or loss for the period except those
related to the issuance of equity or debt instruments.

Any contingent consideration is included in the acquisition cost at its fair value on the acquisition date, even
if its occurrence is only potential. It is recognised under equity or debt in the balance sheet depending on
the settlement alternatives. If recognised as debt, any subsequent adjustment is recorded under income for
financial liabilities in accordance with IFRS 9 and within the scope of the appropriate standards for other
debts. If recognised as equity instruments, these subsequent adjustments are not recorded.

On the acquisition date, as required by IFRS 3, all assets, liabilities, off-balance sheet items and contingent
liabilities of this new subsidiary (even if they were not recognised before the combination) are measured
individually at their fair value regardless of their purpose. At the same time, non-controlling interests are
valued according to their share of the fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the acquired entity.
However, for each business combination, the Group may also choose to measure non-controlling interests
initially at their fair value, in which case a fraction of goodwill is allocated.

Any excess of the price paid over the assessed fair value of the proportion of net assets acquired is recorded
on the asset side of the consolidated balance sheet under Goodwill. Any deficit is immediately recognised
in profit or loss.

On the acquisition date, any stake in this entity already held by the Group is remeasured at fair value through
profit or loss. In the case of a step acquisition, goodwill is therefore determined by referring to the fair value
on the acquisition date.

The analyses and professional appraisals required for this initial valuation must be carried out within
12 months as from the acquisition date, as must any corrections to the value based on new information
related to facts and circumstances existing at the acquisition date. Goodwill and non-controlling interests
initially recorded are consequently adjusted.
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On the acquisition date, each item of goodwill is allocated to one or more cash-generating units expected
to derive benefits from the acquisition. When the Group reorganises its reporting structure in a way that
changes the composition of one or more cash-generating units, goodwill previously allocated to modified
units is reallocated to the units affected (new or existing). This reallocation is generally performed using a
relative approach based on the normative capital requirements of each cash-generating unit affected.

Goodwill is reviewed regularly by the Group and tested for impairment whenever there is any indication that
its value may have diminished, and at least once a year. Any impairment of goodwill is calculated based on
the recoverable value of the relevant cash-generating unit(s).

If the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit(s) is less than its (their) carrying amount, an
irreversible impairment is recorded in the consolidated income statement for the period under Value
adjustment on goodwill.
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As at 31 December 2021, goodwill is split into the following 10 Cash-Generating Units (CGUSs):

Pillars

Activities

French Retail Banking

France Networks

Societe Generale’s retail banking network, Boursorama online
banking activities, consumer and equipment financing in France,
retail banking network of Crédit du Nord and its 7 regional banks

International Retail Banking and Financial Services

Retail banking and consumer finance services in Europe, notably in

Europe Germany (Hanseatic Bank, BDK), ltaly (Fiditalia), France (CGL),
Czech Republic (KB, Essox), Romania (BRD)
Russia Banking group Rosbank and its subsidiaries

Africa, Mediterranean Basin and Overseas

Retail banking and consumer finance in Africa, the Mediterranean
Basin and Overseas, including in Morocco (SGMA), Algeria (SGA),
Tunisia (UIB), Cameroon (SGBC), Coéte d’lvoire (SGBCI) and
Senegal (SGBS)

Insurance

Life and non-life insurance activities in France and abroad
(including Sogécap, Sogessur, Oradea Vie and Antarius)

Equipment and Vendor Finance

Financing of sales and professional equipment by Societe Generale
Equipment Finance

Auto Leasing Financial Services

Operational vehicle leasing and fleet management services
(ALD Automotive)

Global Banking and Investor Solutions

Global Markets and Investor Services

Market solutions for businesses, financial institutions, the public
sector, family offices and a full range of securities services, clearing
services, execution, prime brokerage and custody

Financing and Advisory

Advisory and financing services for businesses, financial
institutions, the public sector and transaction and payment
management services

Asset and Wealth Management

Asset and Wealth Management Solutions in France and abroad
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FRANCE RETAIL BANKS PROJECTS

On 7 December 2020, the Group announced two major strategic initiatives regarding retail banking in
France: the Crédit du Nord / Societe Generale merger project (“Vision 2025” project), and the strengthening
of the development of Boursorama.

On 12 October 2021, Societe Generale presented to his social partners the proposed organisation of its
new Retail Bank in France which will entail the legal merger of Crédit du Nord and Societe Generale.

The legal merger of the Crédit du Nord and Societe Generale entities will take effect on 1 January 2023 and
the IT merger will take place during the first half of 2023. This project is subject to consultation with social
partners and to approval by the competent authorities. Its impacts on the financial statements as at
31 December 2021 are presented below as well as in Note 8.1.

In this context, the monitoring and steering of the Group’s activities evolved during the 2021 financial year:
they are now unique and overall for the Retail banking networks of Societe Generale and Credit du Nord.
These activities are integrated into a single budget whose flows are largely independent of the flows
generated by the other assets or groups of assets of the Group by 2023.

Consequently, the Group changed the composition of its CGUs as at 31 December 2021 and integrated the
Crédit du Nord CGU (Retail banking network of Crédit du Nord and its seven regional banks) into the
Societe Generale Networks CGU (Societe Generale Retail banking network, Boursorama online banking
activities, consumer and equipment credit in France). The new name of CGU thus modified is
France Networks.

The table below shows the changes over the year 2020 in the values of goodwill of Cash-Generating
Units (CGUSs):

Acquisitions  Disposals

Value as at and other  and other Value as at
(In EUR m) 31.12.2020 increases decreases Transfers Impairment 31.12.2021
French Retail Banking 797 34 - - - 831
French Network @ 286 34 - 511 - 831
Crédit du Nord 511 - - (511) -
gl;ﬁi(?ggogilir?:rfz:gl Services 2,730 ) ) i (114) A
Europe 1,361 - - - - 1,361
Russia - - - - - -
Africa, Mediterranean Basin 28 . . ) (114) 114
and Overseas
Insurance 335 - - - - 335
Equipment and Vendor Finance 228 - - - - 228
Auto Leasing Financial Services 578 - - - - 578
IGlobal Bankin_g and 517 ) (223) ) ) 294
nvestor Solutions
Global Markets and Investor . ) ) ) ) i
Services
Financing and Advisory 57 - - - - 57
Asset and Wealth Management @ 460 - (223) - - 237
Total 4,044 34 (223) - (114) 3,741

(1) The CGU Societe Generale Networks was renamed France Networks as at 31 December 2021 (see section France
Retail banks Projects).

(2) Corresponds to the decrease in goodwill related to the disposal of Lyxor (see Note 2.1).
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ANNUAL IMPAIRMENT TEST OF CGU

The Group performed an annual impairment test at 31 December 2021 for each CGU to which goodwill had
been allocated.

A CGU is defined as the smallest identifiable group of assets that generates cash inflows, which are largely
independent of the cash inflows from the Group’s other assets or groups of assets. Impairment tests consist
into assessing the recoverable value of each CGU and comparing it with its carrying value. An irreversible
impairment loss is recorded in the income statement if the carrying value of a CGU, including goodwill,
exceeds its recoverable value. This loss is booked under value adjustment on goodwill.

The recoverable amount of a CGU is calculated using the discounted cash flow (DCF) method applied to
the entire CGU.

The key principles retained for the implementation of annual tests for the assessment of the recoverable
value of CGUs are as follows:

= For each CGU, estimates of future distributable dividends are determined over a five-year period, on the
basis of a four-year budget trajectory (2022 — 2025) extrapolated to 2026, the latter year being used to
calculate the terminal value.

= These estimates take into account the equity target allocated to each CGU, unchanged compared to
31 December 2020 (11% of the risk-weighted assets of each CGU).

= The growth rates used to calculate the terminal value are determined using forecasts on sustainable
long-term economic growth and inflation. These rates are estimated using two main sources, hamely the
International Monetary Fund and the economic analyses produced by SG Cross Asset Research which
provides 2026 forecasts.

= The projected dividends are then discounted on the basis of a rate equal to the risk-free rate grossed up
by a risk premium based on the CGU’s underlying activities. This risk premium, specific to each activity,
is calculated from a series of equity risk premiums published by SG Cross Asset Research and from its
specific estimated volatility (beta). Where appropriate, the risk-free rate is also grossed up by a sovereign
risk premium, representing the difference between the risk-free rate available in the area of monetary
assignment (mainly US dollar area or Euro area) and the interest rate observed on liquid long-term
treasury bonds issued (mainly US dollar area or Euro area), in proportion with risk-weighted assets for
CGUs covering several countries. The updated discount rates as at 31 December 2021 are
detailed below.
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The table below presents discount rates and long-term growth rates specific to the CGUs of the Group’s
three core businesses:

Long-term
Assumptions as at 31 December 2021 Discount rate growth rate
French Retail Banking
France Networks 8.0% 1.5%
International Retail Banking and Financial Services
Retail Banking and Consumer Finance 10.4% to 13.7% 2% to 3%
Insurance 9.0% 2.5%
Equipment and Vendor Finance and Auto Leasing Financial Services 9.4% 2.0%
Global Banking and Investor Solutions
Global Markets and Investor Services 12.0% 2.0%
Financing and Advisory 10.0% 2.0%
Asset and Wealth Management 9.5% 2%

The budget trajectories take into account in particular the impacts of the commitments in favour of
the energy and environmental transition and the development of the territories detailed in the
Declaration of Non-Financial Performance (DNFP).
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These budgets are based on the following main business and macro-economic assumptions:

Pillars

French Retail Banking

= In a challenging environment (regulatory constraints, low rates), ongoing efforts to shift
operations and relationship banking at Societe Generale and Credit du Nord towards a digital
France Networks model, and implementation of the project to merge the two retail banking networks

= Confirmation of Boursorama’s customer acquisition plan

International Retail Banking & Financial Services

= Continued adaptation of our models to capture growth potential in the region and consolidate
the competitive positions of our operations

Europe

= Strict discipline applied to operating expenses and normalisation of cost of risk

= Continued development of activities in Russia by continuing to focus on activities with the
Russia best rentability and risk/reward

= Strict discipline applied to operating expenses and cost of risk

= Continued development of Societe Generale’s sales network
Africa, Mediterranean Basin

and Overseas = Continued focus on operating efficiency (automatisation, dematerialisation, digitalisation and
mutualisation initiatives)

= Reinforcement of integrated bank insurance model and continued dynamic growth in France
Insurance and abroad in synergy with the retail banking network, Private Banking and financial services to
businesses ®

= Consolidation of leadership in these corporate financing businesses
Equipment and Vendor Finance = Recovery of profitability by continuing to focus on activities with the best risk/reward

= Strict discipline applied to operating expenses and scarce resources

= Reinforcement of ALD position at the heart of the evolving mobility world and strengthening
of competitive edge to become a fully integrated sustainable mobility provider and the global

Auto Leasing Financial Services leader in its industry

= Continued growth for strategic partners and for long-tearm renting to retail customers

= Continued focus on operating efficiency

Global Banking and Investor Solutions

= Thanks to the restructuring initiated in 2019, better balance of the portfolio of businesses
securing future revenues and enabling an optimisation of resources utilisation in a standardised

Global Markets and Investor market context.

Services = Consolidation of market-leading franchises (equities) and growth mainly supported by
financing and investment solutions activities.

= Continued optimisation measures and investments in information systems

= Consolidation of origination momentum of financing activities
Financing and Advisory = Consolidation of market-leading franchises (commaodity and structured financing)

= Progressive normalisation of cost of risk in improved economic conditions

= Consolidation of commercial and operational efficiency in Wealth Management in an

improved economic environment and continued development of synergies with retail banking
Asset and Wealth Management  naetwork

= Divestment of most of Lyxor's asset management activities

(1) The impacts of the new IFRS 17 standard, which will come into force from 1 January 2023, have been incorporated
into the budget trajectory of the Insurance CGU.
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The tests carried out led to the impairment of a part goodwill allocated to the Africa, Mediterranean Basin
and Overseas CGU for an amount of EUR 114 million presented in value adjustment on goodwill line in the
income statement.

For other CGUSs, the tests carried out at 31 December 2021 show that the recoverable amount remains
higher than the book value.

Sensitivity tests were performed to measure the impact of the change in the discount rate and in the long-
term growth rate on the recoverable amount of each CGU. The results of these tests show that:

= a 50 basis point increase applied to all CGU discount rates shown in the table above would result in a
decrease in the total recoverable amount of 7.3% without requiring additional impairment of any CGU;

= a 50 basis point reduction in long-term growth rates would result in a 2.5% decrease in the total
recoverable amount without requiring additional depreciation of any CGU;

= by combining these two sensitivity cases, the total recoverable amount would result in a 9.2% decrease
without requiring additional depreciation of any CGU.
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NOTE 2.3 - UNCONSOLIDATED STRUCTURED ENTITIES

The information provided hereafter concerns entities structured but not controlled by the Group.
This information is grouped by main type of similar entities, such as Financing activities, Asset management
and Others (including Securitisation and Issuing vehicules).

Asset financing includes lease finance partnerships and similar vehicles that provide aircraft, rail, shipping
or real estate finance facilities.

Asset management includes mutual funds managed by the Group’s asset management subsidiaries.

Securitisation includes securitisation funds or similar vehicles issuing financial instruments that can be
subscribed for by investors and that generate credit risks inherent in an exposure or basket of exposures
which can be divided into tranches.

The Group’s interests in unconsolidated entities that have been structured by third parties are classified
among financial instruments in the consolidated balance sheet according to their nature.

1. INTERESTS IN UNCONSOLIDATED STRUCTURED ENTITIES

The Group’s interests in an unconsolidated structured entity refer to contractual and non-contractual
involvements that expose the Group to the variability of returns from the performance of this structured
entity.

Such interests can be evidenced by:

= the holding of equity or debt instruments (regardless of their rank of subordination);
= other funding (loans, cash facilities, loan commitments, liquidity facilities...);

= credit enhancement (guarantees, subordinated instruments, credit derivatives...);

= issuance of guarantees (guarantee commitments);

= derivatives that absorb all or part of the risk of variability of the structured entity’s returns, except Credit
Default Swap (CDS) and options purchased by the Group;

= contracts remunerated by fees indexed to the structured entity’s performance;
= tax consolidation agreements.
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Asset financing Asset management @ Others

(In EUR m) 31.12.2021 31.12.2020 31.12.2021 31.12.2020 31.12.2021 31.12.2020

1)
Ihoga;nﬁﬁ';‘”ce sheet ™ of 6,018 6,777 17,635 118,781 23,932 21,105
Net carrying amount of
Group interests in
unconsolidated
structured entities
Assets 2,650 3,021 4,659 6,284 8,512 6,714
Financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss 293 311 S 5,763 979 839
Financial assets at fair
value through other - - - - 52 53
comprehensive income
zlr:i?t?slzldasgsetts at 2,377 2,706 54 354 7,480 5,822
Others 4 4 160 167 1 -
Liabilities 1,490 1,478 4,242 4,597 1,814 1,707
Financial liabilities at fair
value through profit or loss Sl 129 =hiils 2,845 S 871
CDL‘]‘Set;Om[e’f‘g'; g‘;‘tjs 1,338 1,332 498 1,636 841 836
Others 37 17 29 116 - -

(1) For Asset management: NAV (Net Asset Value) of funds.

(2) In 2021, the decrease of Asset management activities is linked to the disposal of Lyxor (see Note 2.1).

The group may grant to these entities repayable advances related to the establishment of working capital,

which remain insignificant.

However, this year, the Group has not provided any financial support to these entities, except if bound to by
contract, and, as of 31 December 2021, does not intend to provide such support.

The maximum exposure to loss related to interests in unconsolidated structured entities is measured as:

(In EUR m)

Asset financing

Asset management

31.12.2021 31.12.2020 31.12.2021

Others

31.12.2020 31.12.2021 31.12.2020

Amortised cost or fair value
(according to the measurement
of the financial instrument) of
non-derivative financial assets
entered into with the structured
entity

2,475

2,521

5,096

4,618

1,851

2,223

Fair value of derivative financial
assets recognised in the
balance sheet

195

244

1,838

3,585

372

522

Notional amount of CDS sold
(maximum amount to be paid)

Notional amount of loan or
guarantee commitments granted

112

474

461

478

2,331

1,080

Maximum exposure to loss

2,782

3,239

7,395

8,681

4,554

3,825
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The amount of maximum exposure to loss can be mitigated by:
= the notional amount of guarantee commitments received,;

= the fair value of collateral received;

= the carrying amount of surety deposits received.

These mitigating amounts must be capped in case of legal or contractual limitation of their realisable or
recoverable amounts. They amounted to EUR 2,076 million and mainly concern Others (including
Securitisation and Issuing vehicules).

2. INFORMATION ON UNCONSOLIDATED STRUCTURED ENTITIES SPONSORED BY THE GROUP

The Group may have no ownership interest in a structured entity, but still be considered as a sponsor of this
structured entity if it acts or has acted as:

= a structurer;
= an originator for potential investors;
= an asset manager;

= an implicit or explicit guarantor of the entity’s performance (in particular via capital or return guarantees
granted to mutual fund unit holders).

A structured entity is also considered to be sponsored by the Group if its name includes the name of the
Group or the name of one of its subsidiaries.

Conversely, entities that are structured by the Group according to specific needs expressed by one or more
customers or investors are considered to be sponsored by said customers or investors.

As at 31 December 2021, the total amount of the balance sheet of these unconsolidated structured entities,
sponsored by the Group, and in which the Group does not have any interest, was EUR 3,517 million.

In 2021, no significant revenue has been recognised for theses structured entities.
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NOTE 3 - FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

s ' The financial instruments represent the contractual rights or obligations to receive or to

pay cash or other financial assets. The Group’s banking activities generally take the
’ ‘ form of financial instruments covering a broad spectrum of assets and liabilities, such
as loans, investment portfolios (equity, bonds, etc.), deposits, regulated savings
accounts, debt securities issued and derivative instruments (swaps, options, forward
contracts, credit derivatives, etc.).

MAKING
IT
SIMPLE
In the financial statements, the classification and valuation of financial assets and
liabilities depend on their contractual characteristics and the way the entity manages

those financial instruments.

However, this distinction is not applicable to derivative instruments, which are always
measured at fair value in the balance sheet, no matter what their purpose is (market
activities or hedging transactions).

ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES

CLASSIFICATION OF FINANCIAL ASSETS

At initial recognition, financial instruments are classified in the Group balance sheet in one of three
categories (amortised cost, fair value through profit or loss, and fair value through other comprehensive
income) that determine their accounting treatment and subsequent measurement method. Classification is
based on their contractual cash flow characteristics and the entity’s business model for managing the assets.

Cash flow Accounting

characteristics Business model classification

SPPI D\ﬂ Collecting contractual Amortised cost
o. cash flows
(Solely Payments of S
Principal and

Interest) @h @l setines] Fair value through OCI
* Basic debt o. ¥ 5’ cash flows and selling with_subsequent recycling in

financial assets profit or loss

X

-
il Trading portfolio
A

+ Fair value option ) )
Fair value through profit

(to eliminate or reduce an accountina mismatch) or loss

NON SPPI

* Complex debt
financial assets

» Equity financial

Regardless of the
business model

T

assets
* Derivatives
instruments
AY - _ 7/
@CT @ + Fair value through OCI option Fair value through OCI
G’Q without subsequent recycling in profit or loss (non- without_subsequent recycling in
tradina eauitv financial assets) profit or loss
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The accounting principles for classifying the financial assets require the entity to analyse the contractual
cash flows generated by the financial instruments and to analyse the business model for managing the
financial instruments.

Analysis of contractual cash flow characteristics

The aim of the analysis of contractual cash flow characteristics is to limit the option of recognising revenues
from financial assets using the effective interest method exclusively to the instruments whose characteristics
are similar to those of a basic lending arrangement, meaning their associated cash flows are highly
predictable. All other financial instruments that do not share these characteristics are measured at fair value
through profit or loss, regardless of the business model used to manage them.

The contractual inflows that represent Solely Payments of Principal and Interest (SPPI) on the principal
amount outstanding are consistent with a basic lending arrangement.

In a basic lending arrangement, interest predominantly consists of a consideration for the time value of
money and for credit risk. Interest may also include a consideration for liquidity risk, administrative costs,
and a commercial profit margin. Negative interest is not inconsistent with this definition.

All financial assets that are not basic will be mandatorily measured at fair value through profit or loss,
regardless of the business model for managing them.

Derivatives qualifying as hedging instruments for accounting purposes are recorded on a separate line in
the balance sheet (see Note 3.2).

The Group can make the irrevocable decision on a security-by-security basis, to classify and measure any
equity instrument (shares and other equity securities) that is not held for trading purposes at fair value
through other comprehensive income. Subsequently, the profit or loss accumulated in other comprehensive
income will never be reclassified to profit or loss (only dividends on these instruments will be recognised as
income).

Analysis of the business model

The business model represents how the financial instruments are managed in order to generate cash flows
and income.

The Group uses several business models in the course of exercising its different business lines.
Business models are assessed on how groups of financial instruments are managed together to achieve a
particular business objective. The business model is not assessed on an instrument-by-instrument basis,
but at a portfolio level, considering relevant evidence such as:

how the performance of the portfolio is evaluated and reported to the Group’s Management;
how risks related to financial instruments within that business model are managed;

how managers of the business are compensated,;

sales of assets realised or expected (value, frequency, purpose).

To determine the classification and measurement of financial assets, three different business models shall
be distinguished:

a business model whose objective is to collect contractual cash flows (“Collect” business model);

a business model whose objective is achieved by both collecting contractual cash flows on financial
assets and selling these financial assets (“Collect and Sell” business model);

a separate business model for other financial assets, especially those that are held for trading purposes,
where collecting contractual cash flows is only incidental.

Fair value option

SPPI financial assets that are not held for trading purposes can be designated, at initial recognition, at fair
value through profit or loss if such designation eliminates or significantly reduces discrepancies in the
accounting treatment of the related financial assets and liabilities (accounting mismatch).
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CLASSIFICATION OF FINANCIAL LIABILITIES
Financial liabilities are classified into one of the following two categories:

= Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss: these are financial liabilities held for trading
purposes, which by default include derivative financial liabilities not qualifying as hedging instruments
and non-derivative financial liabilities designated by the Group upon initial recognition to be measured
at fair value through profit or loss using the fair value option;

= Debts: these include the other non-derivative financial liabilities and are measured at amortised cost.

Derivative financial assets and liabilities qualifying as hedging instruments are presented on separate lines
of the balance sheet (see Note 3.2).

RECLASSIFICATIONS OF FINANCIAL ASSETS

Reclassifications of financial assets are only required in the exceptional event that the Group changes the
business model used to manage these assets.

FAIR VALUE

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the measurement date. The valuation methods used by the
Group to establish the fair value of financial instruments are detailed in Note 3.4.

INITIAL RECOGNITION

Financial assets are recognised on the balance sheet:
= as at the settlement/delivery date for securities;

= as at the trade date for derivatives;

= as at the disbursement date for loans.

For instruments measured at fair value, changes in fair value between the trade date and the settlement-
delivery date are recorded in net income or in other comprehensive income, depending on the accounting
classification of the financial assets in question. The trade date is the date on which the contractual
commitment becomes binding and irrevocable for the Group.

Upon initial recognition, the financial assets and liabilities are measured at fair value including the
transaction costs directly attributable to their acquisition or issuance, except for the financial instruments
recognised at fair value through profit or loss, for which these costs are booked directly to the income
statement.

If the initial fair value is exclusively based on observable market data, any difference between the fair value
and the transaction price, i.e. the sales margin, is immediately recognised in profit or loss. However, if one
of the valuation inputs is not observable or if the used valuation model is not recognised by the market,
the recognition of the sales margin is then generally deferred in profit or loss. For some instruments, due to
their complexity, this margin is recognised at their maturity or upon disposal in the event of an early sale.
When valuation inputs become observable, any portion of the sales margin that has not yet been recorded
is then recognised in profit or loss (see Note 3.4.7).

DERECOGNITION OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

The Group derecognises all or part of a financial asset (or group of similar assets) when the contractual
rights to the cash flows on the asset expire or when the Group has transferred the contractual rights to
receive the cash flows and substantially all of the risks and rewards linked to ownership of the asset.

The Group also derecognises financial assets over which it has retained the contractual rights to the
associated cash flows but is contractually obligated to pass these same cash flows through to a third party
(“pass-through agreement”) and for which it has transferred substantially all of the risks and rewards.

43



Where the Group has transferred the cash flows of a financial asset but has neither transferred nor retained
substantially all of the risks and rewards of its ownership and has effectively not retained control of the
financial asset, the Group derecognises it and, where necessary, recognises a separate asset or liability to
cover any rights and obligations created or retained as a result of the transfer of the asset. If the Group has
retained control of the asset, it continues to recognise it in the balance sheet to the extent of its continuing
involvement in said asset.

When a financial asset is derecognised in its entirety, a gain or loss on disposal is recorded in the income
statement for an amount equal to the difference between the carrying value of the asset and the payment
received for it, adjusted where necessary for any unrealised profit or loss previously recognised directly in
equity and for the value of any servicing asset or servicing liability. Indemnities billed to borrowers following
the prepayment of their loan are recorded in profit or loss on the prepayment date in Interest and similar
income.

The Group derecognises all or part of a financial liability when it is extinguished, i.e. when the obligation
specified in the contract is discharged, cancelled or expired.

A financial liability may also be derecognised in the event of a substantial amendment to its contractual
conditions or where an exchange is made with the lender for an instrument whose contractual conditions
are substantially different.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE TRANSACTIONS

At the balance sheet date, monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated
into the entity’s functional currency at the prevailing spot exchange rate. Realised or unrealised foreign
exchange losses or gains are recognised under Net gains and losses on financial instruments at fair value
through profit or loss.

Forward foreign exchange transactions are recognised at fair value based on the forward exchange rate for
the remaining maturity. Spot foreign exchange positions are valued using the official spot rates prevailing at
the end of the period. Unrealised gains and losses are recognised in the income statement under Net gains
and losses on financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss (see Note 3.1), except when hedge
accounting is applied to a cash-flow hedge transaction or to a hedge of a net investment in a foreign currency
operation (see Note 3.2).

At the balance sheet date, non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies measured
at fair value (in particular, shares and other equity instruments) are translated into the entity’s functional
currency at the prevailing spot exchange rate. Foreign exchanges losses or gains are recognised either in
profit or loss under Net gains and losses on financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss, or under
other comprehensive income (Unrealised and deferred gains and losses), depending on the accounting of
the gains or losses relative to these assets/liabilities.

At the balance sheet date, non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies measured
at historical cost are translated into the entity’s functional currency at the historical exchange rate on initial
recognition.

TREATMENTS OF THE CHANGES IN THE BASIS FOR DETERMINING THE CONTRACTUAL CASH FLOWS OF
FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES — IBOR REFORM

In the context of the reference interest rates reform (IBOR reform) the basis for determining the contractual
cash flows of a financial asset or liability may be modified:

= either by amending the contractual terms and conditions set during the initial recognition of the financial
instrument (example: when the agreement is renegotiated, the contractual terms and conditions are
amended to replace the initial reference interest rate by an alternative one),

= either by applying the appropriate external disposals without requiring a change in contractual terms
(example: the adoption of European regulations requiring the migration of all contracts still indexed to
Libor CHF and Eonia in the European Union respectively on 1 January and 3 January 2022),

= or as a result of the activation of an existing contractual term or condition (example: application of the
contractual rate replacement provision, or “Fallback”).

If, in the context of the reference interest rates reform (IBOR reform), there is a change in the basis for
determining the contractual cash flows of a financial asset or liability at amortised cost or of a financial asset
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at fair value through other comprehensive income, the modification is considered a simple forward-looking
update of the interest rate applied to determine the interest income or expense and does not generate a
gain or loss in the income statement.

This treatment depends on compliance with the following conditions:

= achange in the basis for determining the contractual cash flows is required and results directly from the
IBOR reform; and

= the new basis for determining the contractual cash flows is economically equivalent to the former basis
used before the change.

The cases giving rise to a new basis for determining the contractual cash flows considered economically
equivalent to the former basis are, for example:

= the replacement of an existing reference interest rate used to determine the contractual cash flows of a
financial asset or liability by an alternative reference interest rate (or by changing the method used to
determine the reference interest rate in question) and the addition of a fixed spread necessary to
compensate for the difference in basis between the existing reference interest rate and the alternative
one;

= the addition of a Fallback provision to the contractual terms and conditions of a financial asset or liability
to allow for the implementation of the changes described above;

= changes in the determination of the amount of interest resulting from the use of a new reference interest
rate (rate revision procedure, number of days between interest payment dates ...).

Changes to a financial asset or liability, in addition to those deriving directly from the application of the
IBOR reform, are treated according to the principles usually applicable to changes in financial instruments.

METHOD OF ANALYSIS OF CONTRACTUAL CASH FLOWS OF FINANCIAL ASSETS

The Group has established procedures for determining if financial assets pass the SPPI test at initial
recognition (loans granting, acquisition of securities, etc.).

All contractual terms shall be analysed, particularly those that could change the timing or amount of
contractual cash flows. A contractual term that permits the borrower or the lender to prepay or to return the
debt instrument to the issuer before maturity remains consistent with SPPI cash flows, provided the
prepayment amount primarily represents the principal remaining due and accrued but unpaid contractual
interest, which may include a reasonable compensation. The fact that such compensation can be either
positive or negative is not inconsistent with the SPPI nature of cash flows.

The prepayment compensation is considered as reasonable especially when:

= the amount is calculated as a percentage of the outstanding amount of the loan and is capped by
regulations (in France, for example, compensation for the prepayment of mortgage loans by individuals
is legally capped at an amount equal to six months of interest or 3% of the principal outstanding), or is
limited by competitive market practices;

= the amount is equal to the difference between contractual interest that should have been received until
the maturity of the loan and the interest that would be obtained by the reinvestment of the prepaid amount
at a rate that reflects the relevant benchmark interest rate.

Some loans are prepayable at their current fair value, while others can be prepayable at an amount that
includes the fair value cost to terminate an associated hedging swap. It is possible to consider such
prepayment amounts as SPPI provided that they reflect the effect of changes in the relevant benchmark
interest rate.
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Basic financial assets (SPPI) are debt instruments which mainly include:

= fixed-rate loans,
= variable-rate loans that can include caps or floors,

= fixed or variable-rate debt securities (government or corporate bonds, other negotiable debt
securities),

= securities purchased under resale agreements (reverse repos),
= guarantee deposits paid,
= trade receivables.

= The Basic financial assets (SPPI) held by the Group also include the financing of
sustainable development projects (ESG labelled) in the form of Sustainability-
linked bonds, social bonds and Green bonds the contractual flows of which are
SPPI compliant.

Contractual terms that would introduce exposure to risks or volatility in the contractual cash flows, unrelated
to a basic lending arrangement (such as exposure to changes in equity prices or stock indexes for instance,
or leverage features), could not be considered as being SPPI, except if their effect on the contractual cash
flows remains minimum.

Impact loans have been granted by the Group to support the enterprises’ sustainability

approach through an incentive mechanism that reviews the margin according to ESG

criteria specific to the borrower or to the achievement by the latter of sustainable

development goals (Sustainability-linked loans). An analysis of these loans has allowed
them to qualify as basic financial assets (SPPI) provided that their flows meet the de minimis criterion as
well as the other SPPIcriteria.

iﬁi}%{g} Non-basic financial assets (hnon-SPPI) mainly include:
. derivative instruments,

= shares and other equity instruments held by the entity,
= equity instruments issued by mutual funds,

= debt financial assets that can be converted or redeemed into a fixed number of shares
(convertible bonds, equity-linked securities, etc.).

= structured instruments the flows of which are indexed in full or in part on an ESG
market index.

When the time value component of interest can be modified according to the contractual term of the
instrument, it may be necessary to compare the contractual cash flow with the cash flow that would arise
from a benchmark instrument. For instance, that is the case when an interest rate is periodically reset, but
the frequency of that reset does not match the tenor of the interest rate (such as an interest rate reset every
month to a one-year rate), or when the interest rate is periodically reset to an average of short- and long-
term interest rates.

If the difference between the undiscounted contractual cash flows and the undiscounted benchmark cash
flows is or may become significant, then the instrument is not considered basic.

Depending on the contractual terms, the comparison with benchmark cash flow may be performed through
a qualitative assessment; but in other cases, a quantitative test is required. The difference between
contractual and benchmark cash flows has to be considered in each reporting period and cumulatively over
the life of the instrument. When performing this benchmark test, the entity considers factors that could affect
future undiscounted contractual cash flows: using the yield curve at the date of the initial assessment is not

46



enough, and the entity also has to consider whether the curve could change over the life of the instrument
according to reasonably possible scenarios.

Within the Group, the financial instruments concerned by a benchmark test include, for instance, variable-
rate housing loans for which interest rates are reset every year based on the twelve-month Euribor average
observed over the two months previous to the reset. Another example is loans granted to real estate
professionals for which interest is revised quarterly based on the one-month Euribor average observed over
the three months previous to the reset. Following the benchmark analysis performed by the Group, it has
been concluded that these loans are basic.

Furthermore, a specific analysis of contractual cash flow is required when financial assets are instruments
issued by a securitisation vehicle or a similar entity that prioritises payments to holders using multiple
contractually-linked instruments that create concentrations of credit risk (tranches). When assessing
whether contractual cash flows are SPPI or not, the entity must analyse the contractual terms, as well as
the credit risk of each tranche and the exposure to credit risk in the underlying pool of financial instruments.
To that end, the entity must apply a “look-through approach” to identify the underlying instruments that are
creating the cash flows.

The data presented in Note 3 exclude the financial instruments of insurance subsidiaries; the data for
insurance subsidiaries are presented in Note 4.3.
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NOTE 3.1 - FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

OVERVIEW

31.12.2021 31.12.2020
(In EUR m) Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities
Trading portfolio * 319,789 243,112 386,796 302,270
Financial assets measured mandatorily at fair value
through profit or loss L 23,630
Financial instruments measured at fair value through 1,569 64.451 1,490 70.435

profit or loss using the fair value option
Total * 342,714 307,563 411,916 372,705

o/w securities purchased/sold under
resale/repurchase agreements

81,313 84,797 119,374 120,697

*  Amounts restated compared to the financial statements published for 2020 (see Note 1, paragraph 7).

1. TRADING PORTFOLIO

ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES

The trading book contains the financial assets and liabilities held or accrued for the purpose of capital
markets activities.

This portfolio also includes, among other trading assets, the physical commodities that are held by the Group
as part of its market-maker activity on commaodity derivative instruments.

By default, derivative financial instruments are classified into the trading portfolio, unless they qualify as
hedging instruments (see Note 3.2).

The financial instruments recorded in the trading portfolio are measured at fair value as at the closing date
and recognised in the balance sheet under Financial assets or liabilities at fair value through profit or loss.
The changes in fair value and revenues associated to those instruments are recorded in profit or loss under
Net gains and losses on financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss.

TRADING ACTIVITIES

Financial assets held for trading are:

= acquired for the purpose of selling or repurchasing it in the near term; or
= held for market-making purposes; or

= acquired for the purposes of the specialised management of a trading portfolio, including derivative
financial instruments, securities or other financial instruments that are managed together and for which
there is evidence of a recent pattern of short-term profit-taking.

Global market activities

The trading business model is applied by Global Banking and Investor Solutions to manage
its global market activities.

&)

Itis also applied for managing syndicated loan commitments and loans that are not intended
to be kept by the Group and that have been identified since their origination as to be sold in
the short term (within 6 to 12 months) on the secondary market, as well as for loans originated
by the Group through originate-to-distribute activities and that are expected to be sold shortly.
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Financial assets held in run-off portfolios are also monitored based on their fair value. Although those
portfolios are not related to market activities, those assets are presented amongst trading portfolio and are
measured at fair value through profit or loss.

Trading portfolio includes all the financial assets held for trading purpose regardless of the characteristics

of their contractual cash flows. Only non-SPPI financial assets that are not held for trading are classified
amongst Financial assets measured mandatorily at fair value through profit or loss (see paragraph 3.1.2).

ASSETS
(In EUR m) 31.12.2021 31.12.2020
Bonds and other debt securities 22,480 30,322
Shares and other equity securities 108,858 92,780
Securities purchased under resale agreements 81,282 119,244
Trading derivatives * @ 100,355 133,994
Loans, receivables and other trading assets 6,814 10,456
Total * 319,789 386,796
o/w securities lent 14,370 11,066

*  Amounts restated compared to the financial statements published for 2020 (see Note 1, paragraph 7).

(1) See Note 3.2 Financial derivatives.

LIABILITIES

(In EUR m) 31.12.2021 31.12.2020
Amounts payable on borrowed securities 45,821 32,165
Bonds and other debt instruments sold short 3,630 5,385
Shares and other equity instruments sold short 838 1,253
Securities sold under repurchase agreements 84,729 120,696
Trading derivatives * @ 106,607 141,634
Borrowings and other trading liabilities 1,487 1,137
Total * 243,112 302,270

*  Amounts restated compared to the financial statements published for 2020 (see Note 1, paragraph 7).

(1) See Note 3.2 Financial derivatives.

2. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS MANDATORILY AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES
Financial assets measured mandatorily at fair value through profit or loss include:

= |oans, bonds and bond equivalents that are not held for trading purposes and do not pass the SPPI test
(non-basic or non-SPPI instruments);
= shares and share equivalents that are not classified in any other sub-category: trading book at fair value

through profit or loss, instruments designated by the Group at fair value through other comprehensive
income without subsequent reclassification to profit or loss.

These assets are recorded at fair value in the balance sheet under Financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss and changes in the fair value of these instruments (excluding interest income) are recorded in
profit or loss under Net gains or losses on financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss.
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(In EUR m) 31.12.2021 31.12.2020

Bonds and other debt securities 193 190
Shares and other equity securities 2,769 2,561
Loans, receivables and securities purchased under resale agreements 18,394 20,879
Total 21,356 23,630

BREAKDOWN OF LOANS AND RECEIVABLES AND SECURITIES PURCHASED UNDER RESALE AGREEMENTS

(In EUR m) 31.12.2021 31.12.2020
Short-term loans 1,257 1,997
Equipment loans 14,881 17,248
Other loans 2,256 1,634
Total 18,394 20,879

The loans and receivables and securities purchased under resale agreements recorded in the balance sheet
under Financial assets mandatorily at fair value through profit or loss are mainly:

= loans that include prepayment features with compensation that do not reflect the effect of changes in the
benchmark interest rate;

= Joans that include indexation clauses that do not permit to recognise as basic loans (SPPI).

3. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS USING FAIR VALUE
OPTION

ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES

In addition to the financial assets and liabilities held for trading, and the financial assets measured
mandatorily at fair value through profit or loss, the same items in the financial statements include the non-
derivative financial assets and liabilities that the Group has designated at fair value through profit or loss.
Changes in the fair value of these instruments (including interest) are recorded in profit or loss under Net
gains or losses on financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss, except the share related to the
Group’s own credit risk on financial liabilities which is booked under Unrealised or deferred gains and losses.

Furthermore, in case of derecognition of a financial liability at fair value through profit or loss using the fair

value option before its contractual maturity, any gains and losses, related to the Group’s own credit risk are

booked under Unrealised or deferred gains and losses and then reclassified under Retained earnings at the

beginning of the subsequent financial year.

For financial assets, this option may only be used to eliminate or significantly reduce accounting mismatches

that would otherwise arise from applying different accounting treatments to certain related financial assets

and liabilities.

For financial liabilities, this option may only be used in the following cases:

= to eliminate or reduce discrepancies in the accounting treatment of certain related financial assets and
liabilities;

= when it applies to a hybrid financial instrument with one or more embedded derivatives, which should be
recognised separately;

= when a group of financial assets and/or liabilities is managed together and its performance is measured
at fair value.

The Group thus recognises structured bonds issued by Societe Generale Corporate and Investment

Banking at fair value through profit or loss. These issuances are purely commercial and the associated risks

are hedged on the market using financial instruments managed in trading portfolios. By using the fair value

option, the Group can ensure consistency between the accounting treatment of these bonds and that of the

derivatives hedging the associated market risks, which have to be carried at fair value.
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ASSETS

(In EUR m) 31.12.2021 31.12.2020
Bonds and other debt securities 4 29
Loans, receivables and securities purchased under resale agreements 58 158
Separate assets for employee benefits plans 1,507 1,303
Total 1,569 1,490

(1) Including, as at 31 December 2021, EUR 1,331 million of separate assets for defined post-employment benefits
compared to EUR 1,150 million as at 31 December 2020 (see Note 5.2).

LIABILITIES

Financial liabilities measured at fair value through profit or loss in accordance with the fair value option
predominantly consist of structured bonds issued by the Societe Generale group.

31.12.2021 31.12.2020
Amount redeemable Amount redeemable
(In EUR m) Fair value at maturity  Fair value at maturity
Financial instruments measured using fair 64.451 65,547 70435 70,941

value option through profit or loss

The revaluation differences attributable to the Group’s issuer credit risk are determined using valuation
models taking into account the Societe Generale group’s most recent financing terms and conditions on the
markets and the residual maturity of the related liabilities.

Changes in fair value attributable to own credit risk generated a gain of 8 million euros during 2021.
Up to this date, the total losses attributable to own credit risk amounted to 386 million euros recognised
in equity.
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4. NET GAINS AND LOSSES ON FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR
LOSS

(In EUR m) 2021 2020
Net gain/loss on trading portfolio (excluding derivatives) 20,580 (1,790)
Net gain/loss on financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss () (1,401) 2,746
Net gain/loss on financial instruments measured using fair value option (3,143) (2,285)
Net gain/loss on derivative instruments (10,993) 4,645
Net gains/loss on hedging instruments 9) 92
Net gain/loss on fair value hedging derivatives (5,741) 801
Revaluation of hedged items attributable to hedged risks 5,732 (709)
Net gain/loss on foreign exchange transactions 670 (623)
Total 5,704 2,785
F;/(\;\;?negns on financial instruments at fair value through other comprehensive 113 55
i

(1) This item includes realised and unrealised gains and losses on debt and equity instruments, with the exception of
the income component of debt instruments representative of an interest rate, which is recorded under net interest
margin (see Note 3.7).

(2) This item includes only the net gain/loss on hedging transactions related to financial instruments. For the hedging
transactions related to non-financial assets and liabilities, the net gain/loss on hedging transactions is included
under the income statement of the hedged item.

(3) This item includes the revaluation of fair value hedged items, including the change in revaluation differences in
portfolios hedged against interest rate risk.

Insofar as income and expenses recorded in the income statement are classified by type of instrument
rather than by purpose, the net income generated by activities in financial instruments at fair value through
profit or loss must be assessed as a whole. It should be noted that the income shown here does not include
the refinancing cost of these financial instruments, which is shown under interest expense and interest
income.
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NOTE 3.2 - FINANCIAL DERIVATIVES

‘ ' Derivative instruments are financial instruments for which the value changes according
to that of an underlying item and can be accompanied by a leverage effect. The items
’ ‘ underlying these instruments are various (interest rates, exchange rates, equity,
indexes, commodities, credit rating...), as are their forms (forward contracts, swaps,
MAKING
T calls and puts...).

SIMPLE The Group may use these derivative instruments for their market activities to provide
to its customers solutions to meet their risk management or revenue optimisation
needs. In that case, they are accounted for as trading derivatives.

The Group may also use derivative instruments to manage and hedge its own risks.
In which case, they are qualified as hedging derivatives. Hedging transactions can

concern individual items or transactions (micro-hedging relationships) or portfolios of
financial assets and liabilities that can generate a structural interest-rate risk (macro-
hedging relationships).

Contrary to other financial instruments, derivative instruments are always measured at
fair value in the balance sheet, regardless their purpose (market activities or hedging
transactions). The fair value adjustments of trading derivatives are directly recognised
in the income statement. However, the accounting method used on hedging
transactions aims to neutralise in the income statement the effects of the revaluation of
hedging derivatives, as long as the hedge is effective.

ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES

Derivatives are financial instruments meeting the following three criteria:

= their value changes in response to a change in a specified interest rate, foreign exchange rate, share
price, index of prices, commodity price, credit rating, etc.;

= they require little to no initial investment;

= they are settled at a future date.

All financial derivatives are recognised at fair value in the balance sheet as financial assets or financial
liabilities. They are considered to be trading derivatives by default, unless they are designated as hedging
instruments for accounting purposes.

SPECIAL CASE - DERIVATIVES HAVING SOCIETE GENERALE SHARES AS THEIR UNDERLYING
INSTRUMENT

Financial derivatives having Societe Generale shares as their underlying instrument or shares in Group
subsidiaries and whose liquidation entails the payment of a fixed amount in cash (or another financial asset)
against a fixed number of Societe Generale shares (other than derivatives) are equity instruments.
These instruments, and any related premiums paid or received, are recognised directly in equity, and any
changes in the fair value of these derivatives are not recorded. For sales of put options on Societe Generale
shares and forward purchases of Societe Generale shares, a debt is recognised for the value of the notional
amount with a contra entry in equity.

Other financial derivatives having Societe Generale shares as their underlying instrument are recorded in
the balance sheet at fair value in the same manner as derivatives with other underlying instruments.

EMBEDDED DERIVATIVES

An embedded derivative is a component of a hybrid contract that also includes a non-derivative host
instrument.

Where the host contract is a financial asset, the entire hybrid contract is measured at fair value through
profit or loss because its contractual cash flows do not pass the SPPI test.

53



Where the host contract is a financial liability and is not measured at fair value through profit or loss,
the embedded derivative is separated from the host contract if:

= at acquisition, the economic characteristics and risks of the embedded derivative are not closely related
to the economic characteristics and risks of the host; and

= it would meet the definition of a derivative.

Once separated, the derivative is recognised at fair value in the balance sheet under Financial assets or
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss under the aforementioned conditions. The host contract
is classified under one of the financial liability categories measured at amortised cost.

1. TRADING DERIVATIVES

ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES

Trading derivatives are recorded in the balance sheet under Financial assets or liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss. Changes in fair value are recorded in the income statement under Net gains and
losses on financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss.

Changes in the fair value of financial derivatives involving counterparties that subsequently proved to be in
default are recorded under Net gains and losses on financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss
until the termination date of these instruments. On this termination date, the receivables and debts on these
counterparties are recognised at fair value in the balance sheet. Any further impairment of these receivables
is recognised under Cost of risk in the income statement.

FAIR VALUE
31.12.2021 31.12.2020

(In EUR m) Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities
Interest rate instruments * 56,560 51,181 82,331 80,864
Foreign exchange instruments 18,404 19,320 18,698 19,795
Equities & index Instruments 24,186 33,779 31,224 37,978
Commaodities Instruments 279 311 413 392
Credit derivatives 921 1,179 1,297 1,434
Other forward financial instruments 5 837 31 1,171
Total * 100,355 106,607 133,994 141,634

*  Amounts restated compared to the financial statements published for 2020 (see Note 1, paragraph 7).

The Group uses credit derivatives in the management of its Corporate credit portfolio, primarily to reduce
individual, sector and geographic concentration and to implement a proactive risk and capital management
approach. All credit derivatives, regardless of their purpose, are measured at fair value through profit or loss
and cannot be qualified as hedging instruments for accounting purposes. Accordingly, they are recognised
at fair value among trading derivatives.
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COMMITMENTS (NOTIONAL AMOUNTS)

(In EUR m) 31.12.2021 31.12.2020
Interest rate instruments 9,807,443 9,731,256
Firm instruments 8,155,415 8,090,893
Swaps 7,013,837 6,849,353
FRAs 1,141,578 1,241,540
Options 1,652,028 1,640,363
Foreign exchange instruments 3,379,742 3,155,455
Firm instruments 2,617,178 2,349,313
Options 762,564 806,142
Equity and index instruments 838,749 869,679
Firm instruments 144,592 128,941
Options 694,157 740,738
Commodities instruments 24,539 20,078
Firm instruments 24,372 19,194
Options 167 884
Credit derivatives 177,923 202,994
Other forward financial instruments 31,022 28,603
Total 14,259,418 14,008,065

During the 2021 financial year, the notional amounts of commitments were impacted by the migration
protocols for cleared derivatives implemented by the clearing houses in the context of the interest rate
benchmark reform (IBORM reform). These protocols provide for:

— regarding interest rate swaps, the creation of one or two additional interest rate swaps, called overlay
swaps, intended to maintain the calculation of interest on the main interest rate swap, after their
migration, on the basis of the historical benchmark index, until the first interest fixing date after the date
of cessation of publication of the discontinued benchmark indices;

— regarding basis swaps, the creation of two interest rate swaps in opposite directions, the fixed-rate legs
of which offset each other in order to simplify their migration operationally.

These protocols have the effect of significantly increasing the notional commitments of derivatives up to
493 billion euros as of 31 December 2021 without any impact on market or credit risks.

2. HEDGING DERIVATIVES

According to the transitional provisions of IFRS 9, the Group made the choice to maintain the IAS 39
provisions related to hedge accounting. Consequently, equity instruments do not qualify for hedge
accounting regardless of their accounting category.

ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES

In order to be hedged against certain market risks, the Group sets up hedging derivatives. From an
accounting standpoint, the Group designates the hedging transaction as a fair value hedge, a cash flow
hedge, or a hedge of a net investment in a foreign operation, depending on the risk and on the instruments
to be hedged.

To designate an instrument as a hedging derivative, the Group documents the hedging relationship in detail,
from inception. This documentation specifies the asset, liability, or future transaction hedged, the risk to be
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hedged and the associated risk management strategy, the type of financial derivative used and the valuation
method that will be used to measure its effectiveness.

The derivative designated as a hedging instrument must be highly effective in offsetting the change in fair
value or cash flows arising from the hedged risk. This effectiveness is verified when changes in the fair value
or cash flows of the hedged instrument are almost entirely offset by changes in the fair value or cash flows
of the hedging instrument, with the expected ratio between the two changes ranging from 80% to 125%.
Effectiveness shall be assessed both when the hedge is first set up and throughout its life. Effectiveness is
measured each quarter prospectively (expected effectiveness over the future periods) and retrospectively
(effectiveness measured on past periods). Where the effectiveness falls outside the range specified above,
hedge accounting is discontinued.

Hedging derivatives are recognised in the balance sheet under Hedging derivatives.

The purpose of these hedges is to protect the Group against an adverse fluctuation in the fair value of an
instrument which could affect profit or loss if the instrument were derecognised from the balance sheet.

Changes in the fair value of the hedging derivative are recorded in the income statement under Net gains
and losses on financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss; for interest rate derivatives, however,
accrued interest income and expenses on the derivative are recorded in the income statement under Interest
and similar income / Interest and similar expense — Hedging derivatives symmetrically to the accrued interest
income and expenses related to the hedged item.

In the balance sheet, the carrying value of the hedged item is adjusted for the gains and losses attributable
to the hedged risk, which are reported in the income statement under Net gains and losses on financial
instruments at fair value through profit or loss. To the extent that the hedge is highly effective, changes in
the fair value of the hedged item and changes in the fair value of the hedging derivative are accurately offset
through profit or loss, the difference corresponding to an ineffectiveness gain or loss.

Prospective effectiveness is assessed via a sensitivity analysis based on probable market trends or via a
regression analysis of the statistical relationship (correlation) between certain components of the hedged
item and the hedging instrument. Retrospective effectiveness is assessed by comparing any changes in the
fair value of the hedging instrument with any changes in the fair value of the hedged item.

If it becomes apparent that the derivative has ceased to meet the effectiveness criteria for hedge accounting
or if it is terminated or sold, hedge accounting is discontinued prospectively. Thereafter, the carrying amount
of the hedged asset or liability ceases to be adjusted for changes in fair value attributable to the hedged risk
and the cumulative adjustments previously recognised under hedge accounting are amortised over its
remaining life. Hedge accounting is also discontinued if the hedged item is sold prior to maturity or early-
redeemed, the valuation adjustments are then immediately recognised in the income statement.

The purpose of interest rate cash flow hedges is to protect against changes in future cash flows associated
with a financial instrument on the balance sheet (loans, securities or floating-rate notes) or with a highly
probable future transaction (future fixed interest rates, future exchange rates, future prices, etc.).
The purpose of these hedges is to protect the Group against adverse fluctuations in the future cash-flows
of an instrument or transaction that could affect profit or loss.

The effective portion of changes in the fair value of the hedging derivative is recorded under Unrealised or
deferred gains and losses, while the ineffective portion is recognised in the income statement under Net
gains and losses on financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss. For interest rate derivatives,
the accrued interest income and expenses on the derivative are recorded in the income statement under
Interest income / Interest expense — Hedging derivatives symmetrically to the accrued interest income and
expenses related to the hedged item.

The prospective effectiveness of the hedge is assessed via a sensitivity analysis based on probable market
input trends or via a regression analysis of the statistical relationship (correlation) between certain
components of the hedged item and the hedging instrument. The effectiveness of the hedge is assessed
using the hypothetical derivative method, which consists in i) creating a hypothetical derivative which bears
exactly the same characteristics as the instrument being hedged (in terms of notional amounts, date on
which the rates are reset, interest rate, exchange rate, etc.), but moves in the opposite direction and whose
fair value is nil when the hedge is set up, then ii) comparing the expected changes in the fair value of the
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hypothetical derivative with those of the hedging instrument (sensitivity analysis) or performing a regression
analysis on the prospective effectiveness of the hedge.

When the derivative financial instrument has expired, the effective portion of changes in the fair value of
hedging derivatives is booked to Unrealised or deferred gains and losses, while the ineffective portion is
recognised in the income statement under Net gains and losses on financial instruments at fair value through
profit or loss. Gains ans losses booked under equity are later recorded under Net gains and losses on
financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss in the income statement at the same time as cash
flows hedged. For interest rate derivatives, accrued interest income and expenses on the derivative are
recorded in the income statement under Interest income / Interest expense — Hedging derivatives
symmetrically to the accrued interest income and expenses related to the hedged item.

Whenever the hedging derivative ceases to meet the effectiveness criteria for hedge accounting or is
terminated or sold, hedge accounting is discontinued prospectively. The amounts previously recognised
directly in equity are reclassified in the income statement over the periods during which interest income is
affected by the cash flows from the hedged item. If the hedged item is sold or redeemed earlier than
expected or if the hedged forecast transaction ceases to be highly probable, the unrealised gains and losses
recognised in equity are immediately reclassified in the income statement.

The purpose of a hedging of a net investment in a foreign company is to protect against exchange rate risk.

The hedged item is an investment in a country whose currency differs from the Group’s functional currency.
The hedge therefore serves to protect the net position of a foreign subsidiary or branch against an exchange
rate risk linked to the entity’s functional currency.

The hedge of a net investment in a foreign operation follows the same accounting principles as the cashflow
hedge relationships. Thus, the effective portion of the changes in fair value of a hedging derivative
designated for accounting purposes as the hedge of a net investment is recognised in equity under
Unrealised or deferred gains and losses, while the ineffective portion is recognised in the income statement.

In this type of hedge, interest rate derivatives are used to globally hedge the structural interest rate risk
resulting mainly from Retail Banking activities.

In accounting for these transactions, are either documented as fair value hedges or as cash flow hedges,
depending on the Group entities.

Group entities documenting a macro fair value hedge of fixed rate assets and liabilities portfolios, apply the
IAS 39 “carve-out” standard as adopted by the European Union, which facilitates:

the application of fair value hedge accounting to the macro-hedges used for asset-liability management,
including customer demand deposits in the fixed-rate positions being hedged;

the performance of the effectiveness tests required by IAS 39 as adopted by the European Union.

The accounting treatment of the financial derivatives designated as macro fair value hedges is similar to
that of other fair value hedging instruments. Changes in the fair value of the portfolio of macro-hedged
instruments measured based on the modelled synthetic instrument are reported on a separate line in the
balance sheet under Revaluation differences on portfolios hedged against interest rate risk through profit or
loss.

Group entities documenting a macro cash flow hedge apply the same accounting principles as those
presented above for cash flow hedge. Thus, macro-hedged assets or liabilities portfolios are not measured
at fair value for the hedged risk.

In the case of macro cash flow hedge, hedged portfolios include assets or liabilities at variable rate.

Finally, regardless of the documentation used for these macro-hedges, they require the implementation of
three tests to measure the effectiveness of the relationship:

a non-over-coverage test to ensure, prospectively and retrospectively, that the nominal amount of the
portfolios covered is higher than the notional amount of the hedging instruments for each future maturity
band and each rate generation;
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= a test of non-disappearance of the hedged item, which consists in prospectively and retrospectively
ensuring that the historically covered maximum position is less than the notional amount of the hedging
instruments on the closing date considered for each future maturity band and each generation of rates;

= a gquantitative test to retrospectively ensure that the fair value changes in the modelled synthetic
instrument offset the changes in fair value of the hedging instruments.

The sources of ineffectiveness of the macro-hedges implemented in the Group result from the latest fixing
of the variable leg of the hedging swaps, the two-curve valuation of the collateralised hedging instruments,
the possible mismatches of interests between the hedged item and the hedging instrument and the
consideration of counterparty risk on the hedging instruments.

TREATMENT OF THE CHANGES IN THE BASIS USED FOR DETERMINING THE CONTRACTUAL CASH FLOWS
OF THE COMPONENTS OF A HEDGING RELATIONSHIP - IBOR REFORM

Non- discontinuation of hedging relationships

The documentation of the existing hedging relationships shall be updated to reflect the changes brought
about by the reform of the reference interest rate (IBOR reform) on the basis for determining the contractual
cash flows of the hedged items and/or of the hedging instruments.

These updates resulting from the IBOR reform do not cause the discontinuation of the hedging relationship
nor the designation of a new accounting hedge as long as they meet the following conditions:

= the change in the basis for determining the contractual cash flows is required and results directly from
the IBOR reform; and

= the new basis for determining the contractual cash flows is economically equivalent to the former basis
used before the change.

When those conditions are met, the update of the hedging documentation only consist in:

= designate the alternative reference interest rate (contractually or non-contractually specified) as a
hedged risk;

= update the description of the hedged item, including a description of the hedged portion of cash flows or
of the fair value;

= update the description of the hedging instrument;

= update the description of the method used to assess the effectiveness of the hedge.

These updates are performed as and when changes are made to the hedged items or the hedging
instruments; an accounting hedge may be updated several successive times.

Changes not directly resulting from the application of the IBOR reform and impacting the basis used for
determining the contractual cash flows of the hedging relationship components or the hedging
documentation are analysed beforehand in order to confirm compliance with the qualifying criteria for hedge
accounting.

Specific accounting treatments

Regarding fair value hedges and cash flow hedges, the applicable accounting requirements remain
unchanged for the recognition of gains and losses resulting from the reassessment of the hedged
component and the hedging instrument taking account of the changes described above.

For the purpose of the retrospective effectiveness assessment, the cumulative fair value changes may be
reset to zero on a case by case basis for each hedging relationship modified.

The amounts of gains or losses recognised in equity (as unrealised or deferred gains and losses), for the
cash flow hedges that have been discontinued prospectively after a change in the reference interest rate
used as a basis for the future cash flows hedged are kept in equity until the hedged cash flows are recorded
on the income statement.
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An alternative reference interest rate used as a risk component not specified by an agreement
(example, a 3-month alternative reference interest rate used to determine the fixed rate of a loan and for
which the Group intends to hedge the changes in value) may be used, provided it is, as reasonably
expected, separately identifiable (i.e., quoted on a sufficiently liquid market) in the 24 months after its first
use.

FAIR VALUE
31.12.2021 31.12.2020

(In EUR m) Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities
Fair value hedge 12,823 10,171 19,982 12,161
Interest rate instruments 12,786 10,141 19,950 12,161
Foreign exchange instruments 36 30 32 -
Equity and index Instruments 1 - - -
Cash flow hedge 311 61 298 163
Interest rate instruments 253 26 288 58
Foreign exchange instruments 24 33 10 34
Equity and index Instruments 34 2 - 71
Net investment hedge 105 193 387 137
Foreign exchange instruments 105 193 387 137
Total 13,239 10,425 20,667 12,461

The Group sets up hedging relationships recognised for accounting purposes as fair value hedges in order
to protect its fixed-rate financial assets and liabilities (primarily loans / borrowings, securities issued and
fixed-rate securities) against changes in long-term interest rates. The hedging instruments used mainly
consist of interest rate swaps.

Furthermore, through some of its Corporate and Investment Banking operations, the Group is exposed to
future cash flow changes in its short and medium-term funding requirements and sets up hedging
relationships recognised for accounting purposes as cash flow hedges. Highly probable funding
requirements are determined using historic data established for each activity and representative of balance
sheet outstanding. These data may be increased or decreased by changes in management methods.

Finally, as part of their management of structural interest rate and exchange rate risks, the Group’s entities
set up fair value hedge for portfolios of assets or liabilities for interest rate risk as well as cash flow hedge
and net investment hedge for foreign exchange risk.
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COMMITMENTS (NOTIONAL AMOUNTS)

(In EUR m) 31.12.2021 31.12.2020
Interest rate instruments 981,765 970,144
Firm instruments 978,728 969,391

Swaps 696,716 779,359

FRAs 282,012 190,032
Options 3,037 753
Foreign exchange instruments 9,245 8,604
Firm instruments 9,245 8,604
Equity and index instruments 160 169
Firm instruments 160 169
Total 991,170 978,917
MATURITIES OF HEDGING FINANCIAL DERIVATIVES (NOTIONAL AMOUNTS)
These items are presented according to the contractual maturity of the financial instruments.

From From
Up to 3 months 1lyear Over 31.12.2021

(In EUR m) 3 months to 1 year to 5 years 5 years
Interest rate instruments 125,185 277,507 338,661 240,412 981,765
Foreign exchange instruments 2,196 5,683 1,263 103 9,245
Equity and index instruments 36 34 71 19 160
Total 127,417 283,224 339,995 240,534 991,170
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NOTE 3.3 - FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH OTHER
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

OVERVIEW

(In EUR m) 31.12.2021 31.12.2020

Debt instruments 43,180 51,801
Bonds and other debt securities 43,081 51,721
Loans and receivables and securities purchased under resale agreements 99 80

Shares and other equity securities 270 259

Total 43,450 52,060
o/w securities lent 241 173

1. DEBT INSTRUMENTS

ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES

Debt instruments (loans and receivables, bonds and bond equivalents) are classified as Financial assets at
fair value through other comprehensive income when their contractual cash flows are consistent with basic
lending arrangements (SPPI) and they are managed under a Collect and Sell business model.

Accrued or earned income on debt instruments is recorded in profit or loss based on the effective interest
rate, under Interest and similar income.

At the reporting date, these instruments are measured at fair value and changes in fair value excluding
income, are recorded in equity under Unrealised or deferred gains and losses, except for foreign exchange
differences on money market instruments denominated in local currencies, which are recorded in profit or
loss. Furthermore, as these financial assets are subject to impairment for credit risk, the changes in
expected credit losses are recorded in profit or loss under Cost of risk with a corresponding entry under
Unrealised or deferred gains and losses. The applicable impairment rules are described in Note 3.8.

BUSINESS MODEL “HOLD TO COLLECT AND SELL”

The objective of this business model is to realise cash flows by both collecting contractual payments and
selling financial assets. In this type of business model, the sales of financial assets are not incidental or
exceptional, but they are integral to achieving the business’ objectives.

= Cash management

= o Within the Group, except for the insurance activities, the “hold to collect and sell” business
+“ model is mainly applied by cash management activities for managing HQLA securities

L ., (High Quality Liquid Assets) included in the liquidity reserve. Only a few subsidiaries apply a

‘hf “hold to collect” business model for managing their HQLA securities.
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CHANGES OF THE PERIOD

(in EUR m) 2021
Balance as at 1 January 51,801
Acquisitions/disbursements 31,123
Disposals/redemptions (39,468)
Change in scope and others (789)
Changes in fair value during the period (1,444)
Change in related receivables (23)
Translation differences 1,970
Balance as at 31 December 43,180
CUMULATIVE UNREALISED GAINS AND LOSSES RECOGNISED DIRECTLY IN EQUITY

(In EUR m) 31.12.2021 31.12.2020
Unrealised gains 334 714
Unrealised losses (200) (262)
Total 134 452

2. EQUITY INSTRUMENTS

ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES

Equity instruments (shares and share equivalents), that are not held for trading purposes, can be initially
designated by the Group to be measured at fair value through other comprehensive income. This choice
made instrument by instrument, is irrevocable.

These equity instruments are then measured at fair value and the changes in fair value are recognised
under Unrealised or deferred gains and losses with no subsequent reclassification to profit or loss. If the
instruments are sold, the realised gains and losses are reclassified to Retained earnings at the opening of
the next financial year. Only dividend income, if it is considered as a return on investment, is recorded in
profit or loss under Net gains or losses on financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income.

The Group chose only in few rare cases to designate equity instruments to be measured at fair value through
other comprehensive income.
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NOTE 3.4 - FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS MEASURED AT
FAIR VALUE

ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants on the measurement date.

In the absence of observable prices for identical assets or liabilities, the fair value of financial instruments is
determined using another measurement technique which maximises the use of observable market input
based on assumptions that market operators would use to set the price of the instrument in question.

For information purposes, in the notes to the consolidated financial statements, the fair value of the financial
instruments is classified using a fair value hierarchy that reflects the observability level of the inputs used.
The fair value hierarchy is composed of the following levels:

Level 1 (L1): instruments valued on the basis of quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities.

Level 1 instruments carried at fair value on the balance sheet include in particular shares listed in an active
market, government or corporate bonds priced directly by external brokers/dealers, derivatives traded on
organised markets (futures, options), and units of funds (including UCITS) whose net asset value is available
on the balance sheet date.

A financial instrument is regarded as quoted in an active market if quoted prices are readily and regularly
available from an exchange, dealer, broker, industry group, pricing service or regulatory agency, and if they
reflect actual and regular market transactions on an arm’s length basis.

Determining whether a market is inactive requires the use of indicators such as a sharp decline in the trading
volume and the level of activity in the market, a sharp disparity in prices over time and among the various
above-mentioned market participants, or the fact that the latest transactions conducted on an arm’s length
basis did not take place recently enough.

Where a financial instrument is traded in several markets to which the Group has immediate access, its fair
value is represented by the market price at which volumes and activity levels are highest for the instrument
in question.

Transactions resulting from involuntary liquidations or distressed sales are usually not taken into account to
determine the market price.
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Level 2 (L2): instruments valued using inputs other than the quoted prices included in Level 1 and
that are observable for the asset or liability concerned, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly
(i.e. derived from prices).

These are the instruments measured using a financial model based on market inputs. The inputs used shall
be observable in active markets; using some unobservable inputs is possible only if the latter have only a
minor impact on the fair value of the instrument. The prices published by an external source, derived from
the valuation of similar instruments are considered as data derived from prices.

Level 2 instruments include in particular the non-derivative financial instruments carried at fair value on the
balance sheet that are not directly quoted or do not have a quoted price on a sufficiently active market
(e.g. corporate bonds, repos transactions, mortgage-backed securities, units of funds), and the firm
derivatives and options traded over-the-counter: interest rate swaps, caps, floors, swaptions, equity options,
index options, foreign exchange options, commodity options and credit derivatives. The maturities of these
instruments are linked to ranges of terms commonly traded in the market, and the instruments themselves
can be simple or offer a more complex remuneration profile (e.g. barrier options, products with multiple
underlying instruments), with said complexity remaining however limited. The valuation techniques used in
this category are based on common methods shared by the main market participants.

This category also includes the fair value of loans and receivables at amortised cost granted to
counterparties whose credit risk is quoted via Credit Default Swap (see Note 3.9).

Level 3 (L3): instruments valued using inputs a significant part of which are not based on observable
market data (referred to as unobservable inputs).

Level 3 instruments carried at fair value on the balance sheet are valued using financial models based on
market inputs among which those which are unobservable or observable on insufficiently active
markets, have a significant impact on the fair value of the financial instrument as a whole.

Accordingly, Level 3 financial instruments include derivatives and repo transactions with longer maturities
than those usually traded and/or with specifically-tailored return profiles, structured debts including
embedded derivatives valued based on a method using unobservable inputs or long-term equity
investments valued based on a corporate valuation method, which is the case for unlisted companies or
companies listed on an insufficiently liquid market.

The main L3 complex derivatives are:

— Equity derivatives: options with long maturities and/or incorporating bespoke remuneration mechanisms.
These instruments are sensitive to market inputs (volatility, dividend rates, correlations, etc.). In the
absence of market depth and an objective approach made possible by regularly observed prices,
their valuation is based on proprietary methods (e.g. extrapolation from observable data, historical
analysis). Hybrid equity instruments (i.e. having at least one non-equity underlying instrument) are also
classified as L3 insofar as the correlations between the different underlying assets are generally
unobservable;

— Interest rate derivatives: long-term and/or exotic options, products sensitive to correlation between
different interest rates, different exchange rates, or between interest rates and exchange rates,
for example for quanto products (in which the instrument is settled in a currency different from the
currency of the underlying asset); they are liable to be classified as L3 because the valuation inputs are
unobservable due to the liquidity of the correlated pair and the residual maturity of the transactions
(e.g. exchange rate correlations are deemed unobservable for the USD/JPY);

— Credit derivatives: L3 credit derivatives mainly include baskets of instruments exposed to time to default
correlation (“N to default” products in which the buyer of the hedge is compensated as of the N default,
which are exposed to the credit quality of the issuers comprising the basket and to their correlation,
or CDO Bespoke products, which are Collateralised Debt Obligations created specifically for a group
of investors and structured according to their needs), as well as products subject to credit
spread volatility;

— Commodity derivatives: this category includes products involving unobservable volatility or correlation
inputs (i.e. options on commaodity swaps or instruments based on baskets of underlyings).
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1. FINANCIAL ASSETS MEASURED AT FAIR VALUE

31.12.2021 31.12.2020
(In EUR m) Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Trading portfolio
(excluding derivatives) 119,240 95,485 4,709 219,434 109,734 138,699 4,369 252,802
Bonds and other debt securities 19,516 2,584 380 22,480 26,420 3,108 794 30,322
Shares and other equity securities 99,721 9,137 - 108,858 83,314 9,465 1 92,780
Securities purchased under resale - 77,080 4,202 81,282 - 116,009 3235 119,244
agreements
Loans, receivables and other
trading assets 3 6,684 127 6,814 - 10,117 339 10,456
Trading derivatives * 371 96,018 3,966 100,355 49 129,875 4,070 133,994
Interest rate instruments * 17 53,860 2,683 56,560 4 79,647 2,680 82,331
Foreign exchange instruments 354 17,817 233 18,404 38 18,484 176 18,698
Equity and index instruments - 23,613 573 24,186 - 30,730 494 31,224
Commodity instruments - 276 3 279 - 410 3 413
Credit derivatives - 447 474 921 - 580 717 1,297
cher forward financial : 5 : 5 7 24 : 31
instruments
Financial assets measured
mandatorily at fair value 169 16,727 4,460 21,356 183 19,517 3,930 23,630
through profit or loss
Bonds and other debt securities 16 45 132 193 18 43 129 190
Shares and other equity securities 153 368 2,248 2,769 165 359 2,037 2,561
Loans, receivables and securities
purchased under resale - 16,314 2,080 18,394 - 19,115 1,764 20,879
agreements
Financial assets measured
using fair value option through - 1,565 4 1,569 13 1,461 16 1,490
profit or loss
Bonds and other debt securities - - 4 4 13 - 16 29
Loans, receivables and securities
purchased under resale - 58 - 58 - 158 - 158
agreements
Separ_ate assets for employee : 1,507 : 1,507 ; 1,303 : 1,303
benefit plans
Hedging derivatives - 13,239 - 13,239 - 20,667 - 20,667
Interest rate instruments - 13,039 - 13,039 - 20,238 - 20,238
Foreign exchange instruments - 165 - 165 - 429 - 429
Equity and index instruments - 35 - 35 - - - -
Financial assets measured
at fair value through other 42,798 380 272 43,450 51,090 708 262 52,060
comprehensive income
Bonds and other debt securities 42,798 281 2 43,081 51,090 628 3 51,721
Shares and other equity securities - - 270 270 - - 259 259
Loans and receivables - 99 - 99 - 80 - 80
Total * 162,578 223,414 13,411 399,403 161,069 310,927 12,647 484,643

*  Amounts restated compared to the financial statements published for 2020 (see Note 1, paragraph 7).
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2. FINANCIAL LIABILITIES MEASURED AT FAIR VALUE

31.12.2021 31.12.2020

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
(In EUR m)
Trading portfolio
(excluding derivatives) 4,494 129,989 2,022 136,505 6,666 152,939 1,031 160,636
Amounts payable on borrowed 30 45,630 161 45,821 28 32,031 106 32,165
securities
Bonds and other debt instruments
sold short 3,626 1 3 3,630 5,385 - - 5,385
Shares and other equity
instruments sold short R ) ) Bt 1253 ) ) 1,253
Securities sold under repurchase
agreements - 82,874 1,855 84,729 - 119,772 924 120,696
Borrowings and other trading
liabilities - 1,484 3 1,487 - 1,136 1 1,137
Trading derivatives * 400 101,390 4,817 106,607 46 136,265 5,323 141,634
Interest rate instruments * 9 48,750 2,422 51,181 5 78,162 2,697 80,864
Foreign exchange instruments 390 18,719 211 19,320 40 19,599 156 19,795
Equity and index instruments 1 32,124 1,654 33,779 - 36,000 1,978 37,978
Commodity instruments - 309 2 311 - 392 - 392
Credit derivatives - 651 528 1,179 - 942 492 1,434
cher forward financial ) 837 ) 837 1 1,170 : 1171
instruments
Financial liabilities measured
using fair value option through - 27,633 36,818 64,451 - 30,784 39,651 70,435
profit or loss
Hedging derivatives - 10,425 - 10,425 - 12,461 - 12,461
Interest rate instruments - 10,168 - 10,168 - 12,219 - 12,219
Foreign exchange instruments - 255 - 255 - 171 - 171
Equity and index instruments - 2 - 2 - 71 - 71
Total * 4,894 269,437 43,657 317,988 6,712 332,449 46,005 385,166

*  Amounts restated compared to the financial statements published for 2020 (see Note 1, paragraph 7).
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3. VARIATION IN LEVEL 3 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

FINANCIAL ASSETS

Disposals / Transfer Gains Changein

Balance as redemp-  Transfer to from and Translation scopeand Balance as
(In EUR m) at 31.12.2020 Acquisitions tions Level 2 Level 2 losses  differences others at 31.12.2021
Trading portfolio (excluding 4,369 4,337 (2,776) (985) - (368) 159 27 4,709
derivatives)
Bonds and other debt securities 794 1,282 (1,603) (33) - (90) 34 (4) 380
Shares and other equity securities 1 - (1) - - - - - -
Securities purchased under resale 3.235 3,047 (978) (952) ; (278) 120 8 4,202
agreements
Loans, receivables and other 339 8 (194) R R R 5 @1 127
trading assets
Trading derivatives 4,070 485 (68) (168) 164 (699) 182 - 3,966
Interest rate instruments 2,680 - - (123) 118 (100) 108 - 2,683
Foreign exchange instruments 176 2 - - 6 38 11 - 233
Equity and index instruments 494 483 (68) ) 4 (375) 37 - 573
Commodity instruments 3 - - - - - - - 3
Credit derivatives 717 - - (43) 36 (262) 26 - 474
Financial assets measured
mandatorily at fair value through 3,930 895 (313) (6) 10 (197) 164 (23) 4,460
profit or loss
Bonds and other debt securities 129 23 (18) - 10 (12) - - 132
Shares and other equity securities 2,037 99 (42) (6) - 88 96 (24) 2,248
Loans, receivables and securities
purchased under resale 1,764 773 (253) - - (273) 68 1 2,080
agreements
Financial assets measured
using fair value option through 16 8 - - - (20) - - 4
profit or loss
Bonds and other debt securities 16 8 - - - (20) - - 4
Financial assets measured at
fair value option through other 262 - 1) - - 11 - - 272
comprehensive income
Debt instruments 3 - 1) - - - - - 2
Equity instruments 259 - - - - 11 - - 270
Total 12,647 5,725 (3,158) (1,159) 174 (1,273) 505 (50) 13,411
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FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

Balance Change in Balance
as at Transfer to Transfer Gains and  Translation scope and as at

(In EUR m) 31.12.2020 Issues Redemptions Level 2 from Level 2 losses _differences others 31.12.2021
Trading portfolio (excluding 1,031 1,163 (438) (85) : 346 5 ; 2,022
derivatives)
Amounts payable on borrowed 106 ) : ) R 59 R ; 161
securities
Bonds and other debt a ) : ) R 3 R ; 3
instruments sold short
Securities sold under repurchase
agreements 924 1,163 (438) (81) - 282 5 - 1,855
Bor_rquings and other trading 1 R R R ~ > ~ R 3
liabilities
Trading derivatives 5,323 419 (100) (660) 197 (487) 125 - 4,817
Interest rate instruments 2,697 3 - (249) 119 (152) 4 - 2,422
Foreign exchange instruments 156 - - - 8 49 2) - 211
Equity and index instruments 1,978 414 (100) (376) 54 (420) 104 - 1,654
Commodity instruments - 2 - - - - - - 2
Credit derivatives 492 - - (35) 16 36 19 - 528
Financial liabilities measured
using fair value option 39,651 17,000 (21,706) (1,301) 1,422 621 1,131 - 36,818
through profit or loss
Total financial liabilities at fair 46,005 18,582 (22,244) (2,046) 1,619 480 1,261 - 43,657

value
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4. VALUATION METHODS OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS CARRIED AT FAIR VALUE ON THE
BALANCE SHEET

For financial instruments recognised at fair value on the balance sheet, fair value is determined primarily on
the basis of the prices quoted in an active market. These prices may be adjusted, if they are not available
at the balance sheet closing date, in order to incorporate the events that have an impact on prices and
occurred after the closing of the stock markets but before the measurement date or in case of an inactive
market.

However, due notably to the varied characteristics of financial instruments traded over-the-counter on the
financial markets, a large number of financial products traded by the Group does not have quoted prices in
the markets.

For these products, fair value is determined using models based on valuation techniques commonly used
by market participants to measure financial instruments, such as discounted future cash flows for swaps or
the Black & Scholes formula for certain options, and using valuation parameters that reflect current market
conditions at the balance sheet date. These valuation models are validated independently by the experts
from the Market Risk Department of the Group’s Risk Division.

Furthermore, the inputs used in the valuation models, whether derived from observable market data or not,
are checked by the Finance Division of Market Activities, in accordance with the methodologies defined by
the Market Risk Department.

If necessary, these valuations are supplemented by additional reserves (such as bid-ask spreads and
liquidity) determined reasonably and appropriately after an analysis of available information.

Derivatives and security financing transactions are subject to a Credit Valuation Adjustment (CVA) or Debt
Valuation Adjustment (DVA). The Group includes all clients and clearing houses in this adjustment,
which also reflects the netting agreements existing for each counterparty.

The CVA is determined based on the Group entity’s expected positive exposure to the counterparty,
the counterparty’s probability of default and the amount of the loss given default. The DVA is determined
symmetrically based on the negative expected exposure. These calculations are carried out over the life of
the potential exposure, with a focus on the use of relevant and observable market data. Since 2021,
a framework has been set up to identify the new transactions for which CVA/DVA adjustments are
significant. These transactions are then classified in Level 3.

Similarly, an adjustment to take into account the costs or profits linked to the financing of these transactions
(FVA, Funding Value Adjustment) is also performed.

Observable data must be: independent, available, publicly distributed, based on a narrow consensus and/or
backed up by transaction prices.

For example, consensus data provided by external counterparties are considered observable if the
underlying market is liquid and if the prices provided are confirmed by actual transactions. For long
maturities, these consensus data are not observable. This is the case for the implied volatility used for the
valuation of equity options with maturities of more than five years. However, when the residual maturity of
the instrument falls below five years, its fair value becomes sensitive to observable inputs.

In the event of unusual tensions on the markets, leading to a lack of the usual reference data used to
measure a financial instrument, the Risk Division may implement a new model in accordance with pertinent
available data, similar to methods used by other market players.

SHARES AND OTHER EQUITY SECURITIES

For listed shares, fair value is taken to be the quoted price on the balance sheet date. For unlisted shares,
fair value is determined depending on the type of financial instrument and according to one of the following
methods:

= valuation based on a recent transaction involving the issuing company (third party buying into the issuing
company’s capital, appraisal by a professional valuation agent, etc.);

= valuation based on a recent transaction in the same sector as the issuing company (income multiple,
asset multiple, etc.);

= proportion of net asset value held.
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For unlisted securities in which the Group has significant holdings, valuations based on the above methods
are supplemented by a discounted future cash flow valuation based on business plans or on valuation
multiples of similar companies.

DEBT INSTRUMENTS HELD IN PORTFOLIO, ISSUES OF STRUCTURED SECURITIES MEASURED AT FAIR
VALUE AND FINANCIAL DERIVATIVES INSTRUMENTS

The fair value of these financial instruments is determined based on the quoted price on the balance sheet
date or prices provided by brokers on the same date, when available. For unlisted financial instruments,
fair value is determined using valuation techniques. Concerning liabilities measured at fair value, the on-
balance sheet amounts include changes in the Group’s issuer credit risk.

OTHER DEBTS

For listed financial instruments, fair value is taken as their closing quoted price on the balance sheet date.
For unlisted financial instruments, fair value is determined by discounting future cash flows to present value
at market rates (including counterparty risks, non-performance and liquidity risks).

CUSTOMER LOANS

The fair value of loans and receivables is calculated, in the absence of an actively traded market for these
loans, by discounting the expected cash flows to present value at a discount rate based on interest rates
prevailing on the market at the reporting date for loans with broadly similar terms and maturities.
These discount rates are adjusted for borrower credit risk.
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5. ESTIMATES OF MAIN UNOBSERVABLE INPUTS

The following table provides the valuation of Level 3 instruments on the balance sheet and the range of
values of the most significant unobservable inputs by main product type.

(In EUR m)

Cash instruments

Valuation

Significant

Range of inputs

and derivatives Main products techniques used unobservable inputs min. max.
Equity volatilities 3.0% 84.8%
. . . . Equity dividends 0.0% 15.8%
Simple and complex instruments Various option models on
Equities/funds or derivatives on funds, equities funds, equities or baskets Correlations -100.0% 100.0%
or baskets of stocks of stocks .
Hedge fund volatilities 7.1% 20.0%
Mutual fund volatilities 1.7% 26.1%
Hybrid forex / interest Hybrid forex interest rate
rate or credit / interest rate or credit interest rate Correlations -33.6% 90.0%
derivatives option pricing models
Forex derivatives Forex option pricing Forex volatilities 0.0% 45.5%
models
Interest rates and Interest rate derivatives whose
Forex notional is indexed to Constant prepavment
prepayment behaviour in Prepayment modelling rates prepay 0.0% 20.0%
European
collateral pools
Inflation instruments . - . 0 0
and derivatives Inflation pricing models Correlations 55.0% 88.9%
cecoveyamate oo 006 1000
Collateralised Debt Obligations ecolve_ry and base y
and index tranches correlation projection Recovery rate variance
models for single name 0.0%  100.0%
) underlyings
Credit - defan]
Time to default 0.0% 100.0%
correlations
Other credit derivatives Credit default models Quanto correlations 50.0% 40.0%
Credit spreads 0 bps 1 000 bps
Commodities Derivatives on commodities Option models on Commodities NA NA

baskets

commodities

Correlations

Long term equity
investments

Securities held for strategic

purposes

Net Book Value / Recent
transactions

Not applicable
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The table below shows the valuation of cash and derivative instruments on the balance sheet. When it
comes to hybrid instruments, they are broken down according to the main unobservable inputs.

31.12.2021

(In EUR m) Assets Liabilities

Equities/funds 1,168 25,994
Rates and Forex 9,715 17,133
Credit 474 528
Commaodities 3 2
Long term equity investments 2,051 -
Total 13,411 43,657

6. SENSITIVITY OF FAIR VALUE FOR LEVEL 3 INSTRUMENTS

Unobservable inputs are assessed carefully, particularly in this persistently uncertain economic environment
and market. However, by their very nature, unobservable inputs inject a degree of uncertainty into the
valuation of Level 3 instruments.

To quantify this, fair value sensitivity was estimated at 31 December 2021 on instruments whose valuation
requires certain unobservable inputs. This estimate was based either on a “standardised” variation in
unobservable inputs, calculated for each input on a net position, or on assumptions in line with the additional
valuation adjustment policies for the financial instruments in question.

The “standardised” variation corresponds to the standard deviation of consensus prices (TOTEM, etc.)
used to measure an input nevertheless considered as unobservable. In cases of unavailability of these data,
the standard deviation of historical data is then used to assess the input.
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SENSITIVITY OF LEVEL 3 FAIR VALUE TO A REASONABLE VARIATION IN UNOBSERVABLE INPUTS

31.12.2021 31.12.2020

Ne_:gative Ppsitive Ne_zgative Ppsitive
(In EUR m) impact impact impact impact
Shares and other equity instruments and derivatives (21) 78 (49) 150
Equity volatilities - 12 0 27
Dividends - 19 (18) 46
Correlations (20) 44 (31) 69
Hedge Fund volatilities - 0 0 0
Mutual Fund volatilities 1) & 0 8
Rates or Forex instruments and derivatives (6) 30 (6) 27
Correlations between exchange rates and/or interest rates ?3) 27 4) 26
Forex volatilities ) 3 @) 1
Constant prepayment rates - (0) 0 0
Inflation/inflation correlations @) 0 @) 0
Credit instruments and derivatives - 8 0 12
Time to default correlations - 1 0 1
Recovery rate variance for single name underlyings - - 0 0
Quanto correlations - 4 0 8
Credit spreads - 3 0 3
Commodity derivatives NA NA NA NA
Commodities correlations NA NA NA NA
Long term securities NA NA NA NA

It should be noted that, given the already conservative valuation levels, this sensitivity is higher for a
favourable impact on results than for an unfavourable impact. Moreover, the amounts shown above illustrate
the uncertainty of the valuation as at the computation date based on a standardised variation in inputs.
Future variations in fair value cannot be deduced or forecast from these estimates.
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7. DEFERRED MARGIN RELATED TO MAIN UNOBSERVABLE INPUTS

At initial recognition, financial assets and liabilities are measured at fair value, that is to say the price that
would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants at the measurement date.

When this fair value differs from transaction price and the instrument’s valuation technique uses one or more
unobservable inputs, this difference representative of a commercial margin is deferred in time to be recorded
in the income statement, from case to case, at maturity of the instrument, at the time of sell or transfer, over
time, or when the inputs become observable.

The table below shows the amount remaining to be recognised in the income statement due to this
difference, less any amounts recorded in the income statement after initial recognition of the instrument.

(In EUR m) 2021 2020
Deferred margin at 1 January 1,157 1,151
Deferred margin on new transactions during the period 1,053 949
Margin recorded in the income statement during the period (1,019) (943)
o/w amortisation (558) (614)
o/w switch to observable inputs (15) (24)
o/w disposed, expired or terminated (446) (305)
Deferred margin at 31 December 1,191 1,157
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NOTE 3.5 - LOANS, RECEIVABLES AND SECURITIES AT AMORTISED
COST

OVERVIEW
31.12.2021 31.12.2020

Carrying olw Carrying olw
(In EUR m) amount impairment amount impairment
Due from banks 55,972 (36) 53,380 (31)
Customer loans 497,164 (10,980) 448,761 (11,601)
Securities 19,371 (57) 15,635 (42)
Total 572,507 (11,073) 517,776 (11,674)

ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES

Loans, receivables and debt securities are measured at amortised cost where their contractual cash flows
are consistent with basic lending arrangements (SPPI) and they are managed under a “Hold to Collect”
business model.

Subsequent to initial recognition, they are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method,
and their accrued or earned income are recorded in profit or loss under Interest and similar income.
Furthermore, as these financial assets are subject to impairment for credit risk, changes in the expected
credit losses are recorded in profit or loss under Cost of risk with a corresponding impairment of the
amortised cost on the asset side of the balance sheet. The applicable impairment rules are described in
Note 3.8. When a loan or a receivable is classified in Stage 3 for impairment (doubtful outstanding),
the subsequent accrued interest incremented to the carrying amount of the financial asset before
impairment is limited to the interest recognised in profit or loss. The amount of such interest is then
calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the net carrying amount of the financial asset
(see Note 3.7).

Loans granted by the Group may be subject to renegotiations for commercial reasons, while the borrowing
customer is not experiencing any financial difficulties or insolvency. Such efforts are undertaken for
customers for which the Group agrees to renegotiate their debt in the interest of preserving or developing a
business relationship, in accordance with the credit approval procedures in force and without relinquishing
any principal or accrued interest. Except in specific cases where the modification due to the renegotiation
would not be considered significant, renegotiated loans are derecognised as at the renegotiation date, and
the new loans contracted under the renegotiated terms and conditions replace the previous loans in the
balance sheet as at this same date. The new loans are subject to the SPPI test to determine how they are
classified in the balance sheet. If a loan qualifies as a basic instrument (SPPI), the renegotiation fees
received are included in the effective interest rate of the new instrument.

Customer loans at amortised cost include lease receivables where they are classified as finance leases.
Leases granted by the Group are classified as finance leases if they transfer substantially all the risks and
rewards incidental to ownership of the leased asset to the lessee. Otherwise, they are classified as operating
leases (see Note 4.2).

These finance lease receivables represent the Group’s net investment in the lease, calculated as the present
value of the minimum payments to be received from the lessee, plus any unguaranteed residual value,
discounted at the interest rate implicit in the lease. In the event of a subsequent reduction in the estimated
unguaranteed residual value used to calculate the lessor’s investment in the finance lease, the present value
of this reduction is recognised as a loss under Expenses from other activities in the income statement and
as a reduction of the finance lease receivables on the asset side of the balance sheet.
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BUSINESS MODEL “HOLD TO COLLECT”

Under this model, financial assets are managed to obtain cash flows by collecting contractual payments
over the life of the instrument.

To achieve the objective of this business model, it is not necessary for the entity to hold all the instruments
until maturity. Selling assets remains consistent with a business model whose objective is to collect
contractual cash flows in the following cases:

= the financial asset is sold following an increase in the asset’s credit risk; or

= the sale of the financial asset occurs close to its maturity and the proceeds from the sale are similar to
the amount to be collected from the remaining contractual cash flows.

Other sales can be consistent with the objective of collecting contractual cash flows, as well, provided they
are infrequent (even if significant in value) or insignificant in value, both individually and in aggregate terms
(even if frequent). Such other sales include sales made to manage credit concentration risk (without an
increase in the asset’'s credit risk). The Group has set up procedures for reporting and analysing all
significant projected sales of financial assets held for collecting contractual cash flows, as well as a periodic
review of sales that have occurred.

Financing activities

Within the Group, the “hold to collect” business model is mainly applied by financing activities
. managed by French Retail Banking, International Retail Banking and Financial Services and
==, | by Global Banking and Investor Solutions, except for the part of syndicated loans that is
expected to be sold.

1. DUE FROM BANKS

(In EUR m) 31.12.2021 31.12.2020

Current accounts 26,997 25,712
Deposits and loans 18,123 16,000
Securities purchased under resale agreements 10,184 11,264
Subordinated and participating loans 99 97
Related receivables 585 297
Due from banks before impairments @ 55,988 53,370
Credit loss impairment (36) (31)
Revaluation of hedged items 20 41
Total 55,972 53,380

(1) As at 31 December 2021, the amount due from banks classified as Stage 3 impairment (credit impaired) is
EUR 46 million compared to EUR 58 million at 31 December 2020. The accrued interests included in this amount
are limited to interests recognised in net income by applying the effective interest rate to the net carrying amount of
the financial asset (see Note 3.7).
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2. CUSTOMER LOANS

31.12.2021

(In EUR m) 31.12.2020

Overdrafts 27,013 16,381
Other customer loans 438,165 401,589
Lease financing agreements 30,509 30,086
Securities purchased under resale agreements 8,831 8,439
Related receivables 3,399 3,438
Customer loans before impairments @ 507,917 459,933
Credit loss impairment (10,980) (11,601)
Revaluation of hedged items 227 429
Total 497,164 448,761

(1) Aa at 31 December 2021, the amount due from customers classified as Stage 3 impairment (credit impaired) is
EUR 16,261 million compared to EUR 16,807 million at 31 December 2020. The accrued interests included in this
amount are limited to interests recognised in netincome by applying the effective interest rate to the carrying amount

to the net carrying amount of the financial asset (see Note 3.7).

BREAKDOWN OF OTHER CUSTOMER LOANS

(In EUR m) 31.12.2021 31.12.2020

Trade notes 9,945 8,491
Short-term loans 144,481 133,502
Export loans 13,220 11,078
Equipment loans 66,183 62,324
Housing loans 151,869 142,247
Loans secured by notes and securities 204 83
Other loans 52,263 43,864
Total 438,165 401,589
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ADDITIONAL INFORMATION ON LEASE FINANCING AND SIMILAR AGREEMENTS

(In EUR m) 31.12.2021 31.12.2020
Gross investments 32,201 32,077
Amount for the next five years 26,714 26,786
Less than one year 9,227 9,111
From one to two years 7,124 6,690
From two to three years 5,047 5,460
From three to four years 3,315 3,402
From four to five years 2,001 2,123
More than five years 5,487 5,291
Present value of minimum payments receivable 28,888 28,444
Rental receivables due for the next five years 24,685 24,321
Less than one year 8,759 8,465
From one to two years 6,666 6,099
From two to three years 4,598 4,945
From three to four years 2,966 3,010
From four to five years 1,696 1,802
Rental receivables due for more than five years 4,203 4,123
Unearned financial income 1,692 1,991
Unguaranteed residual values receivable by the lessor 1,621 1,642
3. SECURITIES
(In EUR m) 31.12.2021 31.12.2020
Government securities 8,896 7,143
Negotiable certificates, bonds and other debt securities 10,525 8,390
Related receivables 160 101
Securities before impairments 19,581 15,634
Impairment (57) (42)
Revaluation of hedged items (153) 43
Total 19,371 15,635
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NOTE 3.6 - DEBTS

ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES
Debts include the non-derivative financial liabilities that are not measured at fair value through profit or loss.

They are recognised in the balance sheet, depending on the type of instrument and counterparty, under Due
to banks, Customer deposits, Debt securities issued or Subordinated debt.

Subordinated debts are all dated or undated borrowings, whether or not in the form of debt securities, which
in the event of the liquidation of the borrowing company may only be redeemed after all other creditors have
been paid.

Debts are initially recognised at cost, i.e. at the fair value of the amount borrowed net of transaction fees.
These liabilities are measured as at the reporting date at amortised cost using the effective interest rate
method. As a result, issue or redemption premiums on bonds are amortised over the lifetime of the
instruments concerned. Accrued or paid expenses are recorded in profit or loss under Interest and similar
expense.

The Group’s obligations arising from mortgage savings accounts and plans are recorded under Customer
deposits — Regulated savings accounts. A provision may be recorded in respect of such mortgage savings
instruments (see Note 8.3).

1. DUE TO BANKS

(In EUR m) 31.12.2021 31.12.2020

Demand deposits and current accounts 12,373 11,354
Overnight deposits and borrowings 1,564 3,221
Term deposits M 121,708 117,460
Related payables 47 61
Revaluation of hedged items 104 440
Securities sold under repurchase agreements 3,381 3,035
Total 139,177 135,571

(1) Including term-deposits linked to governments and central administrations, and in particular long-term refinancing
operations set up by the ECB (Targeted Longer-Term Refinancing Operations — TLTRO).

TLTRO

The European Central Bank (ECB) launched in 2019 a third series of Targeted Longer-Term Refinancing
Operations (TLTRO) with the aim of maintaining favourable credit conditions in the euro area. As in the two
previous systems, the level of remuneration of the borrowings depends on the performance of the borrowing
banking institutions in terms of loans granted to their household customers (excluding real estate loans) and
business customers (excluding financial institutions); depending on these performances, the borrowing
institutions may benefit from a reduced interest rate and an additional temporary bonus applicable from
24 June 2020 to 23 June 2021 (reduction by 50 basis points of the average rate of the deposit facility with
a floor rate set at -1%). These TLTRO Il operations are conducted on a quarterly basis between September
2019 and December 2021, for a possible total of 10 drawdowns. Each such operation has a three-year
maturity and includes an early repayment option. Some terms and conditions were modified in March 2020,
in particular the loan production objectives, rate conditions and drawdown limit, in order to further support
the granting of loans at the outset of the Covid-19 crisis. In January 2021, the ECB decided to extend the
temporary additional bonification over the period from 24 June 2021 to 23 June 2022 subject to performance
in terms of number of granted loans observed over a new reference period from 1 October 2020 to
31 December 2021.

The entities of the Societe Generale group have subscribed to TLTRO Il loans through quarterly drawings
staggered between December 2019 and December 2021. As at 31 December 2021, the total outstanding
amount drawn is EUR 71.9 billion.
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Once the Group has reasonable assurance of being eligible for the bonus rates provided for, the latter are
taken into account to determine the amount of interest recognised in profit or loss for the TLTRO
loans; this amount is then computed based on a weighted rate spreading the bonus over the expected life
of the drawdowns concerned.

The Group has reached its objective of stability of the outstanding amount of eligible loans between
1 March 2020 and 31 March 2021 allowing it to benefit from a reduced interest rate as well as from additional
temporary bonuses applied between 24 June 2020 and 23 June 2021. As at 31 December 2021, the Group
already had the reasonable assurance that it could benefit from these bonuses and had thus taken
them into account to calculate the amount of interest recognised in 2020 based on a weighted average rate
of -0.67%; the confirmation that the required objectives had indeed been met as at 31 March 2021 has thus
not changed the pace of recognition of these interests.

As early as the end of September 2021, the Group had the reasonable assurance that it would reach its
objective of stability of the outstanding amount of eligible loans between 1 October 2020 and
31 December 2021, which was confirmed at the end of the year, allowing it to benefit from a reduced interest
rate as well as from additional temporary bonuses applied between 24 June 2021 and 23 June 2022.
The weighted average rate of the TLTRO borrowings has thus been adjusted as early as September
to -0.63% and -0.83% depending on the drawdown dates. The retroactive impact of this adjustment has
generated a EUR 0.1 billion income included in the total amount of negative interest on the TLTRO
borrowing recorded in 2021 under Interest and Similar income for EUR 0.6 billion (around EUR 0.2 billion
in 2020).

In January 2021, the IFRS IC received a question about the accounting treatment of the TLTRO. The Group
remains vigilant with regard to the IFRS IC decision and will take account of any elements of clarification
that this decision will provide.

2. CUSTOMER DEPOSITS

(In EUR m) 31.12.2021 31.12.2020
Regulated savings accounts 109,079 100,204
Demand 83,025 74,617
Term 26,054 25,587
Other demand deposits @ 308,091 268,556
Other term deposits () 84,861 81,295
Related payables 261 299
Revaluation of hedged items 103 169
Total customer deposits 502,395 450,523
Securities sold to customers under repurchase agreements 6,738 5,536
Total 509,133 456,059

(1) Including term-deposits linked to governments and central administrations

80



BREAKDOWN OF OTHER DEMAND DEPOSITS BY CUSTOMER TYPE

(In EUR m) 31.12.2021 31.12.2020
Professionals and corporates 149,089 124,987
Individual customers 90,590 84,364
Financial customers 51,306 43,558
Others w 17,106 15,647
Total 308,091 268,556
(1) Including term-deposits linked to governments and central administrations
3. DEBT SECURITIES ISSUED
(In EUR m) 31.12.2021 31.12.2020
Term savings certificates 276 312
Bond borrowings 21,525 22,434
Interbank certificates and negotiable debt instruments 112,819 114,276
Related payables 574 672
Revaluation of hedged items 130 1,263
Total 135,324 138,957
o/w floating-rate securities 62,215 59,475
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NOTE 3.7 - INTEREST INCOME AND EXPENSE

‘ ' Interest is compensation for a financial service, consisting in a lender making a certain
amount of cash available to a borrower for an agreed period of time. Such compensated
’ ‘ financing arrangements can be loans, deposits or securities (bonds, negotiable debt

MAKING securities...).

IT This compensation is a consideration for the time value of money, and additionally for
SIMPLE credit risk, liquidity risk and administrative costs, all borne by the lender for the duration

of the financing agreement. The interest can also include a margin used by the lending
bank to remunerate equity instruments (such as ordinary shares) that are required by
prudential regulation to be issued in relation to the amount of financing granted, so as
to guarantee its own solvency.

Interest is recognised as expense or income over the life of the financing service
granted or received, proportionally to the principal amount outstanding.

ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES

Interest income and expense are recorded in the income statement under Interest and similar income and
Interest and similar expense for all financial instruments measured using the effective interest method
(instruments at amortised cost and debt instruments at fair value through other comprehensive income) and
for all financial instruments mandatorily measured at fair value through profit and loss and interest rate risk
hedging derivatives for the portion of income or expenses representative of the effective interest rate.
Negative interest incomes on financial assets are recorded under Interest and similar expense; negative
interest expenses on financial liabilities are recorded under Interest and similar income.

The effective interest rate is taken to be the rate used to net discount future cash inflows and outflows over
the expected life of the instrument in order to establish the net book value of the financial asset or liability.
The calculation of this rate considers the future cash flows estimated on the basis of the contractual
provisions of the financial instrument without taking account of possible future credit losses and also includes
commissions paid or received between the parties where these may be assimilated to interest, directly linked
transaction costs, and all types of premiums and discounts.

Where a financial asset is classified in Stage 3 for impairment, subsequent interest income is recognised in
profit or loss by applying the effective interest rate to the net carrying amount of the financial asset with an
offsetting entry equal to the outstanding financial asset before impairment.

Moreover, except for those related to employee benefits, provisions recognised as balance sheet liabilities
generate interest expenses which are calculated using the same risk-free interest rate as that used to
discount the expected outflow of resources as soon as the effects of this update are significant.

SPECIFIC TREATMENT RELATED TO THE REPLACEMENT OF A REFERENCE INTEREST RATE BY AN
ALTERNATIVE REFERENCE INTEREST RATE (POSSIBLY INCLUDING A FINANCIAL COMPENSATION) - IBOR
REFORM

The replacement of a reference interest rate by an alternative reference interest rate (possibly including a
financial compensation in the form of a margin adjustment expressed in basis points and/or a cash amount)
is liable to change the basis for determining the contractual cash flows of a financial asset or liability
(i.e., the method for calculating the return on it).

The effective interest rate is then modified prospectively to reflect the change from the current reference
interest rate to an alternative reference interest rate. This last is adjusted for the new margin expressed in
basis points and, if needed, for the amortisation over the remaining term of the contract, of the cash amount
paid at the time of the modification.
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2021 2020

(In EUR m) Income Expense Net Income Expense Net
E(i)nS?ncial instruments at amortised 11,574 (4,344) 7.230 12,193 (5.449) 6.744
Central banks 78 (308) (230) 110 (153) (43)
Bonds and other debt securities 428 (2,293) (865) 470 (1,660) (1,190)
Due from/to banks @ 1,107 (410) 697 943 (819) 124
Customer loans and deposits 9,680 (1,695) 7,985 10,257 (2,109) 8,148
Subordinated debt - (526) (526) - (503) (503)
Securities lending/borrowing 10 (11) Q) 6 4) 2
Repo transactions 271 (101) 170 407 (201) 206
Hedging derivatives 7,015 (5,489) 1,526 6,550 (4,753) 1,797
{hrough other comprehensive ncome 415 - a5 s @ s
Lease agreements 843 (39) 804 991 (44) 947
Real estate lease agreements 166 (39) 127 179 (43) 136
Non-real estate lease agreements 677 - 677 812 Q) 811

Sub-total interest income/expense
on financial instruments using the 19,847 (9,872) 9,975 20,260 (10,248) 10,012
effective interest method

Financial instruments mandatorily at

fair value through profit or loss e i = 461 i 461

Total Interest income and expense 20,590 (9,872) 10,718 20,721 (10,248) 10,473

o/w interest income from impaired

' . 259 - 259 268 - 268
financial assets

(1) Negative interest on TLTRO borrowings is recorded as income from Loans/borrowings from credit institutions
(see. Note 3.6).

These interest expenses include the refinancing cost of financial instruments at fair value through profit or
loss, the results of which are classified in net gains or losses on these instruments (see Note 3.1). Given that
income and expenses booked in the income statement are classified by type of instrument rather than by
purpose, the net income generated by activities in financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss
must be assessed as a whole.

BREAKDOWN OF INCOME OF CUSTOMER LOANS AT AMORTISED COST

(In EUR m) 2021 2020
Trade notes 332 342
Other customer loans 8,485 8,992
Short-term loans 3,486 3,840
Export loans 223 255
Equipment loans 1,396 1,410
Housing loans 2,781 2,884
Other customer loans 599 603
Overdrafts 613 662
Doubtful outstandings (stage 3) 250 261
Total 9,680 10,257
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NOTE 3.8 - IMPAIRMENT AND PROVISIONS

Some financial assets (loans, debt securities) involve credit risk which exposes the
‘ ' Group to a potential loss if the counterparty or the securities issuer were to be unable to
respect their financial commitments. To compensate for this risk, the bank receives a
’ ‘ portion of the contractual interest on those assets, called credit margin, compensates it.

MAKING This potential loss, or expected credit loss, is recognised in the income statement without
IT waiting the occurrence of a default event on a specific counterparty.

SIMPLE For loans, receivables and debt securities measured at amortised cost or fair value

through other comprehensive income, the expected credit loss, as assessed by the
Group, is recognised in profit or loss together with interest income. On balance sheet,
this potential loss is recognised as an impairment that reduces the carrying amount of
assets measured at amortised cost. Impairment are written-back in case of a subsequent
decrease of credit risk.

Potential losses recognised in the income statement represent initially the credit losses
expected by the Group over the year to come. Subsequently, the amount is increased
by the expected loss at maturity of the instrument in case of significant increase of risk.

For financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss (including instruments
held by global markets activities), their fair value includes already the expected credit
loss, as assessed by the market participants, on the residual lifetime of the instrument.

ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES

RECOGNITION OF EXPECTED CREDIT LOSSES

Debt instruments (loans, debt securities and bonds and similar) classified as financial assets at amortised
cost or as financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income, operating lease receivables,
customer receivables and income to be received included amongst Other assets, as well as loan
commitments granted and guarantee commitments issued, are systematically subject to impairment or
provisions for expected credit losses. These impairments and provisions are recognised as the loans are
granted, the commitments undertaken, or the debt securities purchased, without waiting for the occurrence
of an objective evidence of impairment.

To determine the amount of impairment or provision to be recorded at each reporting date, these exposures
are split among three categories based on the increase in credit risk observed since initial recognition.
An impairment or provision shall be recognised for the exposures in each category as follows:
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Stage 1
Credit risk category Performing assets

Stage 2

Under-performing or
downgraded assets

Initial recognition of the

. / Evidence that the
instrument in stage 1

instrument has become

Credit risk on the instrument
has increased significantly

Transfer criteria = rin;iitnﬁir:;:: dcredit LEK since initial recognition / credit-impaired /
significantly 30 days past due 90 days past due
Measurement of 12-month Lifetime Lifetime
credit risk expected credit losses expected credit losses expected credit losses

Gross carrying amount of
the asset before
impairment

Gross carrying amount of
the asset before
impairment

Net carrying amount of the
asset after impairment

Interest income
recognition basis

EXPOSURES CLASSIFIED IN STAGE 1

At the initial recognition date, the exposures are systematically classified in Stage 1, unless they are
purchased or originated credit-impaired instruments.

EXPOSURES CLASSIFIED IN STAGE 2

To identify Stage 2 exposures, the significant increase in credit risk compared to the date of initial recognition
is assessed by the Group using all available past and forward-looking data (behavioural scores, loan to
value indicators, macroeconomic forecast scenarios, sector analyses, cash flow projections for some
counterparties, etc.).

The three criteria used to assess the significant changes in credit risk are detailed below. Once only one of
these three criteria is met, the relevant outstanding is transferred from Stage 1 to Stage 2 and related
impairments or provisions are adjusted accordingly. Furthermore, the Group does not apply the exemption
for low credit risk; it thus carries out an assessment of a significant increase in credit risk for all loans.

Criteria 1: the classification of the counterparty in “sensitive”
To determine the classification of the counterparty as “sensitive” (notion of watch list), the Group analyses:
— the counterparty’s credit rating (where it is the subject of an internal analysis); and

— the changes in its operating sector, in macroeconomic conditions and in the behaviours of the
counterparty which may also be indicative of a deterioration in credit risk” au lieu de “that may be a sign
of deteriorating credit risk.

If, after a review, a counterparty is deemed “sensitive” (notion of watch list), all existing contracts between
the Group and this counterparty are transferred into Stage 2 (to the extent that this approach does not lead
to a distortion compared with an analysis of the credit quality at the time of granting of each financial
instrument) and the related impairment and provisions are increased up to the lifetime expected credit
losses.

Once a counterparty has been placed on a watch list, all new transactions originated with that counterparty
are recorded in Stage 1.

Criteria 2: the magnitude of the change in a counterparty’s credit rating since the initial recognition

This magnitude is assessed from contract to contract, from the date of their initial recognition to the balance
sheet date.
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To determine whether a deterioration or improvement in the credit rating between the date of initial
recognition and the balance sheet date is significant enough to prompt a change in the impairment Stage,
thresholds are set once a year by the Risk Division. These transfer thresholds between Stage 1 and Stage 2
are determined for each homogeneous portfolio of contracts (notion of risk segment based on the customer
typology and the credit quality) and are calculated based on their specific probability-of-default curves
(thus, the threshold is different depending on whether it is a Sovereign portfolio or a Large Corporates
portfolio, for instance). These thresholds may be expressed as an absolute or relative increase in the
probability of default. For example, the threshold is set at +50 bp for sovereign debt, +100 bp for the Very
Large Enterprises (turnover exceeding EUR 500 million), +200 bp for SME and +10 bp for the French
mortgages of the Societe Generale retail network.

In addition and in line with the recommendations issued by the EBA and the ECB, loans for which the
probability of default has been multiplied by 3 between the date of first recognition and the balance sheet
date are transferred to Stage 2

Criteria 3: the existence of payments more than 30 days past due

There is a (rebuttable) presumption of a significant deterioration in credit risk when a payment on an asset
is more than 30 days past due.

The three criteria are symmetrical: thus, a removal from the watch list of sensitive counterparties, a sufficient
improvement in the debtor’s credit rating or a settlement of payments more than 30 days overdue results in
a return to Stage 1, without any probation period in Stage 2.

Particular case of exposures without credit rating

For exposures to counterparties for which no credit rating is available (retail customers and a limited portion
of the “small- and medium- sized companies” segment), the transfer into Stage 2 is based on:

— the Basel behavioural score or the existence of payments more than 30 days past due for retail
customers;

— the placement on the watch list or the existence of payments more than 30 days past due for Corporate.

To identify Stage 3 exposures (doubtful exposures), the Group has been applying to most of its entities,
since July 2020, the new definition of default as detailed in the guidelines published by the European
Banking Authority (EBA). This definition leads to applying the following criteria to classify exposures as
Stage 3:

— one or more unpaid payments of over 100 euros for Retail (500 euros for Non-retail) during 90
consecutive days, representing at least 1% of the total exposure of the customer. This unpaid amount
may or may not be accompanied by a recovery procedure (except for restructured loans classified into
Stage 1 or 2 which are retransferred into Stage 3 from the first amount unpaid after 30 days during the
two-year probation period). In addition, only missed payments related to business litigations,
specific contractual features or IT failures may avoid automatic transfer into Stage 3 after 90 days.

— identification of other criteria that evidence, even in the absence of missed payments, that this is unlikely
that the counterparty could meet all its financial obligations:

— a significant deterioration in the counterparty’s financial situation creates a strong probability that it will
not be able to meet all of its commitments and thus represents a risk of loss for the Group;

— the granting of concessions to the clauses of the loan agreement, which would not have been granted if
the counterparty wasn't experiencing financial difficulties (restructured loans) and which result in a
decrease in the present value of the loan cash flows of more than 1% of its initial value;

— the existence of litigious proceedings (ad hoc mandate, bankruptcy protection, court-ordered settlement
or compulsory liquidation or other similar proceedings in local jurisdictions).

The Group applies the impairment contagion principle to all of the defaulting counterparty’s exposures.
When a debtor belongs to a group, the impairment contagion principle may also be applied to all of the
group’s exposures.
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The classification in Stage 3 is kept during the 3-month probation period after the disappearance of all
default indicators described above. The probation period in Stage 3 is extended to one year for the
restructured loans that have been transferred in Stage 3.

In the case of a return to Stage 2, the exposures are kept in Stage 2 during a probation period before
assessing whether they could be transferred to Stage 1. This probation period in Stage 2 is from 6 months
to two years according to the nature of the risk portfolio to which the exposures belong.

Stage 1 exposures are impaired for the amount of credit losses that the Group expects to incur within
12 months (12-month expected credit losses), based on past data and the -current situation.
Accordingly, the amount of impairment is the difference between the gross carrying amount of the asset and
the present value of future cash flows deemed to be recoverable, taking into account the impact of collateral
called up or liable to be called up and the probability of a default event occurring within the next 12 months.

Stage 2 and 3 exposures are impaired for the amount of credit losses that the Group expects to incur over
the life of the exposures (lifetime expected credit losses), taking into consideration past data, the present
situation and reasonable forecast changes in economic conditions, and relevant macroeconomic factors
through to maturity. Accordingly, the amount of impairment is the difference between the gross carrying
amount of the asset and the present value of future cash flows deemed to be recoverable, taking into
account the impact of collateral called up or liable to be called up and the probability of a default event
occurring through to the instrument’s maturity.

Financial guarantees are taken into account in the estimation of the recoverable cash flows when they are
integral part of the contractual characteristics of the related loans and they are not recognised separately.

If the financial guarantees don’t meet these criteria and as a consequence their effects cannot be taken into
account in the calculation of impairment (example: financial guarantee aimed at compensating the first
losses suffered on a given portfolio of loans), a separate asset is recorded in the balance sheet under Other
Assets. The book value of this asset is representative of the expected credit losses, recorded in the balance
sheet within the impairment of assets, for which the Group is almost certain to receive a compensation.
Changes in the carrying amount of this asset are recorded in the income statement under Cost of risk.

Irrespective of the Stage in which the exposures are classified, cash flows are discounted using the initial
effective interest rate of the financial asset. The amount of impairment is included in the net carrying amount
of the credit impaired financial asset. Impairment allocations/reversals are recorded in the income statement
under Cost of risk.

For operating leases and trade receivables, the Group uses the “simplified” approach, under which
impairments are calculated as lifetime expected credit losses since their initial recognition, regardless of any
subsequent changes in the counterparty’s credit risk. The assessment of depreciation is mainly based on
historical data on default rates and incurred losses in the event of default. Adjustments to take into account
forward-looking information on economic conditions and macro-economic factors are determined by an
expert.

Loans issued or acquired by the Group may be restructured due to financial difficulties. This takes the shape
of a contractual modification of the initial terms of the loan (e.g. lower interest rates, rescheduled loan
payments, partial debt forgiveness, or additional collateral). This adjustment of the contractual terms is
strictly linked to the borrower’s financial difficulties and/or insolvency (whether they have already become
insolvent or are certain to do so if the loan is not restructured).

Where they still pass the SPPI test, restructured loans are still recognised in the balance sheet and their
amortised cost before credit risk allowance is adjusted for a discount representing the restructuration loss.
This discount is equal to the-difference between the present value of the new contractual cash flows resulting
from the restructuring of the loan and the amortised cost before credit risk allowance less any partial debt
forgiveness; it is booked to Cost of risk in the income statement. As a result, the amount of interest income
subsequently recognised into income is still computed using the initial effective interest rate of the loan and
based on the net carrying amount of the asset after impairment during at least the first year following the
restructuration.

Post-restructuring, these financial assets are classified in Stage 3 (credit-impaired exposures) whether the
present value of modified cash flows decreases by more than 1% compared with the carrying amount of
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financial instruments before the restructuring or there is a high probability that the counterparty cannot meet
all its commitments involving a risk of loss for the Group. In these two cases, the restructuring of financial
assets leads to default. Stage 3 classification is maintained for at least one year, or longer if the Group is
uncertain that the borrowers will be able to meet their commitments. Once the loan is no longer classified in
Stage 3 or the loans which the present value does not decrease more than 1%, the assessment of the
significant increase of credit risk will be performed by comparing the characteristics of the instrument at the
closing date and the characteristics at the initial recognition date of the loan before restructuring, applying
the transfer rules to Stage 1 and 2 previously mentioned in this note with specific conditions during the
probation period (during the first two-years following the restructuration, loans are retransferred into Stage 3
as of payments more than 30 days past due).

The criteria to return to Stage 1 for the restructured loans are similar to those of all the other exposures,
after a probation period in Stage 3 of a minimum of one year.

Given the new contractual terms arising from the restructuring where they no longer pass the SPPI test,
restructured loans are derecognised and replaced by new loans recognised according to the restructured
terms and conditions. These new loans are then classified as Financial assets measured at fair value
through profit or loss.

Restructured loans do not include loans and receivables subject to commercial renegotiations that are loans
to customers for which the Group has agreed to renegotiate the debt with the aim of maintaining or
developing a commercial relationship, in accordance with the credit approval procedures in force and without
relinquishing any principal or accrued interest.

SPECIFIC TREATMENT RELATED TO THE REPLACEMENT OF A REFERENCE INTEREST RATE BY AN
ALTERNATIVE REFERENCE INTEREST RATE (POSSIBLY INCLUDING A FINANCIAL COMPENSATION) — IBOR
REFORM

The methodology for calculating impairments and provisions for expected credit losses in Stage 1 and Stage
2 was developed in the Basel framework used which was used as a basis for choosing the methods for
assessing the calculation parameters (probability of default and loss rate for outstanding loans under the
Basel advanced approaches — IRBA and IRBF — and provisioning rate for outstanding loans under the
standardised approach).

The Group portfolios have been segmented to ensure homogeneous risk characteristics and better
correlation with macroeconomic variables, both local and global. This segmentation makes it possible to
address all the Group’s specificities. It is consistent with or similar to the one defined in the Basel framework
to ensure the uniqueness of the historical records of losses and defaults.

The variables used in the expected credit loss assessment models are presented in chapter 4.5.4 of the
Universal Registration Document.

Expected losses are assessed based on the above-mentioned parameters, supplemented with in-house
analyses of each counterparty’s credit quality, performed either individually or statistically.

COVID-19 CRISIS
As at 31 December, to account for uncertainties related to the continuing sanitary crisis, the Group has
updated the model and post-model adjustments in keeping with 2020.

It will be recalled that in 2020, in response to the Covid-19 crisis, the models and parameters used to
estimate the expected credit losses had been reviewed and updated based on new economic scenarios.
Sectoral and other adjustments had been updated to supplement the application of these models. A new
criterion had also been established for reclassifying loans as underperforming loans in Stage 2.

These adjustments are taken into account to estimate the expected credit losses (Stages 1 and 2), except
for the additional criterion for transfer to Stage 2 which concerns the classification of loans outstanding.

UPDATE OF THE MODELS AND PARAMETERS USED TO ESTIMATE EXPECTED CREDIT LOSSES
When applied for determining future default rates, the models used to estimate the expected credit losses
didn’t reflect accurately the economic uncertainties stemming from the current crisis.

Since 2020, the Group has made some adjustments to its models (GDP adjustment and adjustment of the
margin rates of French companies) to better reflect the impact of the economic scenarios on the expected
credit losses and the effects of the support measures.
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GDP adjustment

The containment measures taken by governments have resulted in a sudden decline in economic activity
reflected in a significant volatility in the quarterly GDP growth rates (year-on-year) in the 2021 and 2022
forecasts in the countries where the Group operates.

Furthermore, the authorities have adopted financial support measures for households and businesses to
help them cope with the sudden deterioration in activity. Therefore, it seems likely that a time-lag will appear
between the deterioration in the portfolios’ credit quality and that of activity, the first being delayed with
respect to the second.

In order to account for this time-lag, the Group revised its models in 2020, using for each quarter between
2020 and 2022 an average of the changes in GDP over the last 8 quarters compared to a base of 100 in
2019. This adjustment has not been used to determine the GDP rates for 2023 to 2025.

As at 31 December 2021, the GDP rates used in the models have been determined as follows:

— for each quarter of 2021 and 2022, the Group used in its models an average of the changes in GDP over
the last 8 quarters compared to a base of 100 in 2019. This adjustment has been applied to each of the
four scenarios (SG Favourable, SG Central, SG Extended and SG Stress) for the GDP series used in
the modelling of expected credit losses (see paragraph 6 in Note 1).

The data displayed for 2021 and 2022 in the table below correspond to the weighted average of the GDP
growth rates of the four scenarios, adjusted as described above;

— the data displayed for the years 2023 to 2025 in the table below correspond to the weighted average of
the GDP growth rates of the four scenarios.

2021 2022 2023 2024 2025
Euro area (4.3) 3.3) 11 15 1.8
France (4.9) (3.4) 0.9 1.1 1.9
United States of America (2.1) (0.4) 2.0 1.8 2.0
China 3.4 3.1 4.1 4.2 4.4

Adjustment of the margin rate of French companies

To prepare the consolidated financial statements as at 31 December 2020, an add-on had been included
on the margin rate of French companies for 2020 and the first half of 2021 to take account of the State
support measures

The Group removed this add-on in 2021 owing to the INSEE (French National Institute of Statistics and
Economic studies) taking account of the impact of the support measures in its margin rate forecasts.

Impact of the model adjustments as at 31 December 2021

Thus, as at 31 December 2021, the adjustments to the macro-economic variables and to the probabilities
of default have resulted in a 445 million euros increase in the amount of impairments and provisions for
credit risk (496 million euros as at 31 December 2020). The impact of these adjustments is due to:

— 319 million euros corresponding to the above-mentioned GDP adjustment;

— 126 million euros attributable to the update of the weights in the macro-economic scenarios presented
in Note 1.
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ADJUSTMENTS SUPPLEMENTING THE APPLICATION OF MODELS

Sectoral adjustments

The Group can supplement the models with two types of sectoral adjustments: the first relates to the
possible revision of the expected credit loss estimates (with no impact on the classification of loans) of some
sectors; the second, implemented since 2020, supplements the analysis of the increase in credit risk and
may leads to additional transfers in Stage 2.

Estimate of the expected credit losses

The different models used to estimate the expected credit losses may be supplemented by sectoral
adjustments that increase or decrease the amount of expected credit losses. These adjustments allow to
better anticipate defaults or recoveries in certain cyclical sectors that have been subject to peaks in default
in the past or that are particularly vulnerable to the current crisis and the Group exposure of which exceeds
a threshold reviewed and fixed yearly by the Risk division.

These sectoral adjustments are reviewed and updated on a quarterly basis by the Risk division and
approved by General Management according to the materiality threshold.

The main sectors concerned are the hotel / restaurant / leisure sectors, as well as the oil and gas,
commercial real-estate, cruise operators and airline sectors.

At the time when these adjustments are reviewed and where consistent with the provisioning
horizon, the possible impact of climate risks on the determination of expected credit losses has
been integrated.

The total sectoral adjustments amount thus to 536 million euros as at 31 December 2021 (406 million euros
as at 31 December 2020). These changes stem from the implementation during the first half of 2021 of
ratios to take account of the reduction in the impact of the macro-economic variables on the probabilities of
default and to maintain a conservative coverage on the sectors impacted by the Covid-19 crisis.

Additional criterion of transfer to stage 2

Since 2020 and the beginning of the Covid-19 crisis, in addition to the criteria applied at the individual level
to classify deteriorated loans as Stage 2 underperforming loans, an additional expert analysis has been
made on the loan portfolios for which a significant increase in credit risk has been observed since their
granting. This analysis resulted in additional transfers to Stage 2 underperforming loans of all loans granted
to sectors particularly affected by the Covid-19 crisis and granted before the crisis. For the loans concerned,
in addition to these transfers to Stage 2, an estimate of the provision has been made taking account of the
sectoral adjustments (described above) which might have been applied.

These adjustments amount to 19 million euros as at 31 December 2021 (122 million euros as at
31 December 2020). This decrease over 2021 is attributable to the exit from the list of sectors concerned of
the motor vehicles, shipping, oil and gas and non-food retail sectors, and to the maturing of some of the
contracts concerned. Some of the sectors excluded from the list may nonetheless continue to be subject to
a sectoral adjustment of the expected credit losses mentioned above, depending on their intrinsic risk
(and not on a pandemic-related deterioration anymore).
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Other adjustments

Adjustments based on expert opinion have also been made to reflect the heightened credit risk on some
portfolios, when this heightened risk has not been detectable through a line-by-line analysis of the loans
outstanding:

— for the scope of entities lacking developed models for estimating the correlations between the
macroeconomic variables and the probability of default; and

— for the scopes on which models are developed and when these models cannot reflect future risk not
observed in historical records (e.g., legal or regulatory changes).

These adjustments amount to 399 million euros as at 31 December 2021 (424 million euros as
at 31 December 2020). These changes stem from the cancellation of the adjustments implemented for the
loans under moratorium, provided that these moratoriums have expired at least a year ago. However, this
decrease is partly offset by the implementation of adjustments for the loans most exposed to the crisis to
better account for the uncertain economic situation.

CONSIDERATION OF THE SUPPORT MEASURES IN THE ASSESSMENT OF THE SIGNIFICANT INCREASE IN CREDIT RISK

The support measures granted are taken into account in the holistic customer analysis in order to assess
the significant increase in credit risk (Criteria 1 and 2 presented in the Accounting principles in Note 3.8).

Despite the absence of actual defaults in a context where most support measures have now come to an
end, the Group maintain a conservative provisioning policy in an uncertain environment; in particular in
France, with the start of PGE repayments for customers having benefited from a two-year repayment
exemption.

1. OVERVIEW

The tables of this note do not lay out the IAS 39 impairment related to financial instruments of insurance
subsidiaries. This impairment is presented in the Note 4.3.

In this note, the unit of measurement selected is the outstanding amounts for which provisions can be
booked. These outstanding amounts correspond to the outstanding stock subject to credit risk under IFRS 9:

= booked on the balance sheet:

— (securities (excluding securities received under repurchase agreements) and loans and advances to
customers and credit institutions and similar measured at amortised cost or at fair value through
equity;

— deposits with central banks;

— operating and finance lease;

— collateral deposits with the CCPs.

= booked off-balance sheet (financing and guarantee commitments).

Excluding the assets bearing little or no risk, mainly the securities received under repurchase agreements
and the guarantee deposits in relation with losing positions on derivatives.
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RECONCILIATION BETWEEN ACCOUNTING OUTSTANDING AMOUNTS AND OUTSTANDING AMOUNTS FOR
WHICH PROVISIONS CAN BE BOOKED

(In EUR m) 31.12.2021  31.12.2020 *
Debt instruments at fair value through other comprehensive income Note 3.3 43,180 51,801
Securities at amortised cost Note 3.5 19,371 15,635
Due from banks at amortised cost Note 3.5 55,972 53,380
Due from central banks @) 177,510 165,837
Customer loans at amortised cost Note 3.5 497,164 448,761
Other assets @ 80,744 53,930
Net value of accounting outstanding amounts (balance sheet) 873,941 789,344
Impairment of loans at amortised cost Note 3.8 11,357 11,962
Gross value of accounting outstanding amounts (balance sheet) 885,298 801,306
S\g)tii/llt;cl)gr?sl |(t:2r:zénggjgfgd|:n the scope of outstanding amounts for which 269,730 237521
Financing and guarantee commitments (off-balance sheet) 269,730 237,521
It;tgngz slz(ec(ljuded from the scope of outstanding amounts for which provisions can (35,139) (38,141)
Gross value of accounting outstanding amounts after retreatments 1,119,889 1,000,686
Gross value of outstanding amounts for which provisions can be booked 1,119,889 1,000,686

*  The amounts have been restated, compared with the published financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2020, following the integration of Other Sundry debtors and property acquired by adjudication
measured at amortised cost in Other assets and Impairment of loans at amortised cost.

(1) Included in line Cash, due from central banks.

(2) Of which mainly 77,854 million euros of guarantee deposits paid and 952 million euros of operating lease payment
amounts as at 31 December 2021 (see. Note 4.4).
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OUTSTANDING AMOUNTS SUBJECT TO IMPAIRMENT AND PROVISIONS BY IMPAIRMENT STAGE AND BY
ACCOUNTING CATEGORY

31.12.2021 31.12.2020
Outstanding Outstanding
amounts subject amounts subject

to impairment and Impairment to impairment and Impairment

(In EUR m) provisions /provisions provisions /provisions
Ei)nrﬁ;::éileisssisési2£garlilrevalue through other 43,180 8 51,801 9
Performing outstandings (Stage 1) 43,172 1 51,792 1
Underperforming outstandings (Stage 2) 1 1 - -
Doubtful outstandings (Stage 3) 7 6 9 8
Financial assets at amortised cost * 806,979 11,357 711,363 11,962
Performing outstandings (Stage 1) 746,840 1,148 644,063 1,078
Underperforming outstandings (Stage 2) 43,299 1,674 49,905 1,951
Doubtful outstandings (Stage 3) 16,840 8,535 17,395 8,933
o/w lease financing 30,508 889 30,086 888
Performing outstandings (Stage 1) 24,733 113 24,214 113
Underperforming outstandings (Stage 2) 4,294 184 4,490 210
Doubtful outstandings (Stage 3) 1,481 592 1,382 565
Financing commitments * 192,270 427 183,671 433
Performing outstandings (Stage 1) 184,533 165 161,840 119
Underperforming outstandings (Stage 2) 7,526 231 21,488 279
Doubtful outstandings (Stage 3) 211 31 343 35
Guarantee commitments 77,460 461 53,851 495
Performing outstandings (Stage 1) 72,763 52 46,169 44
Underperforming outstandings (Stage 2) 3,926 82 6,876 152
Doubtful outstandings (Stage 3) 771 327 806 299
Total 1,119,889 12,253 1,000,686 12,899

*  The amounts have been restated, compared with the published financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2020, following the integration of Other Sundry debtors and property acquired by adjudication
measured at amortised cost.

(1) Including Central Banks for EUR 177,510 million as at 31 December 2021 (versus 165,837 million euros as at
31 December 2020).
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OUTSTANDING AMOUNTS FOR WHICH PROVISIONS CAN BE BOOKED / PROVISIONS BY BASEL PORTFOLIO

31.12.2021
Outstanding amounts Impairment and Provisions

(In EUR m) Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
Sovereign 237,733 665 106 238,504 5 4 67 76
Institutions 146,315 794 71 147,180 11 23 12 46
Corporates 406,364 29,825 9,874 446,063 713 1,289 4,771 6,773

SME 51,823 7,589 4,122 63,534 215 464 2,166 2,845
Retail 213,585 22,162 7,665 243,412 587 663 4,040 5,290

VSB 25,828 4,913 2,322 33,063 131 236 138 505
Others 43,311 1,306 113 44,730 50 9 9 68
Total 1,047,308 54,752 17,829 1,119,889 1,366 1,988 8,899 12,253

31.12.2020 *
Outstanding amounts Impairment and Provisions

(In EUR m) Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
Sovereign 232,976 483 121 233,580 4 1 69 74
Institutions 113,467 969 69 114,505 10 71 17 98
Corporates 315,638 54,984 10,189 380,811 590 1,517 5,082 7,189

SME 48,517 7,255 4,148 59,920 179 449 2,200 2,828
Retail 204,820 19,536 8,052 232,408 573 738 4,103 5,414

VSB 27,453 5,139 2,409 35,001 136 274 1,394 1,804
Others 36,964 2,297 121 39,382 65 55 4 124
Total 903,865 78,269 18,552 1,000,686 1,242 2,382 9,275 12,899

*  The amounts have been restated, compared with the published financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2020, following the integration of Other Sundry debtors and property acquired by adjudication
measured at amortised cost.
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GEOGRAPHICAL BREAKDOWN OF OUTSTANDING AMOUNTS FOR WHICH PROVISIONS CAN BE BOOKED

AND PROVISIONS

31.12.2021

Outstanding amounts Impairment and Provisions
(In EUR m) Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
France 464,116 31,104 8,440 503,660 553 1,121 3,683 5,357
Western European
countries (excl. 231,196 7,069 2,581 240,846 247 266 989 1,502
France)
Eastern European
countries EU 58,564 5,139 1,202 64,905 164 260 714 1,138
Eastern Europe 25,398 1,875 370 27,643 150 25 303 478
excluding EU
North America 151,111 4,182 180 155,473 50 123 58 231
Latin America and 10,561 905 195 11,661 8 15 72 95
Caribbean
Asia-Pacific 55,559 1,130 680 57,369 20 14 364 398
ég's‘;a and Middle 50,803 3,348 4,181 58,332 174 164 2,716 3,054
Total 1,047,308 54,752 17,829 1,119,889 1,366 1,988 8,899 12,253

31.12.2020 *

Outstanding amounts Impairment and Provisions
(In EUR m) Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
France 429,803 36,597 9,130 475,530 542 1,307 4,147 5,996
Western European
countries (excl. 188,997 13,681 2,861 205,539 228 311 999 1,538
France)
Eastern European
countries EU 48,635 4,923 1,144 54,702 110 353 681 1,144
Eastern Europe 20,046 3,163 425 23,634 110 40 355 505
excluding EU
North America 113,578 9,606 444 123,628 35 125 125 285
Latin America and
Caribbean 8,518 1,902 262 10,682 10 23 80 113
Asia-Pacific 54,112 3,097 734 57,943 20 19 367 406
é‘;'scta and Middle 40,176 5,300 3,552 49,028 187 204 2,521 2,912
Total 903,865 78,269 18,552 1,000,686 1,242 2,382 9,275 12,899

*  The amounts have been restated, compared with the published financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2020, following the integration of Other Sundry debtors and property acquired by adjudication
measured at amortised cost.
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OUTSTANDING AMOUNTS SUBJECT TO IMPAIRMENT AND PROVISIONS BY RATING OF COUNTERPARTY @

31.12.2021
Outstanding amounts Impairment and Provisions

(In EUR m) Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

1 72,780 = = 72,780 = = = =
2 188,780 158 - 188,938 1 - - 1
3 91,642 413 - 92,055 8 3 - 11
4 158,226 2,527 - 160,753 69 8 - 77
5 104,082 6,833 - 110,915 236 103 - 339
6 23,132 11,503 = 34,635 194 421 = 615
7 2,279 7,070 - 9,349 17 395 - 412
Default (8, 9, 10) = = 9,197 9,197 - - 4,442 4,442
Other method 406,387 26,248 8,632 441,267 841 1,058 4,457 6,356
Total 1,047,308 54,752 17,829 1,119,889 1,366 1,988 8,899 12,253

31.12.2020 *
Outstanding amounts Impairment and Provisions

(In EUR m) Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

1 75,967 - - 75,967 - - - -
2 175,096 2,172 - 177,268 1 1 - 2
3 81,909 5,634 - 87,543 9 8 - 17
4 120,509 10,280 - 130,789 61 36 - 97
5 91,511 16,012 - 107,523 200 275 - 475
6 20,084 15,877 - 35,961 143 667 - 810
7 1,692 4,327 - 6,019 30 267 - 297
Default (8, 9, 10) - - 9,655 9,655 - - 4,694 4,694
Other method 337,097 23,967 8,897 369,961 798 1,128 4,581 6,507
Total 903,865 78,269 18,552 1,000,686 1,242 2,382 9,275 12,899

*  The amounts have been restated, compared with the published financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2020, following the integration of Other Sundry debtors and property acquired by adjudication
measured at amortised cost.

(1) The indicative corresponding between the Societe Generale’s internal rating scale and the scales of rating agencies
is presented in chapter 4 of Universal Registration Document (table 15).
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2. IMPAIRMENT OF FINANCIAL ASSETS

BREAKDOWN
Currency
Amount Write- Net Write- and Amount
as at backs impairment backs scope as at
(In EUR m) 31.12.2020 Allocations available losses used effects 31.12.2021
Financial assets at fair
value through other
comprehensive income
Impairment on performing 1 1 B ) ) 1
outstandings (Stage 1)
Impairment on underperforming i 1 ) 1 ) 1
outstandings (Stage 2)
Impairment on doubtful
outstandings (Stage 3) 8 @ @ 6
Total 9 2 3) () - - 8
Financial assets measured at
amortised cost
Impairment on performing
outstandings (Stage 1) 1,078 754 (702) 52 18 1,148
Impairment on underperforming
outstandings (Stage 2) 1,951 1,125  (1,423) (298) 21 1,674
Impairment on doubtful
outstandings (Stage 3) 8,933 3,614  (2,734) 880  (1,402) 124 8,535
Total 11,962 5493  (4,859) 634  (1,402) 163 11,357
ofw lease financing and 888 327 272) 55 62) 8 889
similar agreements
Impairment on performing
outstandings (Stage 1) 113 48 (50) @ 2 113
Impairment on
underperforming outstandings 210 81 (109) (28) 2 184
(Stage 2)
Impairment on doubtful 565 198 (113) 85 (62) 4 592

outstandings (Stage 3)
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VARIATIONS OF PROVISIONS ACCORDING TO CHANGES IN THE AMOUNT OF FINANCING AND GUARANTEE

COMMITMENTS

Due to lack of significant variations of depreciations on financial assets measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income, this information is not presented in the table below.

o/w lease o/w lease o/w lease
(In EUR m) Stage 1 financing Stage 2 financing Stage 3 financing Total
Amount as at 31.12.2020 1,078 113 1,951 210 8,933 565 11,962
Production & Acquisition ® 398 36 114 9 139 6 651
Derecognition @ (157) 9) (260) (10) (1,410) (58) (1,827)
Ei?:gg Jrom stage 1 (58) @) 406 38 - - 348
gi’t‘:gg Trom stage 2 35 3 (306) (38) - - @71)
Transfer to stage 3 @ 9) (1) (113) (13) 628 79 506
Transfer from stage 3 © 2 - 38 8 (139) (23) (99)
eomawichds  aw ey am ey ws  w
Currency effect 22 1 18 1 141 5 181
Scope effect - - - - - - -
Other variations - - 2 - 2 - -
Amount as at 31.12.2021 1,148 113 1,674 184 8,535 592 11,357

(1)

originated contracts in Stage 1 reclassified in Stage 2/Stage 3 during the period.

()
3)

Including repayments, disposals and debt waivers.

The amounts of impairment presented in the line Production and Acquisition in Stage 2/Stage 3 could include

Amounts presented in transfers include variations due to amortisation. Transfers to Stage 3 correspond to

outstanding amounts initially classified as Stage 1 which, during the period, were downgraded directly to Stage 3,
or to Stage 2 and later to Stage 3.

BREAKDOWN OF TRANSFERS BETWEEN STAGES FOR FINANCIAL ASSETS AT AMORTISED COST AS AT

31 DECEMBER 2021

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total of
transferred

Outstanding Outstanding Outstanding outstanding Total impact of

amounts subject amounts subject amounts subject amounts transfers on

to impairment to impairment to impairment subject to impairment and

(In EUR m) and provisions _Impairment and provisions Impairment  and provisions __ Impairment impairment provisions
Transfer from

Stage 1 to Stage 2 (18,621) (58) 14,415 406 - 14,415 406
Transfer from

Stage 2 to Stage 1 21,705 35 (17,372) (306) - 21,705 35
Transfer from

Stage 3 to Stage 1 473 2 - (412) (33) 473 2
Transfer from

Stage 3 to Stage 2 - - 649 38 (674) (106) 649 38
Transfer from

Stage 1 to Stage 1 (1,286) 9) - 1,162 282 1,162 283
Transfer from

Stage 2 to Stage 3 - - (2,151) (113) 1,925 346 1,925 347

Currency effect on
contracts that 211 1 510 7 11 2 732 10

change stage
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3. CREDIT RISK PROVISIONS

BREAKDOWN

Amount Write- Net Currency Amount

as at backs impairment and scope as at

(In EUR m) 31.12.2020 Allocations available losses effects 31.12.2021
Financing commitments
Provisions on performing
outstandings (Stage 1) 119 148 (104) 44 2 =
Provisions on underperforming
outstandings (Stage 2) 219 155 (208) (53) 5 et
Provisions on doubtful
outstandings (Stage 3) 35 39 (74) (35) sl e
Total 433 342 (386) (44) 38 427
Guarantee commitments
Provisions on performing i
outstandings (Stage 1) 44 38 (30) 8 e
Provisions on underperforming
outstandings (Stage 2) 152 49 (72) (23) “7) Ee
Provisions on doubtful
outstandings (Stage 3) 299 139 (89) 50 (22) £
Total 495 226 (191) 35 (69) 461
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VARIATIONS OF PROVISIONS ACCORDING TO CHANGES IN THE AMOUNT OF FINANCING AND GUARANTEE

COMMITMENTS

Provisions
On financing commitments On guarantee commitments Total

(In EUR m) Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

Amount as at 31.12.2020 119 279 35 433 44 152 299 495 928
Production & Acquisition ) 75 16 9 100 16 6 14 36 136
Derecognition ? (34) 47) 9) (90) (10) (13) (39) (62) (152)
Transfer from stage 1 to stage 2 @ 4) 23 - 19 ) 13 11 30
Transfer from stage 2 to stage 1 ® 11 (66) - (55) 3 (19) (16) (71)
Transfer to stage 3 @ - - 2 2 3) 28 25 27
Transfer from stage 3 @ - 2 (5) (3) (3) 3) (6)
Allocations & Write-backs without stage transfer (5) 16 2) 9 (55) 22 (33) (24)
Currency effect 5 6 1 12 1 1 6 8 20
Scope effect - - - -

Other variations ) 2 - -

Amount as at 31.12.2021 165 231 &L 427 52 82 327 461 888

(1) The amounts of impairment presented in the line Production and Acquisition in Stage 2/Stage 3 could include
originated contracts in Stage 1 reclassified in Stage 2/Stage 3 during the period.

(2) Including repayments, disposals and debt waivers.

(3) Amounts presented in transfers include variations due to amortisation. Transfers to Stage 3 correspond to
outstanding amounts initially classified as Stage 1 which, during the period, were downgraded directly to Stage 3,

or to Stage 2 and later to Stage 3.
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BREAKDOWN OF TRANSFERS BETWEEN STAGES FOR OFF-BALANCE SHEET

31 DECEMBER 2021

Financing commitments

COMMITMENTS AS AT

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 tra nz?;?:, eo df
Outstanding Outstanding Outstanding outstanding
amounts subject amounts subject amounts subject amounts  Total impact
to impairment to impairment to impairment subject to of transfers
(In EUR m) and provisions _ Provisions  and provisions _ Provisions and provisions  Provisions _impairment on provisions
gz"srlzfge; f2’°m Stage 1 (2.181) o) 1,625 23 ; ; 1,625 23
gg’gfgeé from Stage 2 15,448 11 (13,562) (66) - . 15,448 12
Transfer from Stage 3
to Stage 1 30 - - - (25) 1) 30 -
Transfer from Stage 3
to Stage 2 - - 45 2 (54) 4) 45 2
Transfer from Stage 1
to Stage 1 (50) - - - 46 1 46 1
Transfer from Stage 2
0 Stage 3 - - (45) - 21 1 21 1
Currency effect on
contracts that 92 - 603 3 - - 695 3
change stage
Guarantee commitments
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 tranZ?ataflrscI
Outstanding Outstanding Outstanding outstanding
amounts subject amounts subject amounts subject amounts  Total impact
to impairment to impairment to impairment subject to of transfers
(In EUR m) and provisions _ Provisions and provisions _ Provisions  and provisions _ Provisions _impairment on provisions
ggz;eer fzrom Stage 1 (2,255) @ 638 13 ; ; 638 13
Transfer from Stage 2
to Stage 1 4,092 3 (2,617) (19) - - 4,092 3
Transfer from Stage 3
o Stage 1 128 - - - (96) - 128 -
Transfer from Stage 3
o Stage 2 - - 18 - (20) 3) 18 -
Transfer from Stage 1
o Stage 1 (60) - - - 48 12 48 12
gz’;zf;é from Stage 2 - - (113) @®) 100 16 100 16
Currency effect on
contracts that 60 - 86 1 - - 146 1

change stage
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4. QUALITATIVE INFORMATION OF CHANGES IN IMPAIRMENT/PROVISIONS ON CREDIT RISK

The variation of EUR -645 million in credit risk impairment and provisions since 31 December 2020 is mainly
linked to covered losses on Stage 3 loans (EUR 1 402 million) included in the line derecognition.

On 30 December 2020, covered losses on Stage 3 loans amounted to EUR 1 676 million. This is in line with
the Group strategy of non-performing loans (NPL) monitoring, by selling its portfolios of exposures in default
situation.

Uncovered losses amount to EUR 193 million.

Transfer of loans to Stage 2 due to downgraded ratings, transfer to watch list and 30 days overdue for
EUR 16.7 billion. This transfer was linked to the economic environment affected by the Covid-19 crisis
and resulted in an increase in impairment and provisions of EUR 378 million mainly including:

— 62% on Corporates portfolio, including 46% on SME,

— 37% on Retail portfolio, including 34% on VSB;

Transfer of loans to Stage 3 due to default for EUR 3.3 billion (EUR 4.9 billion at 31 December 2020) of
outstanding amounts. This transfer resulted in an increase in impairment and provisions of EUR 533
million mainly including:

— 45% on Corporates portfolio, including 50 % on SME,

— 53% on Retail portfolio, including 36 % on VSB;

Particularly, this variation concerns:

o EUR 1.3 billion of outstanding amounts for which the impairment and provisions amount to
EUR 296 million as at 31 December 2021. These contracts were in Stage 1 as at
31 December 2020,

o EUR 2.0 billion of outstanding amounts for which the impairment and provisions amount to
EUR 364 million as at 31 December 2021. These contracts were in Stage 2 as at
31 December 2020;

Transfer of loans from Stage 2 to Stage 1, particularly linked to the update of the list of sensitive sectors
impacted by the Covid-19 crisis (notably the exclusion from this list of the automotive, sea freight
transport, oil and gas, non-food retail sectors) for EUR 41.2 billion. This transfer resulted in a decrease
in impairment and provisions of EUR 342 million including:

— 67% on Corporates portfolio, including 25% on SME,
— 33% on Retail portfolio, including 37% on VSB.
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5. COST OF RISK

ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES

Cost of risk only includes net reversals of impairments and loss allowances for credit risk, losses on
irrecoverable loans and amounts recovered on amortised receivables.

The Group proceed to a write off by recognising a loss on the bad loan and a reversal of impairment in Cost
of risk when a debt is forgiven or when there are no longer any hopes of future recovery. The lack of future
hopes of recovery is documented when a certificate issued as proof that the debt is uncollectible is delivered
by the relevant authority or when strong circumstantial evidences are identified (years in default, provisions
at 100%, lack of recent recoveries, specificities of the case).

However, a write-off in accounting terms does not imply debt forgiveness in the legal sense as recovery
actions on cash due by the counterparty are pursued particularly if the latter’s fortune improve. In case of
recoveries on an exposure previously written-off, such recoveries are recognised as Amounts recovered on
irrecovrables loans on the year of collection.

The decrease in the cost of risk results from:
— for the outstanding loans classified in Stage 3, by the low level of default; and

— for the outstanding loans classified in Stage 1 et 2, by the impacts of the scenarios and weights
(see Note 1) used to determine the expected credit losses combined with the methodological
adjustments (described above), in particular by the possible time lag between the deterioration of the
quality of the credit portfolios and the deterioration in activity, the first one being delayed with respect to
the second one.

Furthermore, the cost of risk in 2020 included for the first time the impacts of the sanitary crisis, while the
cost of risk in 2021 has been determined in keeping with the vision adopted in 2020.

(In EUR m) 2021 2020

Net allocation to impairment losses (633) (2,951)
On financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income 1 -
On financial assets at amortised cost (634) (2,951)

Net allocations to provisions 9 (305)
On financing commitments 44 (149)
On guarantee commitments (35) (156)

Losses not covered on irrecoverable loans (193) (251)

Amounts recovered on irrecoverable loans 137 114

Effect from guarantee not taken into account for the calculation of impairment (20) 87

Total (700) (3,306)
o/w cost of risk on performing outstandings classified in Stage 1 (1200) (237)
o/w cost of risk on underperforming outstandings classified in Stage 2 350 (1,130)
o/w cost of risk on doubtful outstandings classified in Stage 3 (950) (1,939)
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NOTE 3.9 - FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS MEASURED AT
AMORTISED COST

ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES

DEFINITION OF FAIR VALUE

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the measurement date.

In the absence of observable prices for identical assets or liabilities, the fair value of financial instruments is
determined using another measurement technique that maximises the use of observable market inputs
based on assumptions that market operators would use to set the price of the instrument in question.

For financial instruments that are not recognised at fair value on the balance sheet, the figures disclosed in
this note and broken down according to the fair value hierarchy as described in Note 3.4, should not be
taken as an estimate of the amount that would be realised if all such financial instruments were to be settled
immediately.

The fair value of financial instruments includes accrued interest if applicable.

1. FINANCIAL ASSETS MEASURED AT AMORTISED COST

31.12.2021
Carrying
(In EUR m) amount Fair value Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Due from banks 55,972 55,971 - 39,759 16,212
Customer loans 497,164 497,336 - 206,266 291,070
Debt securities 19,371 19,203 6,391 10,307 2,505
Total 572,507 572,510 6,391 256,332 309,787
31.12.2020
Carrying
(In EUR m) amount Fair value Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Due from banks 53,380 53,394 - 38,373 15,021
Customer loans 448,761 450,923 - 153,933 296,990
Debt Securities 15,635 15,767 4,807 9,022 1,938
Total 517,776 520,084 4,807 201,328 313,949
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2. FINANCIAL LIABILITIES MEASURED AT AMORTISED COST

31.12.2021
Carrying
(In EUR m) amount Fair value Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Due to banks 139,177 139,186 113 136,510 2,562
Customer deposits 509,133 509,067 - 498,338 10,729
Debt securities issued 135,324 135,317 22,551 110,092 2,674
Subordinated debt 15,959 15,960 - 15,960 -
Total 799,593 799,530 22,664 760,900 15,965
31.12.2020
Carrying
(In EUR m) amount Fair value Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Due to banks 135,571 135,608 239 132,513 2,856
Customer deposits 456,059 456,119 - 446,520 9,599
Debt securities issued 138,957 138,985 20,920 117,809 256
Subordinated debt 15,432 15,435 - 15,435 -
Total 746,019 746,147 21,159 712,277 12,711

3. VALUATION METHODS OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS MEASURED AT AMORTISED COST

LOANS, RECEIVABLES AND LEASE FINANCING AGREEMENTS

The fair value of loans, receivables and lease financing transactions for large corporates and banks is
calculated, in the absence of an actively traded market for these loans, by discounting expected cash flows
to present value based on the market rates (the benchmark actuarial rate published by Banque de France
and the zero-coupon yield) prevailing on the balance sheet date for loans with broadly similar terms and
maturities. These discount rates are adjusted for borrower credit risk.

The fair value of loans, receivables and lease financing transactions for retail banking customers, essentially
comprised of individuals and small or medium-sized companies, is determined, in the absence of an actively
traded market for these loans, by discounting the associated expected cash flows to present value at the
market rates prevailing on the balance sheet date for similar types of loans with similar maturities.

For floating-rates loans, receivables and lease financing transactions and fixed-rate loans with an initial
maturity of less than or equal to one year, fair value is taken to be the same as the gross carrying amount
adjusted for any allowance, assuming there has been no significant change in credit spreads on the
counterparties in question since they were recognised in the balance sheet.

DEBTS

The fair value of debts, in the absence of an actively traded market for these liabilities, is taken to be the
same as the value of future cash flows discounted to present value at the market rates prevailing on the
balance sheet date. When the debt is a listed instrument, its fair value is its market value.

When the debt is a listed instrument, its fair value is its market value.

For debts with a floating-rate and debts with an initial maturity of less than or equal to one year, fair value is
taken to be the same as the carrying amount. Similarly, the individual fair value of demand deposit accounts
is equal to their carrying amount.
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SECURITIES

Provided that the security is an instrument traded on an active market, its fair value is equal to the
market price.

If no active market exists, the fair value of the securities is calculated by discounting expected cash flows to
present value based on the market rates. For variable-rate debt securities and fixed-rate debt securities with
an agreed duration of up to one year, the fair value is assumed to be the gross carrying amount adjusted
for any allowance provided there have been no significant change in credit spreads on the counterparties in
guestion since they were recognised in the balance sheet.
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NOTE 3.10 - COMMITMENTS AND ASSETS PLEDGED AND RECEIVED
AS SECURITIES

ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES

LOAN COMMITMENTS

Loan commitments that are not considered as financial derivatives or that are not measured at fair value
through profit or loss for trading purpose are initially recognised at fair value. Thereafter, they are provisioned
as necessary in accordance with the accounting principles for impairment and provisions (see Note 3.8).

GUARANTEE COMMITMENTS

When considered as non-derivative financial instruments, the financial guarantees issued by the Group are
initially recognised in the balance sheet at fair value. Thereafter, they are measured at either the amount of
the obligation or the amount initially recognised (whichever is higher) less, when appropriate, the cumulative
amortisation of a guarantee commission. Where there is objective evidence of impairment, a provision for
financial guarantees given is recognised on the liabilities side of the balance sheet (see Note 3.8).

SECURITIES COMMITMENTS

Securities bought and sold, which are booked to Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, Financial
assets at fair value through other comprehensive income and Financial assets at amortised cost are
recognised on the balance sheet at the settlement-delivery date. Between the trade date and the settlement-
delivery date, securities receivable or deliverable are not recognised on the balance sheet. Changes in the
fair value of the securities measured at fair value through profit or loss and the securities measured at fair
value through other comprehensive income between the trade date and the settlement-delivery date are
booked to profit or loss or to equity, depending on the accounting classification of the securities in question.

1. COMMITMENTS

COMMITMENTS GRANTED

(In EUR m) 31.12.2021 31.12.2020

Loan commitments

To banks 60,870 45,707

To customers 200,224 194,890
Issuance facilities 83 83
Confirmed credit lines 185,065 185,061
Others 15,076 9,746

Guarantee commitments

On behalf of banks 5,279 4,541

On behalf of customers @ 74,433 59,297

Securities commitments

Securities to be delivered 32,999 26,387

Acquisition of tangible assets commitments

Purchase of vehicles and equipments subject to an operating lease 4,682 2,641

(1) Including capital and performance guarantees given to the holders of UCITS managed by entities of the Group.
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COMMITMENTS RECEIVED

31.12.2021 31.12.2020

(In EUR m)

Loan commitments

From banks 69,878 78,577
Guarantee commitments

From banks 121,852 114,035
Other commitments @ 161,679 139,289
Securities commitments

Securities to be received 35,391 28,148

(1) These commitments include as at 31 December 2021 the guarantee granted by French government related to the
State Guaranteed Loans (see Note 1.6).

2. FINANCIAL ASSETS PLEDGED AND RECEIVED AS SECURITY

FINANCIAL ASSETS PLEDGED

31.12.2021 31.12.2020

(In EUR m)

Book value of assets pledged as security for liabilities () 331,262 330,730
Book value of assets pledged as security for transactions in financial instruments @ 85,822 62,308
Book value of assets pledged as security for off-balance sheet commitments 2,715 2,106
Total 419,799 395,144

(1) Assets pledged as security for liabilities mainly include loans given as guarantees for liabilities (guarantees notably
provided to the central banks).

(2) Assets pledged as security for transactions in financial instruments mainly include security deposits.

FINANCIAL ASSETS RECEIVED AS SECURITY AND AVAILABLE FOR THE ENTITY

(In EUR m) 31.12.2021 31.12.2020

Fair value of securities purchased under resale agreements * 100,327 139,077

*  Amounts restated compared to the financial statements published for 2020 to take account of the repurchase
agreements delivered measured at amortised cost.

The Group generally purchases securities under resale agreements under normal market terms and
conditions. It may re-use the securities received under resale agreement by selling them outright, selling
them under repurchase agreements or pledging them as security, provided that it returns these or equivalent
securities to the counterparty to the resale agreement at its term. Securities purchased under resale
agreements are not recognised on the balance sheet. Their fair value, as shown above, includes securities
sold or pledged as collateral.
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NOTE 3.11 - TRANSFERRED FINANCIAL ASSETS

ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES

Transferred financial assets that are not derecognised include securities lending transactions and
repurchase agreements as well as certain loans transferred to consolidated securitisation vehicles.

The tables below show securities lending and repurchase agreements that only concern securities
recognised on the asset side of the balance sheet.

Securities involved in a repurchase agreement or securities lending transaction are held in their original
position on the asset side of the Group’s balance sheet. For repurchase agreements, the obligation to return
the amounts deposited is recorded under Liabilities on the liabilities side of the balance sheet, with the
exception of the transactions initiated under trading activities, which are recorded under Financial liabilities
at fair value through profit or loss.

Securities involved in a reverse repurchase agreement or a securities borrowing transaction are not
recorded in the Group’s balance sheet. For securities received under a reverse repurchase agreement, the
right to recover the amounts delivered by the Group is recorded under Customer Loans and receivables or
Due from banks on the asset side of the balance sheet, with the exception of transactions initiated under
trading activities which are recorded under Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss. If the
borrowed securities are subsequently sold, a debt representing the return of these securities to their lender
is recorded on the liabilities side of the Group’s balance sheet, under Financial liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss.

Securities lending and securities borrowing transactions that are fully matched by cash are assimilated to
repurchase and reverse repurchase agreements and are recorded and recognised as such in the balance
sheet.

With securities lending and repurchase agreements, the Group remains exposed to issuer default
(credit risk) and to increases or decreases in the value of securities value (market risk). The underlying
securities cannot simultaneously be used as collateral in other transactions.

1. TRANSFERRED FINANCIAL ASSETS NOT DERECOGNISED

REPURCHASE AGREEMENTS

31.12.2021 31.12.2020

Carrying Carrying Carrying Carrying

amount of amount of amount of amount of

transferred associated transferred associated

(In EUR m) assets liabilities assets liabilities

Securities at fair value through profit or loss 18,705 15,304 23,375 18,827

Securities at_falr_value through other 11,251 9,062 12,410 9.913
comprehensive income

Total 29,956 24,366 35,785 28,740
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SECURITIES LENDING

31.12.2021 31.12.2020

Carrying Carrying Carrying Carrying

amount of amount of amount of amount of

transferred associated transferred associated

(In EUR m) assets liabilities assets liabilities

Securities at fair value through profit or loss 14,373 - 11,067 -

Securities at.fal(value through other 241 i 170 i
comprehensive income

Securities at amortised cost 8 = - -

Total 14,622 - 11,237 -

SECURITISATION ASSETS FOR WHICH THE COUNTERPARTIES TO THE ASSOCIATED LIABILITIES HAVE
RECOURSE ONLY TO THE TRANSFERRED ASSETS

(In EUR m) 31.12.2021 31.12.2020
Customers loans

Carrying amount of transferred assets 5,461 3,658
Carrying amount of associated liabilities 4977 3,248
Fair value of transferred assets (A) 5,628 3,724
Fair value of associated liabilities (B) 4,991 3,263
Net position (A)-(B) 637 461

The Group remains exposed to the majority of the risks and rewards associated with these receivables;
furthermore, these receivables may not be used as collateral or sold outright as part of another transaction.

2. TRANSFERRED FINANCIAL ASSETS PARTIALLY OR FULLY DERECOGNISED

As at 31 December 2021, the Group carried out no material transactions resulting in the partial or full
derecognition of financial assets leaving the Group with a continuing involvement in said assets.
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NOTE 3.12 - OFFSETTING FINANCIAL ASSETS AND FINANCIAL
LIABILITIES

ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES

A financial asset and a financial liability are offset and the net amount presented on the balance sheet when
the Group has a legally enforceable right to set off the recognised amounts and intends either to settle the
asset and liability on a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. The legal right
to set off the recognised amounts must be enforceable in all circumstances, in both the normal course of
business and in the event of default of one of the counterparties. In this respect, the Group recognises in its
balance sheet the net amount of derivative financial instruments traded with certain clearing houses where
they achieve net settlement through a daily cash margining process, or where their gross settlement system
has features that eliminate or result in insignificant credit and liquidity risk, and that process receivables and
payables in a single settlement process or cycle.

The following tables present the amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities set off on the Group’s
consolidated balance sheet. The gross outstanding amounts of these financial assets and financial liabilities
are matched with the consolidated outstanding amounts presented in the balance sheet (net balance sheet
amounts), after indicating the amounts set off on the balance sheet for these various instruments
(amounts offset) and aggregating them with the outstanding amounts of other financial assets and financial
liabilities not subject to a Master Netting Agreement or similar agreement (amounts of assets and liabilities
not eligible for offsetting).

These tables also indicate the amounts which may be offset, as they are subject to a Master Netting
Agreement or similar agreement, but whose characteristics make them ineligible for offsetting in the
consolidated financial statements under IFRS. This information is provided in comparison with the
accounting treatment applied under US GAAP. This affects in particular financial instruments that may only
be offset in the event of the default, insolvency or bankruptcy of one of the counterparties, as well as
instruments pledged by cash or securities collateral. These mainly include over-the-counter interest rate
options, interest rate swaps and securities purchased/sold under resale/repurchase agreements.

Net positions resulting from these various offsettings are not intended to represent the Group’s actual
exposure to counterparty risk through these financial instruments, insofar as counterparty risk management
uses other risk mitigation strategies in addition to netting and collateral agreements.
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1. AT 31 DECEMBER 2021

ASSETS
Impact of offsetting on Impact of Master Netting Agreements
the balance sheet (MNA) and similar agreements @
Net Financial
amount instruments
Amount of presented recognised Financial
assets not on the in the Cash instruments
subject to Gross Amount balance balance collateral pledged as Net
(In EUR m) offsetting amount offset sheet sheet pledged collateral amount
Derivative financial instruments
(see Notes 3.1 and 3.2) 17,748 176,550 (80,704) 113,594 (70,403) (13,415) (129) 29,647
Securities lent 7,210 7,413 - 14,623 (6,266) - - 8,357
Securities purchased under resale
agreements (see Notes 3.1 and 3.5) 27,841 168,315 (95,828) 100,328 (9,925) (511) (38,360) 51,532
Guarantee deposits pledged : : )
(see Note 4.4) 63,074 14,510 77,584 (14,510) 63,074
Other assets not subject to offsetting 1,158,320 - - 1,158,320 - - - 1,158,320
Total 1,274,193 366,788  (176,532) 1,464,449 (86,594) (28,436) (38,489) 1,310,930
LIABILITIES
Impact of offsetting on Impact of Master Netting Agreements
the balance sheet (MNA) and similar agreements @
Net Financial
Amount of amount instruments
liabilities presented recognised Financial
not subject on the in the Cash instruments
to Gross Amount balance balance collateral received as Net
(In EUR m) offsetting amount offset sheet sheet received collateral amount
Derivative financial instruments
(see Notes 3.1 and 3.2) 22,503 175,233 (80,704) 117,032 (70,404) (14,510) - 32,118
Amount payable on borrowed securities 28,647 17,174 R 45821 (6,266) : ) 39,555
(see Note 3.1)
Securities sold under repurchase
agreements (see Notes 3.1 and 3.6) 27,794 162,950 (95,828) 94,916 (9,925) - (35,158) 49,833
Guarantee deposits received 58742 13,926 - 72668 - (13,926) - 58742
(see Note 4.4)
Other liabilities not subject to offsetting 1,063,149 - - 1,063,149 - - - 1,063,149
Total 1,200,835 369,283  (176,532) 1,393,586 (86,595) (28,436) (35,158) 1,243,397

(1) Fair value of financial instruments and collateral, capped at the net book value of the balance sheet exposure, so
as to avoid any over-collateralisation effect.
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2. AT 31 DECEMBER 2020

ASSETS
Impact of offsetting on Impact of Master Netting Agreements
the balance sheet (MNA) and similar agreements *
Net Financial
amount instruments
Amount of presented recognised Financial
assets not on the in the Cash instruments
subject to Gross Amount balance balance collateral pledged as Net
(In EUR m) offsetting amount offset sheet sheet pledged collateral amount
Derivative financial instruments
(see Notes 3.1 and 3.2) * 26,495 277,956  (149,790) 154,661 (103,294) (18,599) - 32,768
Securities lent * 7,333 3,909 - 11,242 (1,677) %) (91) 9,472
Securities purchased under resale
agreements (see Notes 3.1 and 3.5) * 47,044 172,751 (80,718) 139,077 (9,170) (183) (49,288) 80,436
Guarantee deposits pledged 36,530 15,366 . 51,896 - (15.366) ; 36,530
(see Note 4.4)
Other assets not subject to offsetting * 1,087,528 - - 1,087,528 - - - 1,087,528
Total * 1,204,930 469,982  (230,508) 1,444,404 (114,141) (34,150) (49,379) 1,246,734
LIABILITIES
Impact of offsetting on Impact of Master Netting Agreements
the balance sheet (MNA) and similar agreements *
Net Financial
amount instruments
Amount of presented recognised Financial
assets not on the in the Cash instruments
subject to Gross Amount balance balance collateral received as Net
(In EUR m) offsetting amount offset sheet sheet received collateral amount
Derivative financial instrument
(see Notes 3.1 and 3.2) * 27,401 276,484  (149,790) 154,095 (103,294) (15,366) - 35,435
Amount payable on borrowed securities 23,038 0127 R 32,165 (1,677) : ) 30,488
(see Note 3.1)
Securities sold under repurchase
agreements (see Notes 3.1 and 3.6) * 53,689 156,297 (80,718) 129,268 (9,170) - (44,210) 75,888
Guarantee deposits received 36,955 18,784 - 55739 - (18,784 - 36955
(see Note 4.4)
Other liabilities not subject to offsetting * 1,006,125 - - 1,006,125 - - - 1,006,125
Total * 1,147,208 460,962  (230,508) 1,377,992 (114,141) (34,150) (44,210) 1,184,891

*  Amounts restated compared to the financial statements published for 2020 (see Note 1 paragraph 7).

(1) Fairvalue of financial instruments and collateral, capped at the net book value of the balance sheet exposure, so as
to avoid any over-collateralisation effect.
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NOTE 3.13 - CONTRACTUAL MATURITIES OF FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

Upto 3 months 1to Morethan 31.12.2021
(In EUR m) 3 months  to1year 5 Years 5 years
Due to central banks 5,152 - - - 5,152
IFolgsnmal liabilities at fair value through profit or 209,039 27,078 35,872 35,574 307,563
Due to banks 57,174 4,185 76,106 1,712 139,177
Customer deposits 470,890 15,244 16,568 6,431 509,133
Debt securities issued 89,671 12,164 19,040 14,449 135,324
Subordinated debts 7,735 61 3,649 4,514 15,959
Other liabilities 98,035 2,241 3,023 3,006 106,305
Total liabilities 937,696 60,973 154,258 65,686 1,218,613
Loan commitments granted and others @ 102,088 35,967 101,775 25,945 265,775
Guarantee commitments granted 34,361 18,147 11,026 16,178 79,712
Total commitments granted 136,449 54,114 112,801 42,123 345,487

(1) This line includes commitments relating to the purchase of vehicles and underlying equipments subject to an

operating lease.

The flows presented in this note are based on contractual maturities. However, for certain elements of the

balance sheet, assumptions could be applied.

When there are no contractual terms, as well as for trading financial instruments (e.g.: derivatives),

maturities are presented in the first column (up to 3 months).

The guarantee commitments given are scheduled on the basis of the best possible estimate of disposal;
if not available, they are presented in the first column (up to 3 months).
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NOTE 4 - OTHER ACTIVITIES

NOTE 4.1 - FEE INCOME AND EXPENSE

ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES

Fee income and Fee expense combine fees on services rendered and received, as well as fees on
commitments, that cannot be assimilated to interest. Fees that can be assimilated to interest are integrated
into the effective interest rate on the associated financial instrument and are recorded under Interest and
similar income and Interest and similar expense (see Note 3.7).

Transactions with customers include the fees from retail customers from the Group retail banking activities
(in particular credit card fees, account management fees or application fees outside the effective interest
rate).

Sundry services provided include the fees from customers from the other Group activities (in particular,
interchange fees, funds management fees or fees on insurance products sold within the network).

The Group recognises fee income or expense for an amount equivalent to the remuneration for the service
provided and depending on the progress transferring control of these services:

= fees for ongoing services, such as some payment services, custody fees, or digital service subscriptions
are recognised as income over the life of the service;

= fees for one-off services, such as fund activity, finder's fees received, arbitrage fees, or penalties on
payment incidents are recognised as income when the service is provided.

The amount equivalent to the remuneration for the service provided is composed of fixed and variable
contractual compensation whether they are paid in kind or in cash, less any payments due to customers
(for example, in case of promotional offers). The variable compensation (for example, discounts based on
the provided services volume over a period of time or fees payable subject to the achievement of a
performance target, etc.) are included in the amount equivalent to the remuneration for the service provided
if and only if this compensation is highly probable not to be subsequently reduced significantly.

The possible mismatch between the payment date of the service provided and the date of execution of the
service gives assets and liabilities depending on the type of contract and mismatch which are recognised
under Other Assets and Other Liabilities (see Note 4.4):

= customer contracts generate trade receivables, accrued income or prepaid income;
= supplier contracts generate trade payables, accrued expenses or prepaid expenses.

In syndication deals, the effective interest rate for the share of the issuance retained on the Group’s balance
sheet is comparable to that applied to the other members of the syndicate including, when needed, a share
of the underwriting fees and patrticipation fees; the balance of these fees for services rendered is then
recorded under Fee income at the end of the syndication period. Arrangement fees are recorded as income
when the placement is legally complete.
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2021 2020

(In EUR m) Income Expense Net Income Expense Net

Transactions with banks 161 (107) 54 159 (108) 51
Transactions with customers 3,028 3,028 2,820 2,820
Financial instruments operations 2,288 (2,379) (91) 2,208 (2,215) (@)
Securities transactions 532 (1,105) (573) 503 (1,042) (539)
Primary market transactions 213 213 203 203
;Z:?L?Tr:e%ghange transactions and derivatives 1,543 (1,274) 269 1,502 (1,173) 329
Loan and guarantee commitments 894 (261) 633 795 (271) 524
Various services 2,791 (2,095) 1,696 2,547 (1,018) 1,529
Asset management fees 659 659 613 613
Means of payment fees 921 921 795 795
Insurance product fees 256 256 260 260
Underwriting fees of UCITS 93 93 77 77
Other fees 862 (1,095) (233) 802 (1,018) (216)
Total 9,162 (3,842) 5,320 8,529 (3,612) 4,917
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NOTE 4.2 - INCOME AND EXPENSE FROM OTHER ACTIVITIES

ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES

LEASING ACTIVITIES

Leases granted by the Group which do not transfer to the lessee virtually all the risks and benefits associated
with ownership of the leased asset are classified as operating leases.

Assets held under operating leases, including investment property, are recorded on the balance sheet under
Tangible and intangible fixed assets at their acquisition cost, less depreciation and impairment
(see Note 8.4).Leased assets are depreciated, excluding residual value, over the life of the lease; the latter
corresponds to the non-cancellable lease term adjusted for any option to extend the contract that the lessee
is reasonably certain to exercise and any early termination options that the lessee is reasonably certain not
to exercise (see Note 8.4) .

Lease payments are recognised as income according to the straight-line method over the term of the lease.
Meanwhile, the purpose of the accounting treatment of the income from invoices for maintenance services
related to operating leases is to reflect, over the term of the service agreement, a constant margin between
this income and the expenses incurred in providing the service.

Income and expenses, and capital gains or losses on investment properties and leased assets, as well as
income and expense on maintenance services related to operating lease activities, are recorded under
Income and expenses from other activities on the Real estate leasing and Equipment leasing lines.

These lines also include the losses incurred in the event of a decline in the unguaranteed residual value of
finance-lease transactions, and the capital gains or losses on disposal related to unleased assets once the
lease finance agreements are terminated.

The leases granted by the Group entities may include the maintenance service of the leased equipment.
In this case, the portion of rentals corresponding to this maintenance service is spread over the duration of
the service (generally the lease contract duration) and, when necessary, considers the progress of the
service provided when it is not linear.

REAL ESTATE DEVELOPMENT ACTIVITIES

As the sale of real estate off plan (housing, office property, retail areas, etc.) is an ongoing service,
the margin of this activity is progressively recognised over the construction programme’s duration until the
delivery date to the customer. It is recognised under income when this margin is positive and under
expenses when this margin is negative.

The margin recognised at each closing period reflects the programme’s estimated margin forecast and its
stage of completion at the end of the period which depends on the progress in terms of marketing and the
project.

2021 2020
(In EUR m) Income Expense Net Income Expense Net
Real estate development 79 - 79 65 Q) 64
Real estate leasing 40 (56) (16) 37 (23) 14
Equipment leasing ® 11,630 (9,532) 2,098 10,933 (9,248) 1,685
Other activities 488 (850) (362) 436 (451) (15)
Total 12,237 (10,438) 1,799 11,471 (9,723) 1,748

(1) The amount recorded under this heading is mainly due to income and expenses related to long-term leasing and
car fleet management businesses. Most of the Group’s long-term lease agreements are 36-month to 48-month
leases.
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NOTE 4.3 - INSURANCE ACTIVITIES

DEFERRED APPLICATION OF IFRS 9 BY INSURANCE SUBSIDIARIES

The amendments to IFRS 17 and IFRS 4 published by IASB on 25 June 2020 as well as the regulation (EU)
2020/2097 published by the European commission on 15 December 2020 allow financial conglomerates
falling within the scope of Directive 2002/87/EC to defer until 1 January 2023 the implementation of IFRS 9
by their entities belonging to the insurance sector.

The Group has therefore maintained the decision that all its insurance subsidiaries will defer the effective
date of IFRS 9 and will continue to apply IAS 39 as adopted by the European Union.

The Group maintained the necessary arrangements to forbid all transfers of financial instruments between
its insurance sector and any other sector in the Group that would lead to a derecognition of the instrument
by the seller, except for transfers of financial instruments measured at fair value through profit or loss by
both sectors involved in such transfers.

In accordance with the ANC recommendation of 2 June 2017 related to the consolidated statements of
banking institutions with the international accounting standards, separate lines in the consolidated financial
statements for clarification purposes: Investments of insurance activities under balance sheet assets,
Insurance contracts related liabilities under balance sheet liabilities and Net income from insurance activities
under Net banking income in the income statement.

The main subsidiaries concerned are Sogécap, Antarius, Sogelife, Oradea Vie, Komercni Pojistovna A.S.
and Sogessur.

1. INSURANCE CONTRACTS RELATED LIABILITIES

ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES

Underwriting reserves correspond to the commitments of insurance companies with respect to policyholders
and the beneficiaries of policies.

In accordance with IFRS 4 on insurance contracts, life and non-life underwriting reserves continue to be
measured under the same local regulations, with the exception of certain prudential provisions that are
cancelled (liquidity risk provision) or recalculated economically (mainly, overall management reserve).

Risks covered by non-life insurance policies are principally linked to home, car and accident protection
guarantees. Underwriting reserves comprise reserves for unearned premiums (share of premium income
relating to subsequent financial years) and for outstanding claims.

Risks covered by life insurance policies are principally death, invalidity and incapacity for work.
Life insurance underwriting reserves mainly comprise actuarial reserves, which correspond to the difference
between the present value of commitments falling to the insurer and those falling to the policyholder, and the
reserve for claims incurred but not settled.
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In saving-life insurance products:

= underwriting reserves of saving-life insurance contracts invested in EUR-denominated policies with profit
sharing clauses consist primarily of mathematical provisions and provisions for profit-sharing;

= underwriting reserves of saving-life insurance contracts invested in unit-linked policies or with
a significant insurance clause (mortality, invalidity, etc.) are measured at the inventory date according to
the realisation value of the assets underlying these contracts.

Under the principles defined in IFRS 4, and in compliance with local regulations applicable with respect
thereto, life insurance policies with discretionary profit-sharing features are subject to “mirror accounting”,
whereby any changes in the value of financial assets liable to affect policyholders are recorded in Deferred
profit-sharing. This reserve is calculated to reflect the potential rights of policyholders to unrealised gains on
financial instruments measured at fair value or their potential share of unrealised losses.

To demonstrate the recoverability of the deferred profit-sharing asset in the event of an unrealised net loss,
two approaches are verified by the Group in order to show that the liquidity requirements caused by an
unfavourable economic environment would not require assets to be sold in the event of unrealised losses:

= the first approach consists in simulating deterministic (“standardised” or extreme) stress scenarios.
This is used to show that in these scenarios no significant losses would be realised on the assets existing
at the balance sheet date for the scenarios tested;

= the aim of the second approach is to ensure that in the long or medium term, the sale of assets to meet
liquidity needs would not generate any significant losses. The approach is verified considering
projections based on extreme scenarios.

Moreover, a Liability Adequacy Test (LAT) is also carried out quarterly at the level of each consolidated
entities operating in the insurance. This test involves comparing the carrying amount of insurance liabilities
with the average economic value using a stochastic model of future cash flows. This test takes into account
all of the future cash flows from policies, including benefits, management charges, fees, policy options and
guarantees related to the contracts; It does not include future premiums. If the test concludes that the book
value is insufficient, the value of insurance liabilities will be adjusted with a corresponding entry in the income
statement.

CLASSIFICATION OF FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

At initial recognition, financial liabilities resulting from the Group’s insurance activities are classified in the

following accounting categories:

= financial liabilities measured at fair value through profit or loss: these are derivative financial liabilities;

= financial liabilities measured at fair value option through profit or loss: these are non-derivative financial
liabilities that were initially designated by the Group to be measured at fair value through profit or loss
(using the option). These include investment contracts without both discretionary profit-sharing clauses
and insurance component, that do not meet the definition of an insurance contract under IFRS 4 (unit-
linked insurance contracts only) and are thus governed by IAS 39.
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BREAKDOWN

(In EUR m) 31.12.2021 31.12.2020
Underwriting reserves of insurance companies 151,148 142,106
Financial liabilities of insurance companies 4,140 4,020
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 520 583
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss (fair value option) 3,620 3,437
Total 155,288 146,126
UNDERWRITING RESERVES OF INSURANCE COMPANIES
(In EUR m) 31.12.2021 31.12.2020
Life insurance underwriting reserves for unit-linked policies 44,138 35,794
Other life insurance underwriting reserves 94,280 92,620
Non-life insurance underwriting reserves 2,020 1,834
Deferred profit-sharing booked in liabilities 10,710 11,858
Total 151,148 142,106
Attributable to reinsurers (776) (749)
Underwriting reserves of insurance net of the share attributable to reinsurers 150,372 141,357

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN UNDERWRITING RESERVES EXCLUDING DEFERRED PROFIT SHARING

Life insurance

underwriting Other life Non-life

reserves for insurance insurance

unit-linked  underwriting  underwriting

(In EUR m) policies reserves reserves
Reserves at 1 January 2021 35,794 92,620 1,834
Allocation to insurance reserves 2,343 1,073 193
Revaluation of unit-linked policies 3,923 - -
Charges deducted from unit-linked policies (267) - -
Transfers and allocation adjustments 668 (668) -
New customers 1,372 849 -
Profit-sharing 270 1,046 -
Others 35 (640) (7
Reserves at 31 December 2021 44,138 94,280 2,020

In accordance with IFRS 4 and Group accounting standards, the Liability Adequacy Test (LAT) was
performed as at 31 December 2021. This test assesses whether recognised insurance liabilities are
adequate, using current estimates of future cash flows under insurance policies. The result of the test as at
31 December 2021 does not show any insufficiency of technical liabilities.
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UNDERWRITING RESERVES OF INSURANCE COMPANIES BY REMAINING MATURITY

Upto 3 months 1to Morethan 31122021

(In EUR m) 3 months to 1 year 5years 5years
Underwriting reserves of insurance companies 14,952 9,963 39,726 86,507 151,148

2. INVESTMENTS OF INSURANCE ACTIVITIES

ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES

CLASSIFICATION OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

When initially recognised, financial assets from Group insurance activities are classified into one of the
following four categories:

= financial assets at fair value through profit or loss: these are financial assets held for trading purposes
(see definition in Note 3.1), which by default include derivative financial assets not qualifying as hedging
instruments and non-derivative financial assets designated by the insurance entity upon initial
recognition to be carried at fair value through profit or loss (using the option). In particular, insurance
entities measure at fair value using the option the financial assets representing unit-linked contracts in
order to eliminate the accounting mismatch with the related insurance liabilities, as well as interests in
UCITS over which a significant influence exists;

= available-for-sale financial assets: these are non-derivative financial assets held for an indeterminate
period, which the insurance entity may sell at any time. By default, they are any assets that do not fall
into one of the one of the other categories. These instruments are measured at fair value against
Unrealised or deferred gains and losses. Interests accrued or paid on debt securities are recognised in
profit or loss using the effective interest rate method while dividend income earned on equity securities
is recorded under Net gains and losses on available-for-sale financial assets. If there is an objective
evidence on an individual basis, the total accumulated unrealised loss previously recorded in
shareholders’ equity is reclassified in profit or loss under Net Income from insurance activities;

= loans and receivables: these include non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments
that are not quoted in an active market and are not held for trading purposes, not held for sale from the
time they are originated or acquired, and not designated upon initial recognition to be carried at fair value
through profit or loss (in accordance with the fair value option). They are measured at amortised cost,
and impairment, determined on an individual basis, may be recorded if appropriate;

= held-to-maturity financial assets: these are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable
payments and a fixed maturity, that are quoted in an active market and which the Group has the intention
and ability to hold to maturity. They are measured at their amortised cost and may be subject to
impairment as appropriate whether objective evidence of impairment exists individually.

All these categories are presented on the insurance entity's balance sheet under the Investments of
insurance companies, which also includes investment properties held by insurance entities and hedge
derivatives assessed in accordance with the accounting principles respectively presented in Note 8.4
and Note 3.2.

RECLASSIFICATION OF FINANCIAL ASSETS

After their initial recognition, financial assets may not be later reclassified as Financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss.

A non-derivative financial asset initially recognised under Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
as an asset held for trading purposes may only be reclassified out of this category under specific conditions
framed by IAS 39 standard.
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Impairment of financial assets measured at amortised cost

For debt instruments not measured at fair value through net income, the criteria used by the insurance
entity’s insurance entities to assess individually objective evidence of impairment include the following
conditions:

a significant decline in the counterparty’s financial situation leads to a high probability of said counterparty
being unable to fulfil its overall commitments, implying then a risk of loss for the insurance entity
(the appreciation of this deterioration can be based on the evolution of the rating of the issuers or the
variations of the credit spreads changes observed on these markets);

the occurrence of late payment of coupons and more generally of arrears of more than 90 days;

or, regardless of whether or not any past-due payments are recorded. There is objective evidence of
impairment or legal proceedings have been initiated (bankruptcy, legal settlement, compulsory
liquidation).
If there is objective evidence that loans or other receivables, or financial assets classified as held-to-maturity
financial assets, are impaired, an impairment is recognised for the difference between the carrying amount
and the present value of estimated future recoverable cash flows, taking into account any guarantees.
This discount is calculated using the financial assets’ original effective interest rate. The amount of this
impairment is deducted from the carrying value of the impaired financial asset.

The allocations and reversals of impairments are recorded under net income from investments in the Net
income from insurance activities. The impaired loans or receivables are remunerated for accounting
purposes by the reversal over time of the discounting to present value, which is recorded under interest
income in the Net income from insurance activities.

Impairment of available-for-sale financial assets

An available-for-sale financial asset is impaired if there is objective evidence of impairment as a result of
one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition of this asset.

For listed equity instruments, a significant or prolonged decline in their price below their acquisition cost
constitutes objective evidence of impairment. For this purpose, insurance entities consider as impaired listed
shares showing an unrealised loss greater than 50% of their acquisition price on the balance sheet date, as
well as listed shares for which the quoted prices have been below their acquisition price on every trading
day for at least the last 24 months before the balance sheet date. Further factors, such as the financial
situation of the issuer or its development outlook, can lead the insurance entities to consider that the cost
of its investment may not be recovered even if the abovementioned criteria are not met. An impairment loss
is then recorded through net income equal to the difference between the last quoted price of the security on
the balance sheet date and its acquisition price.

For unlisted equity instruments, the criteria used to assess the evidence of impairment are identical to those
mentioned above. The value of these instruments at the balance sheet date is determined using the
valuation methods described in Note 3.4.

The criteria for the impairment of debt instruments are similar to those for the impairment of financial assets
measured at amortised cost.

When a decline in the fair value of an available-for-sale financial asset has been recognised directly in
shareholders’ equity under Unrealised or deferred gains and losses and subsequent objective evidence of
impairment emerges, insurance entities recognise the total accumulated unrealised loss previously recorded
in shareholders’ equity in the income statement among under net income from investments in the Net
income from insurance activities for equity instruments and under Cost of risk for debt instruments.

This cumulative loss is measured as the difference between the acquisition cost (net of any repayments of
principal and amortisation) and the present fair value, less any impairment of the financial asset that has
already been recorded through profit or loss.

Impairment losses recognised through profit or loss on an equity instrument classified as available-for-sale
are only reversed through profit or loss when the instrument is sold. Once an equity instrument has been
recognised as impaired, any further loss of value is recorded as an additional impairment loss. For debt
instruments, however, an impairment loss is reversed through profit or loss if they subsequently recover in
value following an improvement in the issuer’s credit risk.
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OTHER ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES

Accounting principles relative to fair value, initial recognition of financial instruments, derecognition of
financial instruments, derivative financial instruments, interest income and expense, transferred financial
assets and offsetting of financial instruments are similar to those described in Note 3 “Financial instruments”.

OVERVIEW
(In EUR m) 31.12.2021 31.12.2020
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (trading portfolio) 211 201
Shares and other equity instruments 36 51
Trading derivatives 175 240
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (fair value option) 84,448 70,422
Bonds and other debt instruments 34,280 32,178
Shares and other equity instruments 49,592 37,942
Loans, receivables and repo transactions 576 302
Hedging derivatives 353 438
Available-for-sale financial assets 88,486 89,755
Debt instruments 74,084 75,662
Equity instruments 14,402 14,093
Due from banks @ 4,771 5,301
Customer loans 69 76
Held-to-maturity financial assets 22 32
Real estate investments 538 539
Total investments of insurance activities () @ 178,898 166,854

(1) Investments in other Group companies that are made in representation of unit-linked liabilities are kept in the

Group’s consolidated balance sheet without any significant impact thereon.

(2) o/w EUR 1,207 million of current accounts as at 31 December 2021 vs. EUR 897 million as at 31 December 2020.
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ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL ASSETS DEPENDING ON THEIR CONTRACTUAL CHARACTERISTICS

The following table shows the carrying value of the financial assets included in Net investments from
insurance activities, whereby those assets whose contractual conditions give rise to cash-flows on set dates
which are solely payments of principal and interest (basic instruments). Basic instruments held among
a trading portfolio or those managed and whose performance is evaluated on a fair value basis (i.e., financial
instruments measured at fair value through profit or loss using fair value option) are presented in the column
Other instruments.

31.12.2021
Carrying amount Fair value
Basic Other Basic Other
(In EUR m) instruments  instruments Total instruments instruments Total
Financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss ) e e ) e ehEE
Hedging derivatives - 353 353 - 353 353
Qg’sggb'e'for'sa'e financial 71,537 16,949 88,486 71,537 16,949 88,486
Due from banks 2,559 2,212 4771 2,717 2,265 4,982
Customer loans 69 - 69 70 - 70
Zseslgitso-maturlty financial 29 ) 22 22 _ 29
Lo\f:'stfr';‘ggfs'a' 74,187 104,173 178,360 74,346 104,226 178,572
31.12.2020
Carrying amount Fair value
Basic Other Basic Other
. . Total . . Total
(In EUR m) instruments  instruments instruments  instruments
Financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss . 70,713 70,713 ) 70,713 70,713
Hedging derivatives - 438 438 - 438 438
ngggb'e'for'sa'e financial 72,253 17,502 89,755 72,253 17,502 89,755
Due from banks 2,398 2,903 5,301 2,602 2,997 5,599
Customer loans 76 - 76 76 - 76
:seslgitso-maturlty financial 32 ) 32 32 ) 32
Total financial 74,759 91,556 166,315 74,963 91,650 166,613

investments
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FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS MEASURED AT FAIR VALUE

31.12.2021
(In EUR m) Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Financial assets measu_red at fair value _ 36 174 1 211
through profit or loss using fair value option
Fmanm_al assets_at fair valuc_e through profit or 72,819 9,638 1,991 84.448
loss using the fair value option
Hedging derivatives - 353 - 353
Available-for-sale financial assets 78,236 4,827 5,423 88,486
Total 151,091 14,992 7,415 173,498
31.12.2020
(In EUR m) Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Financial assets measured at fair value
through profit or loss using fair value option 51 231 s 291
Financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss using the fair value option 60,997 9.064 361 70,422
Hedging derivatives - 438 - 438
Available-for-sale financial assets 80,693 4,934 4,128 89,755
Total 141,741 14,673 4,492 160,906
CHANGES IN AVAILABLE FOR SALE FINANCIAL ASSETS
(In EUR m) 2021
Balance as at 1 January 89,755
Acquisitions 10,254
Disposals / redemptions (9,609)
Transfers to held-to-maturity financial assets -
Change in scope and others (399)
Gains and losses on changes in fair value recognised directly in equity during the period (1,646)
Net changes in impairment of debt instruments recorded in profit or loss 2
Impairment on equity instruments recognised in profit or loss (23)
Translation differences 152
Balance as at 31 December 88,486
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UNREALISED GAINS AND LOSSES ON AVAILABLE FOR SALE FINANCIAL ASSETS RECOGNISED IN OTHER
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

31.12.2021
(In EUR m) Capital gains ~ Capital losses  Net revaluation
Unrealised gains and losses of insurance companies 431 (82) 349
On available-for-sale equity instruments 2,892 (70) 2,822
(@52
Deferred profit-sharing (8,365) 280 (8,085)
31.12.2020
(In EUR m) Capital gains  Capital losses  Net revaluation
Unrealised gains and losses of insurance companies 665 (22) 643
On available-for-sale equity instruments 1,968 (97) 1,871
On ava_ilable-for-sale debt inst_ruments and assets 8.505 (163) 8.342
reclassified as loans and receivables
Deferred profit-sharing (9,808) 238 (9,570)

FINANCIAL ASSETS RECEIVED AS SECURITY AND AVAILABLE FOR THE ENTITY

(In EUR m) 31.12.2021 31.12.2020

Fair value of securities purchased under resale agreements 4 6

The Group generally purchases securities under resale agreements under normal market terms and
conditions. It may re-use the securities received under resale agreement by selling them outright, selling
them under repurchase agreements or pledging them as security, provided that it returns these or equivalent
securities to the counterparty to the resale agreement at its term. Securities purchased under resale
agreements are not recognised on the balance sheet. Their fair value, as shown above, includes securities
sold or pledged as collateral.

3. NET INCOME FROM INSURANCE ACTIVITIES
ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES

INCOME AND EXPENSE RELATED TO INSURANCE CONTRACTS

Income and expense related to insurance contracts issued by Group insurance companies, associated fee
income and expense, and income and expense related to investments of insurance companies are recorded
under Net income from insurance activities in the income statement.

Other income and expense are recorded under the appropriate headings.

Changes in the provision for deferred profit-sharing are recorded under Net income from insurance activities
in the income statement or under Unrealised or deferred gains and losses under the appropriate headings
for the underlying assets in question.
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The following table shows the breakdown (after eliminating intercompany transactions):

— income and expense from insurance activities and associated investments on a separate line under Net
Banking Income: Net income from insurance activities;

— funding costs of insurance activities recorded under Interest and similar expense;

— impairment debt instruments of insurance activities and the deferred profit-sharing recorded under Cost
of risk.

(In EUR m) 2021 2020
Net premiums 15,692 10,970
Net income from investments 3,540 2,808
Cost of benefits (including changes in reserves) @ (16,984) (11,377)
Other net technical income (expense) (20) (277)
Net income from insurance activities 2,238 2,124
Funding costs (5) )
Cost of risk - -
o/w impairment of debt instruments 2 2)
o/w which deferred profit sharing (2) 2

(1) o/w EUR -2,966 million in respect of deferred profit-sharing at 31 December 2021 (vs. EUR -2,592 million at
31 December 2020).

NET INCOME FROM INVESTMENTS

(In EUR m) 2021 2020
Dividend income on equity instruments 878 671
Interest income 1,664 1,790
On available-for-sale financial assets 1,472 1,566
On loans and receivables 161 179
Other net interest income 31 45
Net gains or losses on financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss 848 308
Net gains or losses on available-for-sale financial instruments 145 14
Capital gain or loss on sale of debt instruments 25 34
Capital gain or loss on sale of equity instruments 142 257
Impairement values on equity instruments (22) (277)
Net gains or losses on real estate investments 5 25
Total net income from investments 3,540 2,808

4. MANAGEMENT OF INSURANCE RISKS

The Group carries out its insurance activities through the distribution and reinsurance acceptance of a wide
range of life insurance, protection and health insurance, and non-life insurance policies. Since the life
insurance business is predominant on the French market in the Group’s insurance activities, the market
risks of financial assets in terms of technical liabilities constitute the most significant exposure. Within market
risks, the insurance business line is sensitive to shocks in interest rates, equity markets and credit spreads.
In connection with the life insurance savings activity, the risk of withdrawls is also significant.
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Managing these risks is key to the Insurance business line’s activity. It is carried out by qualified and
experienced teams, with major bespoke IT resources. Risks undergo regular monitoring and are reported
to the General Management of both the entities concerned and the business lines.

Risk management techniques are based on the following:

= heightened security for the risk acceptance process, with the aim of guaranteeing that the price schedule
matches the policyholder’s risk profile and the guarantees provided;

= regular monitoring of indicators on product claims rates in order to adjust certain product parameters,
such as pricing or the level of guarantee, if necessary;

= implementation of a reinsurance plan to protect the business line from major/serial claims;
= application of policies on risk, provisioning and reinsurance.

Management of risks linked to the financial markets and to ALM is an integral part of the investment strategy
just like objectives on long-term performance. The optimisation of these two factors is highly influenced by
the asset/liability balance. Liability commitments (guarantees offered to customers, maturity of policies),
as well as the amounts booked under the major items on the balance sheet (shareholders’ equity, income,
provisions, reserves, etc.)